

AGENDA 
VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE 


PLEASANT PRAIRIE VILLAGE BOARD 
PLEASANT PRAIRIE WATER UTILITY 


PLEASANT PRAIRIE SEWER UTILITY 
Village Hall Auditorium 


9915 – 39th Avenue 


Pleasant Prairie, WI   
August 5, 2013 


6:00 p.m. 


 


1. Call to Order 


 
2. Pledge of Allegiance 


 
3. Roll Call 


 


4. Consider Proclamation to Welcome “The Moving Wall” to Pleasant Prairie. 
 


5. Minutes of Meetings – June 12, July 1 and July 15, 2013 
 


6. Public Hearing 
 


A. Consider Class B Combination Liquor License for Cheddar’s Casual Café currently 


under construction at 10355 77th Street. 
 


B. Consider Resolution #13-17 to change the official address of the house at 5029 
93rd Street to 5149 93rd Street. 
 


7. Citizen Comments (Please be advised per State Statute Section 19.84(2), information will be received from the 


public and there may be limited discussion on the information received.  However, no action will be taken under 
public comments.) 


 


8. Administrator’s Report 
 


9. New Business 


 
A. Receive Plan Commission recommendation and consider Ordinance #13-31 to 


rezone the property located at 11450 23rd Avenue from R-4 (UHO), Urban Single 
Family Residential District with an Urban Landholding Overlay District into the R-4 
(AGO), Urban Single Family Residential District with a General Agricultural Overlay 


District. 
 


B. Receive Plan Commission recommendation and consider a Lot Line Adjustment to 
add 5,312 square feet of land to Lot 20 from Lot 19 of the Westfield Heights 
Subdivision for the proposed development of Goddard School. 


 
C. Consider Ordinance #13-32 to create Section 229-13 F of the Municipal Code 


related to storing of garbage and recycling containers. 
 







Village Board Agenda 
August 5, 2013 


 


2 


 


D. Consider the request of RC Westwood Estates LLC for the Termination and Release 


from the Memorandum of Development Agreement and the amendment to the 
Development Agreement entered into by and between the previous land Owner 
(Westwood Estates LLC) and the Village of Pleasant Prairie for public-related 


infrastructure improvements in the Westwood Estates Manufactured Housing 
Addition. 


 
E. Consider Ordinance #13-33 to amend Chapter 360 of the Municipal Code relating 


to Weights and Measures regulations. 


 
F. Consider Resolution #13-18 to authorize the disposal of surplus lab equipment. 


 
G. Consider Ordinance #13-34 to amend Chapter 214 of the Municipal Code relating 


to dog park fees. 


 
H. Consider Ordinance #13-35 to amend Chapter 242 of the Municipal Code relating 


to RecPlex program and rental fees. 
 


I. Consider an amendment to the Employee Handbook regarding residency 


requirements. 
 


J. Consider an Agreement to perform billing services for the Fire & Rescue 
Department. 
 


K. Consider Operator License Applications on file. 
 


10. Village Board Comments 
 


11. Adjournment 


 
The Village Hall is handicapped accessible. If you have other special needs, please 
contact the Village Clerk, 9915 – 39th Avenue, Pleasant Prairie, WI (262) 694-1400 







VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE 


PLEASANT PRAIRIE VILLAGE BOARD 


PLEASANT PRAIRIE WATER UTILITY 


PLEASANT PRAIRIE SEWER UTILITY 


9915 - 39th Avenue 


Pleasant Prairie, WI   


July 1, 2013 


6:00 p.m. 
 


 A regular meeting of the Pleasant Prairie Village Board was held on Monday, July 1, 2013.  


Meeting called to order at 6:00 p.m.  Present were Village Board members John Steinbrink, Monica 


Yuhas, Steve Kumorkiewicz, Clyde Allen and Mike Serpe.  Also present were Michael Pollocoff, Village 


Administrator; Tom Shircel, Assistant Administrator; Jean Werbie-Harris, Community Development 


Director; Kathy Goessl, Finance Director; Dave Smetana, Police Chief; Doug McElmury; Fire & Rescue 


Chief; Mike Spence, Village Engineer; Carol Willke, HR and Recreation Director and Vesna Savic, 


Deputy Village Clerk.  One citizen attended the meeting. 


 


1. CALL TO ORDER 


 


2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 


 


3. ROLL CALL 


 


4. MINUTES OF MEETINGS - JUNE 17, 2013 
 


YUHAS MOVED TO APPROVE THE MINUTES OF THE JUNE 17, 2013 VILLAGE 


BOARD MEETING AS PRESENTED IN THEIR WRITTEN FORM; SECONDED BY 


KUMORKIEWICZ; MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 


 


5. CITIZEN COMMENTS  


 


Vesna Savic: 


 


No sign ups. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Anybody wishing to speak under citizens’ comments? 


 


6. ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT 
 


Mike Pollocoff: 


 


All I have tonight, Mr. President, there is a flier or a letter that has been going around to the 


residents in the Village inviting them to purchase insurance for water lateral repair. We are going 


to be sending out a press release, and we’re going to be doing a notice in the Village newsletter, 


and we want to encourage people before they buy that insurance to have a water lateral fixed that 


they call the Village Hall, talk to the engineering department and get some information on what 


kind of lateral they have and when it was installed. 







Village Board Meeting 


July 1, 2013 


 


 


2 


 


I’ve been here a while and I can think of only four private laterals that broke.  Usually they’re one 


long continuous piece of copper or PVC, and of all the things you want to buy insurance on I 


think this is one of the things that should last you 75 years if not longer.  We’re going to be 


getting that word out.  I’m not saying they shouldn’t do business with the company, but they 


should really get familiar with what they have at their property, and we can help them do that. 


 


7. NEW BUSINESS 


 


 A. Receive Plan Commission recommendation and consider Ordinances #13-25 and 


#13-26 Zoning Map and Zoning Text Amendments for the proposed redevelopment 


of the Town N Country Shopping Center located at 4623 75th Street.   
 


Jean Werbie-Harris: 


 


Mr. President and members of the Village Board, this is a request by Jim Ablan of Center 50, 


LLC, for zoning map and zoning text amendments, Ordinance 13-25 and 13-26.  And Mr. Ablan 


is proposing to redevelop the Town N Country Shopping Center as Center 50.  The address for 


the Center is 4623 75th Street. 


 


The existing multi-tenant center that’s located on Highway 50 is intended to be rebranded, and as 


such the petitioner is looking to modify the exterior and the interior of the building to improve the 


parking areas as well as the lighting, the landscaping, the signage, the exterior appearance in the 


front and in the back of the building.  This is a matter that was before the Plan Commission and 


there was a public hearing, and we went into some pretty significant detail.  I’ll only touch on 


some of the proposed projects that he is proposing. 


 


Specifically the site and operational plans were approved by the Village Plan Commission at their 


last meeting.  One of the additional items as part of the planned unit development that the 


petitioner is looking to do on the site is to install a DSIS or a digital security imaging system.  So 


the entire site will be cameraed, entrance and exits of the site will be cameraed.  This is a system 


that’s going to be owned and operated by Mr. Ablan.  So the Village will have oversight, but the 


Village will not be owning or maintaining this particular system.  Again, there will be a live feed 


for this system back to the Village Police Department. 


 


Specifically on site he will have 273 parking spaces, 8 handicapped accessible spaces.  This 


includes 27 parking spaces currently occupied by Ace Hardware, the outdoor garden center area.  


The existing open space is 2,800 square feet which is about 1 percent.  Again, keep in mind that 


the Center was developed in 1959 before a lot of the development in this particular area, and as 


such it’s really an urban center with not as much green space or landscaping.  One of the things 


that they’re looking to do to help improve that is to create green spaces along Highway 50 along 


the northeast corner adjacent to the auto repair facility, along 45th Avenue and along the 


southeast corner of 76th Street, the southwest corner of 76th Street as well as 47th Avenue.  And 


by green space I mean landscaping and street trees. 


 







Village Board Meeting 


July 1, 2013 


 


 


3 


With respect to the building they’re looking to remove the canopy on the north facade, and 


they’re also intending to fill in some of the gapped areas in the front of the store, so there will be 


about a 1,565 square foot addition because they’re kind of flattening or squaring off the front of 


the building.  This will result in reconfiguring the units within the building, and there will be up 


to 11 tenant spaces.  But at this time I think that they’re really working towards about nine, but 


there could be up to 11 configurations within the building. 


 


And, again, other site improvements include the main monument sign adjacent to Highway 50 at 


the north end is intended to be adjusted.  In other words it will be removed, but there is going to 


be a new sign at that location at 18 feet in height.  The other thing that was originally shown on 


the site and operational plans was the closure of the driveway on Highway 50.  They are 


recommending and requesting that that driveway not be closed but be a right in/right out, but they 


would support the State closing the median in Highway 50. 


 


Up on the screen are some illustrations of what the north facade will look like.  Again, they’re 


going to be removing all that fascia that sits on the front right now, and they’ll be adding new 


stonework, brickwork on the building as well as new glazing across the front of the building.  


Again, some of the tenants will have new signage like Ace Hardware and Family Dollar.  


AutoZone will have their existing signage replaced on that front.  And then, again, with the way 


things are set up there will be opportunities for smaller tenants and signage in between the 


brickwork for that signage.  A little bit closer view of some of the details that they’re looking to 


do at the site. 


 


The west and south facades, with respect to the west facade of the building, as you know it’s that 


existing multicolored darker brick.  They are looking to maintain that.  They’re going to clean it 


and maintain it the way it is.  They’re going to fix the concrete stoop and the railing.  It’s going to 


be all painted to match the existing railings on the back.  All the gingerbread, the kind of chalet 


type look that’s all going to be removed from the building.  And they’re going to be removing 


one of the windows, and they’re going to be kind of painting things to match the building.  


They’re not painting the brick.  They’re going to keep that intact. 


 


And then on the back of the building, the two southern elevations, primarily what they’re going to 


be doing is removing all of those existing garbage dumpsters and redoing all the dumpster 


enclosures.  They’re going to be repainting all the railings.  They’re going to be retaining all the 


existing locations of all the dock doors and such, but they’re going to be repainting all the dock 


doors.  And they’re just generally trying to clean up the whole back of the building.  They’re 


going to be putting concrete in from the building to what appears to be the edge of the area that 


they use.  That’s all going to be replaced with concrete or asphalt depending on where you’re 


located.  Again, part of that is in the Village’s right of way.  But, again, that is an area that is used 


primarily by the Center with respect to their delivery trucks and such.  So they are going to repair 


all of that area adjacent to the existing travel lane in 76th Street. 


 


This is the east elevation.  It’s difficult a little bit to see right now just because Ace Hardware has 


their garden center there.  We are continuing to work with Ace to remove their semi trailer and to 


kind of clean things up a little bit.  As I discussed with the owner we are going to work with Ace 


Hardware, so they would be allowed to have some minor displays on their front sidewalk to make 







Village Board Meeting 


July 1, 2013 


 


 


4 


it an inviting, welcoming space but nothing that would cause a problem for people to be able to 


walk on the sidewalk.  And this is material that needs to be brought in at night.  It should not be 


left out overnight so they don’t have any issues with security or theft from the location. 


 


The owner is trying to work with Ace Hardware to modify a couple things with respect to their 


site and possibly expand their garden center and maybe even do a drive through garden center.  


And the other thing is they’re looking to relocate that propane tank that’s kind of to the north and 


east of Ace Hardware.  They’re going to relocate that to the back of the back corner of the Ace 


Hardware facility.  That will require a conditional use permit to be brought before the Village 


Plan Commission. 


 


As I mentioned, the signage for the Center is going to be redone in the existing 20 to 25, and 


actually I think it’s a 30 foot high sign, is going to be brought down.  And then a new Center 50 


sign is going to be relocated in that general vicinity.  Again, the brick will match the brick on the 


building but the height’s going to be brought down and it’s going to be kept out of any vision 


triangle at that location.  That whole front area as well as the sign will be landscaped. 


 


So this, again, is the proposed site plan for the Center 50 revised development.  The only thing 


that is a slight modification on this plan is that they are, again, requesting the DOT to leave a 


right in/right out as the main entrance coming into the site from Highway 50, but they will not 


object to the median closure in Highway 50.  And initially the State said that they would complete 


this work as part of a maintenance project on Highway 50 for them.   


 


So with that the Plan Commission and the staff recommend approval of the text amendments in 


order to approve the planned unit development for Center 50.  And at the Plan Commission I did 


to into a lot of detail with respect to some of the variations or the reductions.  I can go through 


some of those for you if you’d like me to, but basically you’ve got an existing building that’s kind 


of tucked at the very southwest corner of this site.  So as such the setback distance to the south 


and to the west that there are modifications for those, and a number of other things on the site 


where variations were needed as a result of the existing center, those have all been detailed within 


the planned unit development.  With that I’d entertain any questions you may have. 


 


Steve Kumorkiewicz: 


 


Question for Jean.  Jean, this signage here how tall is it going to be? 


 


Jean Werbie-Harris: 


 


The sign will be about 18 feet in height. 


 


Steve Kumorkiewicz: 


 


I thought the maximum that we’ve got was 16 feet. 


 


 


 







Village Board Meeting 


July 1, 2013 


 


 


5 


Jean Werbie-Harris: 


 


It is.  But one of the PUD allowances is to possibly make any modifications.  And based on 11 


tenants in this building and the Center 50 the staff is recommending a two foot modification 


which would be put into the PUD.  It’s coming down from 25 or 30. 


 


Steve Kumorkiewicz: 


 


But I can’t understand why not make it wider and make it conform to 16 feet.  We did that with 


the [inaudible]. 


 


Jean Werbie-Harris: 


 


Well, we talked about making it wider, but then it does start to create kind of a vision block for 


people coming down Highway 50.  As you can see the existing Town N Country sign actually 


had an opening right through the bottom.  The Village doesn’t allow for that any longer.  We 


require solid based signs for monument signs.  So to make it even that much wider and this close 


to Highway 50 with respect to the vision we just thought it might compromise that.  So I’d rather 


go up just a little higher than to block even greater vision within a potential corner. 


 


Steve Kumorkiewicz: 


 


Are we setting a precedent with that? 


 


Jean Werbie-Harris: 


 


With respect to planned unit development the Board has discretion as to what modifications can 


be done on a particular site to the dimensional variations to the ordinance.  Again, this is a center 


that is dated back to 1959.  He has completely renovated the building with respect to installing all 


sprinklers through the system.  He’s eliminated any cross-connection for the sewer and water.  


He’s adding a dramatic number of landscaping.  He’s removed all the asbestos from the building.  


He’s put in a DSIS system for the building.  You know at some point I think that this is a good 


compromise that we’re willing to give a little with respect to how much money the developer is 


putting into this Center and keeping this as a viable neighborhood center for the community as 


opposed to just tearing it all down and starting it over from scratch. 


 


Steve Kumorkiewicz: 


 


Another question.  They’re going to install sprinklers which they didn’t have. 


 


Jean Werbie-Harris: 


 


They’re half installed at this point. 


 


 


 







Village Board Meeting 


July 1, 2013 


 


 


6 


Steve Kumorkiewicz: 


 


Okay, now they’re going to be separate by units?  For example, you’ve got – 


 


Jean Werbie-Harris: 


 


You know what, I did not review the sprinkler plans in detail, but the Fire Chief did, and so I 


guess I’ll have him respond to that. 


 


Doug McElmury: 


 


Mr. Ablan complied with all of our requirements regarding not only the sprinkler system but an 


alarm system, and that includes running a large [inaudible] across the back end.  So at any time 


[inaudible] where the walls are we can reconfigure the sprinkler system to basically set this thing 


up [inaudible].  And also the standpipe and sprinkler system [inaudible]. 


 


Steve Kumorkiewicz: 


 


What I’m referring to is if the sprinkler system goes off it’s going to affect just a section or the 


whole shopping center? 


 


Doug McElmury: 


 


No, they’re heat activated, so only one head goes on [inaudible]. 


 


Steve Kumorkiewicz: 


 


In the area. 


 


Doug McElmury: 


 


Right, and we can isolate that. 


 


Steve Kumorkiewicz: 


 


Okay, that was the question. 


 


[Inaudible] 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Clyde? 


 


 


 


 







Village Board Meeting 


July 1, 2013 


 


 


7 


Clyde Allen: 


 


Thank you, Mr. President.  Jean, one quick question is I think you said there’s going to be room 


for 11 spaces or store, but on your Center sign there’s only 10 spots.  If you bring in the 11th 


business what are they going to do? 


 


Jean Werbie-Harris: 


 


If they do that maybe what they’ll do is like the bottom where it says future tenant, future tenant, 


maybe because of the size of the space they might divide that into three. 


 


Clyde Allen: 


 


Okay, just thought I’d bring it up. 


 


Steve Kumorkiewicz: 


 


I remember when Piggly Wiggly used to be there. 


 


 SERPE MOVED TO CONCUR WITH THE PLAN COMMISSION 


RECOMMENDATION AND ADOPT ORDINANCES #13-25 AND #13-26 ZONING MAP AND 


ZONING TEXT AMENDMENTS FOR THE PROPOSED REDEVELOPMENT OF THE TOWN 


N COUNTRY SHOPPING CENTER LOCATED AT 4623 75TH STREET: SECONDED BY 


KUMORKIEWICZ; MOTION CARRIED 5-0.   
 


 B. Consider award of contract to apply slurry seal on the Ice Arena parking lot and 


access road. 
 


Mike Spence: 


 


Mr. President and members of the Board, as part of the Village’s 2013 paving program we put out 


an advertisement for bids to be received on June 13th for the paving of the Ice Arena parking lot 


as well as the access road in the back.  The project includes -- the Ice Arena parking lot area is 


about 5,200 square feet of slurry seal, and then pavement marking.  The rear access road area is 


4,300 square yards of slurry seal with the pavement markings.  This shows the area.  The orange 


or brown area is the IcePlex parking lot, and then the red area in  back as well as the access roads 


would all get this slurry seal.   


 


The slurry seal is different than what we used last year.  We worked with a paving company to 


develop a slurry seal that is a thicker surface, and that’s what we bid.  We did receive one bid 


from Fahrner Asphalt Sealers in the amount of $32,636.  Again, the surface it’s a protective 


surface to prolong the life of the asphalt out there.  This is so that we don’t have to repave, we can 


push that back.  The things that we put into the bid this year that are different we’ve got 


additional quality control measures that are in place.  And also again, as I mentioned, this 


material is thicker.  And then there’s also a process where they go through with a roller about two 


hours after they’ve applied it to pack down some of the bigger aggregate.  So in terms of the 







Village Board Meeting 


July 1, 2013 


 


 


8 


bidding the company that did our work last year didn’t bid because we didn’t prequalify them 


because of the issues that we had.  There are a number of pavers in Illinois that could have bid, 


but my understanding is that they’re very busy and they haven’t been bidding work in Wisconsin. 


 


The bid that we received I think is competitive.  In talking with them before the bid and with the 


prices that we’ve been getting I think it’s pretty reasonable.  However, the price that we got for 


the pavement marking was higher than we anticipated.  So what we’ve decided to do in 


discussions with John, the public works director, we’re going to take out the pavement marking 


from this project, and John is going to do it with the public works crew.  That would bring down 


the price to $17,575 which is under the budget that he had had in here for this work.  So with that 


I’d like to recommend that the contract be awarded to Fahrner Asphalt Sealers in the amount of 


$17,575, and that is the exclusion of the pavement marking.  I’d be glad to answer any questions. 


 


Michael Serpe: 


 


Not a question about this, Mike, but why the ice rink paving slurry now and not the RecPlex? 


 


Mike Spence: 


 


The reason is originally we were looking at doing the RecPlex, but the RecPlex actually has more 


remedial work that has to be done.  There are some areas that have settled.  There are some areas 


by the stop blocks where the cars park that have settled where the tires are.  So public works is 


going to have to do a little bit more remedial work in order to get that ready for a sealer like this.  


The IcePlex is in a little bit better shape.  There’s only a few things that we have to do to get the 


surface ready, so that’s why we chose to do the IcePlex now. 


 


Steve Kumorkiewicz: 


 


This same company is [inaudible]. 


 


Mike Spence: 


 


This is not the same company, no.  And Fahrner Asphalt has done work with us previously.  


Again, we were very aware of the concerns that we had last year, so we did work with Fahrner to 


develop a different process and a different mix. 


 


Clyde Allen: 


 


I make a motion to approve. 


 


Michael Serpe: 


 


Second. 


 


 







Village Board Meeting 


July 1, 2013 


 


 


9 


ALLEN MOVED TO AWARD A CONTRACT TO FAHRNER ASPHALT SEALERS IN 


THE AMOUNT OF $17,575, TO APPLY SLURRY SEAL ON THE ICE ARENA PARKING LOT 


AND ACCESS ROAD, EXCLUDING THE PAVEMENT MARKINGS; SECONDED BY SERPE; 


MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 


 


 C. Consent Agenda  


  1) Approve Operator License Applications on file. 


  2) Approve Renewal Operator License Applications on file. 
 


KUMORKIEWICZ MOVED TO APPROVE CONSENT AGENDA ITEMS 1 AND 2; 


SECONDED BY YUHAS; MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 


 


8. VILLAGE BOARD COMMENTS 
 


Michael Serpe: 


 


I have one.  Chief Smetana is on vacation and he’s attending the Board meeting. 


 


Mike Pollocoff: 


 


This is raw excitement. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


I thought he was undercover. 


 


Michael Serpe: 


 


Is he being punished for something? 


 


[Inaudible] 


 


9. ADJOURNMENT 
 


 KUMORKIEWICZ MOVED TO ADJOURN THE MEETING; SECONDED BY YUHAS; 


MOTION CARRIED 5-0 AND MEETING ADJOURNED AT 6:29 P.M. 


 


 







VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE 


PLEASANT PRAIRIE VILLAGE BOARD 


9915 - 39th Avenue 


Pleasant Prairie, WI   


June 12, 2013 


5:30 p.m. 
 


 A special meeting of the Pleasant Prairie Village Board was held on Wednesday, June 12, 2013.  


Meeting called to order at 5:30 p.m.  Present were Village Board members John Steinbrink, Monica 


Yuhas, Steve Kumorkiewicz and Mike Serpe.  Clyde Allen was excused.  Also present were Michael 


Pollocoff, Village Administrator; Dave Smetana, Police Chief, Thomas Camilli, Attorney and Jane 


Romanowski, Village Clerk. 


 


1. CALL TO ORDER 


           


2. ROLL CALL 
 


3. PUBLIC HEARINGS 


 


 A. 5:30 p.m. - Consider appeal filed by Amanda Lay of a vicious dog determination. 
 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


Thank you President Steinbrink, members of the Board.  For the record my name is Thomas 


Camilli, Jr.  I’m an attorney with the firm of Godin, Geraghty, Puntillo and Camilli serving as 


counsel for the Village of Pleasant Prairie this evening.  Good evening to all of you.  Mr. 


President, the matter is here this evening on an appeal of Village resident Amanda Lay of a 


determination by Police Chief David Smetana that her four year old pit bull is and should be 


deemed a vicious animal. 


 


This matter arises out of an incident which occurred on May 10, 2013 in the Village of Pleasant 


Prairie at 2634 Springbrook Road.  At that time David Smielewski, a neighbor and fellow Village 


resident, was suddenly and viciously attacked by this pit bull while he was performing lawn work 


in the area.  We are prepared to present testimony today which indicates that Mr. Smielewski 


sustained very serious and significant injuries to his left arm and his right leg which required 


hospitalization.  This is very disturbing because this is not the first incident with this animal, but 


rather there was a prior incident as well which Officer Jung will also testify to.   


 


It is the goal of the Police Chief in this community to ensure the public safety and the welfare of 


the community and to make sure it is protected from undue harm.  The Police Chief after 


reviewing all of the relevant police reports has made a determination that this dog is a vicious 


animal, and as such it should either be licensed in accordance with Chapter 119 of our ordinances 


or removed from the community entirely.   


 


What we’re also going to learn during this hearing is that this is a neighborhood that is fearful.  It 


is fearful because of the presence of this animal, because of the disposition of this animal and 


because of its nature, frankly, to attack and it has done this through its attack on Mr. Smielewski.  


We have a number of residents of this neighborhood who are here and who are going to be 


commenting after the conclusion of testimony regarding their concerns about this animal. 







Village Board Special Meeting 


June 12, 2013 


 


 


2 


 


A few words about the applicable standard that this Board needs to apply.  Chapter 119 of our 


ordinances allows the Police Chief to deem an animal vicious if the animal has bitten another 


person.  And if an animal has bitten another person that is prima facie evidence that the dog is 


vicious.  And we’re going to present testimony today indicating that, in fact, this dog has attacked 


and bitten a resident of the Village. 


 


Because a prima facie showing of viciousness will be demonstrated, it is then up to the dog 


owner, Amanda Lay, to demonstrate or to rebut that presumption of viciousness.  We are going to 


present testimony first from Officer John Bonogofsky who was the attending officer at the 


incident on May 10th, and we’ll follow that with testimony by Officer Jung and finally Chief 


Smetana.  And lastly the victim, David Smielewski, will also give testimony this evening. 


 


At this time I would like to call Officer John Bonogofsky.  And I will simply direct the board in 


front of you.  You have an exhibit book with the incident number and today’s date.  I’m going to 


be referring to this book throughout our examination.  And the documents contained within the 


book will serve s the exhibits that I’m going to be referring to as I examine the witnesses. 


 


Jane Romanowski: 


 


Will you stand up so I can swear you in.  Do you solemnly swear in the matter now in hearing to 


tell the truth so help you God.  


 


John Bonogofsky: 


 


 I do. 


 


Jane Romanowski: 


 


 State your name and address for the record. 


 


John Bonogofsky: 


 


Officer John Bonogofsky.  My home address? 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


Just your work. 


 


John Bonogofsky: 


 


8600 Green Bay Road, Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin, my work address. 


 


 


 


 







Village Board Special Meeting 


June 12, 2013 


 


 


3 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


Thank you, Officer Bonogofsky.  You are employed by the Village of Pleasant Prairie Police 


Department? 


 


John Bonogofsky: 


 


That is correct. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


How long have you been employed by the department? 


 


John Bonogofsky: 


 


Coming up on seven years. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


And what is your rank with the department currently? 


 


John Bonogofsky: 


 


I’m a patrol officer. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


Thank you.  And Officer Bonogofsky were you working on May 10, 2013? 


 


John Bonogofsky: 


 


Yes, I was. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


And you were working as a patrol officer for the Village at that time? 


 


John Bonogofsky: 


 


Correct. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


And Officer Bonogofsky on May 10, 2013 did you respond to a call at 9229 27th Street? 


 


 







Village Board Special Meeting 


June 12, 2013 


 


 


4 


John Bonogofsky: 


 


That’s correct. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


And in connection with your response to that address you prepared a report which detailed your 


findings, is that correct? 


 


 


John Bonogofsky: 


 


That’s correct. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


And I’m going to refer you now, Officer Bonogofsky, to Exhibit Number 4 which is your incident 


report, and it’s Item Number 4 in the book that all the Board members have.  I’m going to refer 


you to Exhibit Number 4.  And do you recognize Exhibit Number 4? 


 


John Bonogofsky: 


 


Yes, I do, that’s my report. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


And this is a report that you prepared after your investigation of this incident? 


 


John Bonogofsky: 


 


That’s correct. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


Alright, I’m going to take you through this report.  When you arrived at 9229 27th Avenue what 


was the nature of the call?  Why were you called? 


 


John Bonogofsky: 


 


The med call that I had received that I was dispatched to was a dog bite call, and I was to respond 


to the area for that reason.  The dispatch referred to the dog bit call that the victim he could not 


stop bleeding, and that’s why there was a sense of urgency to get there. 


 


 


 


 







Village Board Special Meeting 


June 12, 2013 


 


 


5 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


Alright.  When you responded at the scene and you arrived at the scene tell us what were the first 


things that you observed?  What did you notice at that time? 


 


John Bonogofsky: 


 


When I arrived at the scene the fire department already had the victim in the ambulance loaded 


up.  And the fire department asked if I wanted to speak to him or did they want to just transport 


him and then I’ll speak to him at the hospital.  I told them to get him out of here because he 


would not stop bleeding. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


And what type of injuries -- when you refer to the victim you’re referring to Mr. Smielewski? 


 


John Bonogofsky: 


 


That’s correct. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


And what type of injuries did you observe on Mr. Smielewski? 


 


John Bonogofsky: 


 


At that time I did not see the injuries.  I saw the injuries later on when I went to Kenosha 


Memorial Hospital in Kenosha. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


And we’ll talk about that in a moment.  While you were at the scene did you speak with Ms. Lay 


or the caretaker of the dog? 


 


John Bonogofsky: 


 


I spoke to a Sheldon Seichter, Sheldon L. Seichter who came out and spoke to me about what had 


happened. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


Alright, and what was your understanding as to what happened at that time? 


 


 


 


 







Village Board Special Meeting 


June 12, 2013 


 


 


6 


John Bonogofsky: 


 


Sheldon told me that he currently was watching the dog for Amanda.  He lives at the residence on 


Springbrook Road.  He stated that he was in the bathroom using the restroom and he heard some 


yelling.  And then he ran out and he saw -- I have to look at my report here.  He stated something 


to the effect that the dog had jumped over the fence and had gotten to the neighbor, Mr. 


Smielewski. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


And so your report indicated that the dog was fenced in and actually jumped over the fence to 


attack the victim? 


 


John Bonogofsky: 


 


Correct.  I observed approximately a four foot chain link metal fence in the backyard of the 


Springbrook residence. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


And as part of your investigation did you visit with Mr. Smielewski while he was hospitalized? 


 


John Bonogofsky: 


 


Yes, I did.  After I briefly spoke to Sheldon I went to Kenosha Memorial Hospital to see Mr. 


Smielewski and see the extent of his injuries at that time. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


And what did you observe or what can you describe about his injuries during your visit at 


Kenosha Memorial Hospital? 


 


John Bonogofsky: 


 


Mr. Smielewski was lying there, and I saw a large piece of flesh torn off of his left front forearm, 


and the back side of his arm had a large cut.  It almost looked like a knife cut.  And I believe -- I 


have to look at my report.  It was his right ankle also had a large cut on it.  It looked like when the 


attack occurred he had some work gloves on, and inside the ER the gloves were dripping blood 


still from the chair onto the ground as I was sitting there. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


Thank you.  And did you have the opportunity to take some photographs of the injuries 


sustained? 


 


 







Village Board Special Meeting 


June 12, 2013 


 


 


7 


John Bonogofsky: 


 


Yes, I did.  I’m going to refer you now to what has been marked as Exhibit Number 12 or Item 


Number 12 in the evidence book.  Can you tell us what these documents are that we’re looking at 


as far as Exhibit Number 12 is concerned. 


 


John Bonogofsky: 


 


That’s a photograph of Mr. Smielewski’s left arm, left forearm.  That’s where the piece of flesh 


was missing, the top part of his forearm. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


And what I’d like you to do, Officer Bonogofsky, is simply take us through, you have four 


different photographs here.  If you can briefly describe what each of the photographs are for us 


starting with the second photograph. 


 


John Bonogofsky: 


 


The second photograph I tried to get in closer to get the -- it’s hard to get the depth of the injury 


in this one so I tried to get in closer.  The picture of his left forearm I tried to get a little closer to 


see exactly -- it’s hard to tell from a distance until you get up closer on it, and it’s kind of blurry 


looking here.  


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


Photograph Number 3 under Exhibit 12. 


 


John Bonogofsky: 


 


Item number 3 I took another kind of a different angle, the photograph of his left forearm also, the 


top part.  I tried to get his hands and everything there.  I could see that his hands were swollen.  


Photograph number 4 is a picture of his I believe it’s his leg area.  I just want to get left and right 


correct.  Okay, what I have written here is his right leg another cut it looks like towards his ankle 


and up a little more towards the knee.  And the next photograph is a picture of his left back side 


of his arm, the large cut that looked very close to a knife cut.  That’s all the photographs I took. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


Thank you.  And as a result of your investigation there was a determination made to impound the 


animal? 


 


John Bonogofsky: 


 


Yes there was.  After I saw the extent of the injuries that happened to Mr. Smielewski I contacted 


Deputy Chief Mogensen, and he agreed with me that the pit bull involved in this incident should 







Village Board Special Meeting 


June 12, 2013 


 


 


8 


be quarantined for up to ten days at Safe Harbor until we can determine what was to happen with 


the dog. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


Thank you.  Now are you aware, Officer Bonogofsky, as to whether Ms. Lay possessed liability 


insurance. 


 


John Bonogofsky: 


 


I have no idea. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


Thank you.  I have no further questions for Officer Bonogofsky at this time.  I believe it would be 


appropriate, President Steinbrink, if Ms. Lay wished to question or cross-examine Officer 


Bonogofsky she may do so at this time. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Ms. Lay, do you have any questions? 


 


Sheldon Seichter: 


 


Just one or two. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Could you give us your name and address for the record, sir? 


 


Sheldon Seichter: 


 


Sheldon Seichter, 5712 49th Avenue, Kenosha, Wisconsin.  How long after the incident until you 


wrote the report about? 


 


John Bonogofsky: 


 


I usually try to get my reports done very quickly.  I have no idea what day I wrote it on. 


 


Sheldon Seichter: 


 


The same day? 


 


John Bonogofsky: 


 


Yeah. 







Village Board Special Meeting 


June 12, 2013 


 


 


9 


 


Sheldon Seichter: 


 


So everything you wrote in here is accurate from what you could recall? 


 


John Bonogofsky: 


 


Well, as I see in my report here there’s a -- it’s kind of like a time line that I went down starting 


on the date of the incident.  It looks like it ends on 5/12 after I issued a citation to you.  So it is 


correct. 


 


Sheldon Seichter: 


 


Okay.  I don’t think I have any more questions that will help anything right now. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


If I could just ask one follow-up question.  Officer Bonogofsky, you mentioned a citation being 


issued.  What citation was issued? 


 


John Bonogofsky: 


 


I issued Sheldon Seichter the citation for animal at large because he was unable to maintain 


control of that animal at the time of this incident. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


Thank you very much.  At this time the Village would call Officer Peter Jung. 


 


Jane Romanowski: 


 


Do you solemnly swear in the matter now in hearing to tell the truth so help you God? 


 


Peter Jung: 


 


I do. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


Please state your name for the record and your work address. 


 


Peter Jung: 


 


Sergeant Peter Jung, J-U-N-G, 8600 Green Bay Road, Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin. 


 


 







Village Board Special Meeting 


June 12, 2013 


 


 


10 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


And, Sergeant, you are employed by the Pleasant Prairie Police Department? 


 


Peter Jung: 


 


That’s correct. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


How long have you been employed in that capacity? 


 


Peter Jung: 


 


Twelve years. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


And you indicated you are currently working at the rank of sergeant? 


 


Peter Jung: 


 


That’s correct. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


Officer Jung, do you recall an incident which would have occurred on or about December 13, 


2011 involving the pit bull that’s at issue in this case? 


 


Peter Jung: 


 


Yes, I do. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


And I’m going to ask you to refer to what’s been marked as Exhibit Number 5 in the exhibit 


book, and I’d like you to identify Exhibit Number 5.  Can you tell me what that is? 


 


Peter Jung: 


 


That is an incident report that I wrote regarding the events of December 13th. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


And this would have been a report that you would have written shortly after your investigation? 


 







Village Board Special Meeting 


June 12, 2013 


 


 


11 


Peter Jung: 


 


That’s correct. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


And on December 13, 2011 you were assigned as a patrol supervisor, is that correct? 


 


Peter Jung: 


 


That’s correct. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


And eventually you were dispatched to 2616 Springbrook Road, is that correct? 


 


Peter Jung: 


 


That’s correct. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


And can you tell us, and you may use your report as a reference, can you tell us why you were 


dispatched? 


 


Peter Jung: 


 


I was dispatched there for an animal at large complaint.  When I got there, which was shortly 


after 3 p.m., I met with the complainants, Craig Hunt and Barbara Hunt in reference to an 


incident that had occurred approximately six hours earlier in the day on their property. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


Can you tell us about that incident?  What happened? 


 


Peter Jung: 


 


Well, they reported that Barbara had gone out to get the mail from the mailbox, and on her way 


back in she was approached by the neighbor’s white pit bull named Casper in a threatening 


manner.  She believes she was about to be attacked by the dog.  Apparently Craig witnessing this 


thought she was also about to be attacked and shot at the dog three times with a shotgun.  He had 


stated that he didn’t know if he had hit the dog or not, but the dog left the area and that was it.  


They kind of waited, pondered what they thought they should do, and eventually they felt they 


needed to report it to the police. 


 


 







Village Board Special Meeting 


June 12, 2013 


 


 


12 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


And at that time your report indicates that you advised Ms. Lay of the ordinance requiring dogs to 


be contained on the owner’s respective property? 


 


Peter Jung: 


 


I attempted to make contact with the dog owner.  They were not home.  I believe I left a business 


card or something that night in the door and made contact the next day.  And the next day, yes, 


she advised me that she heard a commotion, actually heard the gunshots, and then learned that her 


dog had gotten out.  Apparently her dog had gotten hit by some of the pellets that were fired at 


him, and she took the dog to the vet.  Yeah, the discussion was she was warned about the 


ordinance requiring dogs to be contained to their property. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


Thank you, I have no further questions at this time. 


 


Sheldon Seichter: 


 


I have no questions either. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


Thank you, sergeant.  The Village calls Police Chief David Smetana. 


 


Jane Romanowski: 


 


Do you solemnly swear in the matter now in hearing to tell the truth so help you God? 


 


David Smetana: 


 


I do. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


Will you please state your full name and business address. 


 


David Smetana: 


 


David Brian Smetana, 8600 Green Bay Road. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


And you are the Police Chief for the Village of Pleasant Prairie, is that correct? 


 







Village Board Special Meeting 


June 12, 2013 


 


 


13 


David Smetana: 


 


That’s correct. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


And how long have you been serving as Police Chief for the Village? 


 


David Smetana: 


 


About five months. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


And, Chief Smetana, part of your obligations as Chief of Police of the Village of Pleasant Prairie 


is to enforce the ordinances of the Village, is that correct? 


 


David Smetana: 


 


That is correct. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


And with regard to the present case have you had an opportunity to review the incident reports of 


Officer Bonogofsky and the incident report of Officer Jung? 


 


David Smetana: 


 


I have. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


And you’ve also had an opportunity to review the photographs taken by Office Bonogofsky as 


well as the other documents contained within the exhibit book? 


 


David Smetana: 


 


That is correct. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


And in connection with your review of the reports that have been prepared you made a 


determination that the pit bull at issue in this case is a vicious animal, is that correct? 


 


 


 







Village Board Special Meeting 


June 12, 2013 


 


 


14 


David Smetana: 


 


That is correct. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


And I’ll refer you now to what has been marked as Exhibit Number 1 in the exhibit book, and I’m 


going to show you Exhibit Number 1.  Can you identify this document? 


 


David Smetana: 


 


That is a notification letter that I sent out to Ms. Amanda Lay in regards to my determination that 


her dog Casper was going to be classified as vicious. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


And if you could explain to the Board why you made the determination that this dog should be 


deemed vicious under the ordinances. 


 


David Smetana: 


 


Well, I looked at a number of factors.  I don’t come about these situations or these decisions 


lightly.  I try to take everything into consideration.  I spoke with the victim personally as he came 


down to the police department.  I witnessed his injuries both personally and in photographs.  I 


noted the nature and severity of the injuries.  I also looked at the fact that there was a prior 


incident with this dog, and the prior incident also involved the dog breaking containment of the 


yard.  Even though they’ve got a fenced in yard the dog did get out somehow.  So it’s a 


reoccurring event.  And at that time it was at least one of the neighbors thought it was a big 


enough threat or a large enough threat to fire rounds at the dog as it came after his wife. 


 


The fourth reason that I looked at was some information -- I had spoken with other neighbors in 


the area who felt, and I’ll quote one of them, Mr. Garvin, the dog was terrorizing the 


neighborhood, quote, unquote.  The last item that I used was that the dog was cited for dog at 


large, again, a second incident.  The first one we generally do give warnings to people who either 


don’t know that their dogs are supposed to be contained in their yards or make a mistake and the 


dog gets out.  That happened in the first event.  The second event was much more serious.  It 


involved a serious bite, a serious injury to which the individual is still recuperating. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


Thank you, Chief Smetana.  And as you’ve described those reasons for your determination, do 


you believe ultimately that your primary concern is the safety and security of the neighborhood? 


 


David Smetana: 


 


Yes, it is. 







Village Board Special Meeting 


June 12, 2013 


 


 


15 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


And is it your opinion that the presence of this dog currently within the neighborhood is a danger 


to the community? 


 


David Smetana: 


 


I believe so, yes. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


And is it for those reasons that you’ve recommended that this dog be deemed vicious and licensed 


as a vicious animal? 


 


David Smetana: 


 


That’s correct. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


Thank you, Chief.  I have no further questions at this time. 


 


Sheldon Seichter 


 


I have one question.  What is the definition of terrorizing the neighborhood? 


 


David Smetana: 


 


Well, it’s subjective.  But when I spoke with the individual I did put some weight behind the fact 


that he lives in the neighborhood.  I don’t.  So when somebody uses an emotional description like 


terrorizing I don’t take that lightly.  To me that’s very descriptive.  I can’t give you an absolute 


definition, but I can relay that there’s been two incidents of the dog breaking containment and 


allegedly going after people outside of its yard.  So that’s what I used as a reference point when I 


heard him describe it as terrorizing. 


 


Sheldon Seichter: 


 


Okay, the first incident with the dog the gate was left open. 


 


David Smetana: 


 


Okay. 


 


 


 







Village Board Special Meeting 


June 12, 2013 


 


 


16 


Sheldon Seichter: 


 


And we’re not sure how.  The second incident was my fault, but terrorizing, he’s never done 


anything except bark a lot outside.  I didn’t know people were so scared of him.  I never heard 


from any of the neighbors that they were scared of the dog.  I have no further questions. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


Thank you, Chief.  The Village calls David Smielewski. 


 


Jane Romanowski: 


 


Do you solemnly swear in the matter now in hearing to tell the truth so help you God? 


 


David Smielewski: 


 


I do. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


Mr. Smielewski, would you please state your full name and your address. 


 


David Smielewski: 


 


David Smielewski, 9219 27th Avenue, Kenosha, Wisconsin. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


Thank you, Mr. Smielewski. 


 


David Smielewski: 


 


Right. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


I think I butchered that a few different times this evening.  I apologize. 


 


David Smielewski: 


 


Everybody does. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


Mr. Smielewski, you were involved in this incident which occurred on May 10, 2013? 


 







Village Board Special Meeting 


June 12, 2013 


 


 


17 


David Smielewski: 


 


Yes, I was. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


And I’d like you to describe for the Board in your own words what you were doing at the time of 


this attack. 


 


David Smielewski: 


 


On 27th Avenue it’s a dead end street.  And right at the beginning of the street where you turn 


down all our neighbors take nice care of their lawns, right?  There’s an area between Amanda’s 


yard and the street which is all weeds in there.  And I for years now I’ve been taking care of that.  


I’ve been killing the weeds and keeping the grass cut so when people turn down the street it looks 


nice.  And I was going to put some Weed and Feed on it.  And I had a fertilizer spreader walking 


down the street.  And I got to almost the end of their yard by the house there.  There’s a dead end 


sign.  And I was around there, I was going to turn around and make my spread. 


 


I seen the dog as he always does, he’s sense aggressive apparently, running back and forth and 


barking.  On occasion, and I’ve seen this before, he will get up on the fence with his front legs 


like this hanging over and bark at you.  He’s done that before.  I’ve seen it before so I didn’t think 


too much of it.  I just try to ignore the dog.  I had just turned around and all of a sudden he came 


over the fence. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


And did you ever approach or did you enter onto the property of Ms. Lay? 


 


David Smielewski: 


 


No, at this time I was on the street. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


You were on the street. 


 


David Smielewski: 


 


Where I dumped the fertilizer is right by that sign, that dead end sign. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


And do I understand you correctly that the dog actually jumped over the fence? 


 


 







Village Board Special Meeting 


June 12, 2013 


 


 


18 


David Smielewski: 


 


Yes.  He was hanging over like this.  His front paws were over the fence which he’s done that 


before.  But he’d never gone over as far as I could see. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


And after he jumped over the fence tell us what happened. 


 


David Smielewski: 


 


Well, I seen him come over, and he’s headed straight for me.  So I put my arm up like this and 


this is where he grabbed me.  I swung the fertilizer spreader around and hit him and he let go.  


But when I came around he caught me in the leg.  So then I swung it back, and I managed to keep 


that fertilizer spreader between me and him until Sheldon came out and grabbed the dog. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


And I see you have some scars.  Tell us about the injuries that you sustained.  Tell us what 


happened.  What did the dog do to you? 


 


David Smielewski: 


 


Well, he took a chunk out of my arm.  Apparently when I hit him with the fertilizer spreader 


when his teeth pulled out it pulled part of the hide out, you know what I mean, the skin and this 


and that.  And that was the worst.  And then when I swung around he grabbed me here, and it 


looked like a 22 shot or something went in there.  You could see the teeth marks.  But he let go 


there.  He didn’t tear and that was what the injuries were. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


So there were repeated bites? 


 


David Smielewski: 


 


Two bites, one on the arm, one on the leg. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


And you required treatment? 


 


David Smielewski: 


 


Oh, yes, of course. 


 


 







Village Board Special Meeting 


June 12, 2013 


 


 


19 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


And you went to Kenosha Hospital? 


 


David Smielewski: 


 


Right. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


And did you require -- how long were you in the hospital? 


 


David Smielewski: 


 


Oh, I don’t know, a couple hours.  They stitched it up and they cleaned it up and bandaged it.  


And then I went back the next day to have the bandage changed because the blood was coming 


through yet.  It was a big hole was what it was and it was bloody, you know. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


Sure. 


 


David Smielewski: 


 


And then about a week later went back and had the stitches -- a couple of the stitches taken out, 


so. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


Alright.  And do you have concerns, Mr. Smielewski, regarding the presence of this dog in the 


neighborhood? 


 


David Smielewski: 


 


Yes, I do.  If he went over that fence once he can get over the fence.  Now we know it and he’ll 


do it again.  And my concerns are sitting back there in the back row.  Those are my grandchildren 


which play on that street. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


There were children in the neighborhood? 


 


 


 


 


 







Village Board Special Meeting 


June 12, 2013 


 


 


20 


David Smielewski: 


 


Yes, Gary’s got grandchildren.  Those are my children.  Bert and Gisla, Gisla likes to ride her 


bicycle up and down that street.  She can’t do that.  I mean it’s our street and she can’t ride her 


bicycle because of that dog. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


So there’s fear? 


 


David Smielewski: 


 


Fear, yes. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


Mr. Smielewski, are you aware as to whether Ms. Lay possessed liability insurance on the home? 


 


David Smielewski: 


 


We found out she didn’t. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


No insurance? 


 


David Smielewski: 


 


No. 


 


Amanda Lay: 


 


Can I comment on that? 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


Thank you, I have no further questions for Mr. Smielewski, so yes. 


 


Amanda Lay: 


 


Okay, I did have – 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Could you give us your name and address for the record. 


 







Village Board Special Meeting 


June 12, 2013 


 


 


21 


Amanda Lay: 


 


Oh, I’m sorry.  It’s Amanda Lay, 2634 Springbrook Road, Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin.  I did 


have liability insurance.  I pay my insurance through my escrow.  I’m actually in the process right 


now of going back and forth between my mortgage company and my insurance company, 


because somehow a $47 payment didn’t get paid, and the mortgage company was notified.  They 


claim they sent me a letter but they have no proof of the letter.  So I’m just kind of going back 


and forth.  Because on the first policy that I had I did have liability for my dogs and my cats.  And 


then the policy that the mortgage company instated it’s just for the house, that was it.  They also 


claim that they sent me a letter regarding it but they have no proof of it either, so I’m kind of 


stuck in the middle with both of them pointing their fingers at each other.  So there is still a 


possibility that the policy with the liability will get reinstated.  It’s just that they’re going back 


and forth through their channels.  So I did originally have liability for my animals and everything.  


And that happened in November.  It’s not as if it got dropped because of this.  It happened in 


November when the policies were switched and changed.  So I’m actually still in the middle of 


trying to sort that out.  And I already talked to his insurance company, and in the event that it 


does get switched they will pick it up.  It’s just kind of like a he said, she said pointing game right 


now that I’m kind of trying to figure out, so. 


 


Sheldon Seichter: 


 


I only have a couple questions for you.  How many times would you say you’ve been over to the 


house and been in the yard with us and the dog? 


 


David Smielewski: 


 


Oh, over the years I don’t know, at least half a dozen probably. 


 


Sheldon Seichter: 


 


How did you get along with him then? 


 


David Smielewski: 


 


When I’m in the yard, when I’ve gone in there, your Uncle Ron is who I go over there to visit all 


the time, that dog is very gentle when I’m in the yard.  But when you’re outside the yard along 


that fence it’s completely different. 


 


Sheldon Seichter: 


 


How would you feel if we put an extension on that fence?  And I had no idea about the kids not 


feeling safe riding their bike either.  But if we put another extension and made it at least seven 


foot tall would that make things a little better?  Our mission is today is to -- 


 


 


 







Village Board Special Meeting 


June 12, 2013 


 


 


22 


David Smielewski: 


 


As far as I’m concerned you could put a ten foot fence up, but all it would take is leave a gate 


open.  I mean for me, I’m sorry, I don’t want that dog in the neighborhood.  I mean I would take 


the risk of having -- I just don’t want him.  That’s up to the Board. 


 


Sheldon Seichter: 


 


Alright. 


 


David Smielewski: 


 


I’m scared of him. 


 


Sheldon Seichter: 


 


I understand.  We’re sorry that did happen to you. 


 


David Smielewski: 


 


Well, so am I. 


 


Sheldon Seichter: 


 


No further questions. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


The Village has no further witnesses at this time.  However, I do understand that there are a 


number of residents from the community that would like to comment with regard to a public 


comment section perhaps.  Also, after Ms. Lay presents her case I’d reserve the right to make my 


final argument at that point.  But if the board would be willing to open it up to public comment I 


believe there are those here willing to speak. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Well, this is a public hearing now I believe, is it not?  So now would be the appropriate time.  


And all we ask is you come forward and please give us your name and address for the record. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


Mr. President, the other option is if you’d like to have Ms. Lay present her case first, and then 


after all evidence is in we could withhold public comment until that time if you’d like to proceed 


that way. 


 


 







Village Board Special Meeting 


June 12, 2013 


 


 


23 


Amanda Lay: 


 


I really just have -- my only concern is I understand everyone is scared.  I mean I -- 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Amanda, just for the record give us your name and address so the report know who’s speaking. 


 


Amanda Lay: 


 


Okay, Amanda Lay, 2634 Springbrook Road.  I do understand everyone’s concerns.  I don’t 


discriminate at all with whomever, and I understand how he could be a nuisance to everybody.  I 


believe my only -- the only reason why I’m here is to save his life.  I understand that we’re not 


going to have him back in the neighborhood.  I understand that, and I don’t disagree with 


anybody.  But as Dave even said he’s a sweet dog.  He has certain behavioral issues.  I took him 


from my sister who had no idea what she was doing with the dog.  I have another dog who is of a 


larger breed, and he’s perfectly fine, and I’ve raised him since he was small.  I got him, I got 


Casper, the dog that’s in question right now a few years later.   


 


And he’s fear aggressive, and that’s one of the hardest things to work with on a dog.  I’ve taken 


him light years away from where he was when I first got him.  We couldn’t even put a plastic bag 


around him because he would go after it or would cower and pee all over the floor.  I couldn’t tell 


you what my sister did to him because she won’t tell me because she just doesn’t want to admit 


that she did anything wrong.  And I do apologize for scaring the hell out of everybody, pardon my 


language, with the dog.  I really do.  And I understand what type of breed he is and the 


responsibility that comes with that.  But, as I said, my other dog is a large breed.  He is not a pit 


bull, but he is of an aggressive breed, and he’s one of the sweetest giants you’ll ever meet.  Now 


that Casper is not in the yard barking at everybody neither is he.  They learn from each other.  


And I’m pretty sure you guys have seen him around.  He’s the big white dog.  He doesn’t chase 


you up and down the fence or anything.  He doesn’t have a high prey drive is what it’s called.  


And I think that’s part of what Casper’s problem is as well.  He has a high prey drive.  That’s 


what causes him to chase things up and down the street.  My other dog doesn’t have any of that.  


He’s more lazy than anything. 


 


I’m only asking that you spare his life and give him a chance maybe with a new owner who has a 


stockade fence that’s six feet tall.  He doesn’t dig underground so it doesn’t have to be ten feet 


underground, but I don’t think that he deserves to die because of a human yard where someone 


wasn’t in the yard watching him or someone didn’t have him tied up or someone left the gate 


open.  That I don’t agree with because he isn’t a bad animal.  I mean he’s good with kids.  We’ve 


had him over at Jen’s house with other dogs.  He’s good with dogs.  It’s that fence, that’s part of 


his aggressiveness.  And it’s honestly been one of the most challenging things to work with him 


on. 


 


I don’t think that he should die because of it, because I think that with really good training and 


some time that he could be broken of that.  But I also know that it would take the right owner to 


do that with him.  And I understand everybody’s concerns, I really do.  I feel for everybody.  I 







Village Board Special Meeting 


June 12, 2013 


 


 


24 


just don’t think that he should have to die because of it.  That’s really all I’m here for.  And I 


understand that nobody wants him back in the neighborhood and that’s fine.  I don’t disagree.  He 


is like one of my kids and I will dearly miss him, but I would also like to give him a chance with 


someone else who is going to be able to work with him.  And finding someone overnight or even 


within the last month I have to make sure that it’s the right owner.  They have to have a stockade 


fence.  They have to be able to deal with a dog like this.  I can’t just give him to someone else and 


let this happen again.  It has to be somebody who is able to work with this dog because he is a 


special case.  I just don’t want to see him die because of it, that’s all. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


Ms. Lay, very briefly, you’ve described the dog as having behavioral issues -- 


 


Amanda Lay: 


 


Yes. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


-- and a high prey drive? 


 


Amanda Lay: 


 


Yeah, that’s what they describe it as is a high prey drive.  It’s kind of where I can throw a ball and 


my dog that I have now will not go get it.  I can throw a rock in my yard, I can throw a feather, 


and this dog that is locked up right now, Casper, will -- he’ll chase anything.  Yeah, I mean he 


chases -- he’s like a cat in the house.  He chases flies.  I mean anything that moves in front of 


him, if you put one of those laser things my other dog doesn’t react to it whatsoever.  Casper 


chases it up the wall.  That’s what they call a high prey drive. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


And you’ve indicated that you would be willing to transfer the dog out of the Village? 


 


Amanda Lay: 


 


Yeah, yeah I have no problem with that.  For everyone’s sake and for anywhere else that he goes 


he needs to go to the right owner.  He can’t go to just someone who’s like, oh, it’s cool to own a 


pit bull.  And that’s now how I am either.  It’s not that I think it’s cool to own these dogs.  I mean 


I understand that they’re completely misunderstood.  I even have pictures here.  He’s sleeping in 


bed with us.  He’s not a bad dog.  He’s laying on us.  He has a high prey drive, and I have no 


problem giving him up.  I just want to make sure that the home that he does go to is the correct 


home for him.  He can’t go to somewhere else where this is going to happen and they are going to 


kill him because then again that’s another human error.  This is human error that we’re dealing 


with.  It’s not the dog’s fault at all.  He was raised by someone who had no idea what they were 


doing.  I’ve tried to correct some of those behaviors and stop short of this. 







Village Board Special Meeting 


June 12, 2013 


 


 


25 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


The dog is still aggressive.  You would still describe the dog as aggressive toward outsiders? 


 


Amanda Lay: 


 


No, because even Dave’s been in my home.  I have had friends over.  It’s the fence.  It’s not that - 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


So only those outside of the fence he’s aggressive toward? 


 


Amanda Lay: 


 


Anything on the other side of the fence.  It’s called fence aggression.  I mean Dave’s dogs have 


ran the neighborhood numerous times, and even my dog who isn’t aggressive if you put two dogs 


on one side of a fence and two dogs on the other side you’re more than likely going to have -- 


you’re not going to have a fence fight, you’re going to have dogs on the same side of the fence 


fighting each other because it’s fence aggression.  They’re not going to try to fight each other 


through the fence.  They’re going to fight their own buddy who they live with, you know.  And 


it’s the fence that really drives him.  I don’t think that he’s necessarily aggressive towards people 


or towards cars or anything like that.  I think that he has a problem with the fence, and that’s 


really his only issue at this point. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


And have you taken any steps to investigate transferring the dog out of the Village? 


 


Amanda Lay: 


 


I have.  I’ve contacted many humane societies and they’re waiting for this hearing.  Because 


either they need to know what he’s going to be deemed as, which it’s going to be ten times harder 


to place him into or outside of the Village alive if he’s deemed vicious.  It’s going to take a lot 


more work to find somebody who’s able to deal with him.  If he is deemed vicious then you also 


have the -- you have to write the villages and stuff that he goes to.  They said that it’s one thing 


for him to bite a person and for him to be transferred because they can deal with that.  But if he’s 


bitten somebody and he’s deemed as vicious it’s almost ten times harder to place him. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


Thank you.  And just a point of clarification for the Board’s benefit, I know Ms. Lay’s concern is 


that the dog not be killed.  The Village’s position at this point is if the Board affirms the Police 


Chief’s determination that this dog is vicious the options are either for Ms. Lay to license the dog 


as a vicious animal and comply with the terms of the ordinance pertaining to vicious animals, or 


she has the option to transfer it out of the Village in accordance with the ordinance.  So just to 







Village Board Special Meeting 


June 12, 2013 


 


 


26 


clarify or disabuse anyone of any misconception, we’re not seeking or we’re not requesting the 


Board to euthanize the dog.  We’re asking the Board to enforce the ordinances to protect the 


community by either licensing the dog appropriately as a vicious animal or removing it from the 


jurisdiction entirely.  So I just want to make sure that’s clear.  I have no further questions for Ms. 


Lay. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Okay, then do we take our public comments now? 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


I think that would be fine. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


And, once again, this is the time to make your public comment.  Just give us your name and 


address for the record and use the microphone.  If you want to come up please raise your hand 


and we’ll recognize you.  Sir?  You can use the microphone right up here if you want. 


 


Burt Habel: 


 


My name is Burt Habel, and I live at 9201 27th Avenue next door to Dave and three houses away 


from where this happened.  I heard the word terrorize before, and I can agree with that.  We were 


afraid of that dog.  We always walk, including myself, I go for walks sometimes of the road, I 


walk on the other side of the street because the dog was constantly behind the fence running and 


barking and just, you know, vicious dog.  And I hate to think even if they get the license for it 


what could happen if my wife with the grandchildren walked down the street and the dog would 


get loose.  He’s been over the fence now once, so that can happen again.  And like Dave said 


what if for some reason the gate isn’t latched.  I don’t think we should have the dog in the 


neighborhood anymore.  I’m really serious about that.  I don’t now what would happen if 


something happened to my grandchildren or even my wife.  She rides the bicycle down there, 


too.’ 


 


And then the other thing is, and I cannot stop anybody from taking the dog someplace else, but 


what if the dog is vicious and bites somebody else someplace.  And we don’t have no [inaudible] 


we got a good, friendly neighborhood.  We’d like to keep it that way.  But the other thing is, too, 


the fence, I don’t know what the Village ordinances are, the fence is four foot high now.  I 


measured it.  I just wonder if it’s not too low for any dog because they’ve had other dogs there 


before.  And like Dave said the dogs get up on the fence and it looks like they could come over.  


So I think that’s something to consider for any dog that the fence would be extended.  That’s all. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Alright, thank you, sir.  Anyone else wishing to comment.  Sir? 


 







Village Board Special Meeting 


June 12, 2013 


 


 


27 


Gary Garvin: 


 


My name is Gary Garvin.  I live at 9230 27th Avenue.  And first of all I’d like to ask a question.  


Would you feel the same way about this dog if he would have killed Dave?  Would you still be 


against it being put down? 


 


Amanda Lay: 


 


I know the dog and I know his issues so yeah. 


 


Gary Garvin: 


 


No, my question is would you feel the same way? 


 


Amanda Lay: 


 


I guess.  I mean -- 


 


Gary Garvin: 


 


If your dog would have killed him you still would want that dog alive and -- 


 


Amanda Lay: 


 


I don’t have kids, he’s like my son.  Like if your son killed somebody would you want him 


killed? 


 


Gary Garvin: 


 


You still didn’t answer the question.  Does somebody have to die before we do anything about 


this?  Even moving the dog to a different area, what if somebody did this and brought the dog to 


our area and it killed one of our grandchildren or our parent or grandparent?  We would probably 


go after that jurisdiction, at the minimum the people.  So to wait until the third, fourth, fifth 


offense to me is not a good thing to do legally, morally, ethically.  And I truly believe the dog 


was trying to kill Dave.  He didn’t just bite him, he bit him again and again.  If he wouldn’t have 


had the lawn fertilizer with him he probably would have killed him.  So if for liability reasons, 


whatever, I just don’t believe that we should wait until somebody winds up dead and then we 


have to deal with it.   


 


He’s proven what he does.  He’s proven to me at least and everyone I’ve talked to in our 


neighborhood that he’s not just a dog that runs up and down the fence barking.  This dog is trying 


to get at you and kill you.  You said you didn’t ever hear anybody said anybody was being 


terrorized.  People won’t get their own mail, we won’t get our mail unless we’re in our car.  Our 


grandkids don’t go up and down that street just for the fear of him getting out.  Again, it’s not a 


dog running back and forth barking.  This dog is trying to get at you.  This dog claws the fence so 







Village Board Special Meeting 


June 12, 2013 


 


 


28 


bad that his paws bleed and leave blood on the cyclone fence trying to get at whoever’s out there 


or whatever’s out there.  Do you disagree with that? 


 


Amanda Lay: 


 


My dog’s never come inside with bloody paws ever. 


 


Gary Garvin: 


 


I’ve seen your dog’s feet bleeding. 


 


Amanda Lay: 


 


No.  The only time my dogs have ever bled from being at the fence was when Dave’s dogs were 


out and they were smashing into the fence and that was it.  And I wouldn’t lie about it. 


 


Gary Garvin: 


 


I would ask that you ask other people here. 


 


Amanda Lay: 


 


  It’s not as if I’m trying to get the dog back. 


 


Gary Garvin: 


 


I would ask that you ask other people here because I’m not the only witness to that. 


 


--: 


 


When did he see the dog’s feet bleeding? 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Alright, I think the point has been made.  We’ll move on from there. 


 


Amanda Lay: 


 


Yeah, that’s fine. 


 


Gary Garvin: 


 


Okay, thank you. 


 


 


 







Village Board Special Meeting 


June 12, 2013 


 


 


29 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Thank you.  Anyone else wishing to speak?  Anyone else wishing to comment?  Hearing none 


I’m going to close the comment portion.  We have more with the public hearing? 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


Mr. President, I just have a very brief summation.  From the Village’s perspective, Your Honor, 


from the perspective of the Police Chief of Pleasant Prairie the safety and the welfare of the 


community is at the heart of this case.  A dog can be just as aggressive and just as vicious as any 


wild animal.  And I think what we have here, and I think as what has been attested to by the 


neighborhood they are in fear of this dog in their neighborhood.  Not only have there been past 


instances, the prior instance in 2011, but now we have someone who has suffered a very serious 


injury, who required hospitalization.  And I think the public comments especially from Mr. 


Garvin are very telling.  Residents should not have to live in fear because a dog is in their 


neighborhood and they’re afraid to go get their mail. 


 


We have a safety issue here, and I’m respectful of Ms. Lay’s position.  She obviously loves and 


cares for her dog, and I don’t question that the dog is fine and delicate around those that it knows 


and trusts.  But once you get beyond that fence I think it’s very clear, anyone beyond that fence is 


a target.  This neighborhood is a target.  These residents are targets, and that’s simply 


inappropriate in the Village.  And it’s because of that that the Police Chief has made this 


determination because it’s his obligation to protect and defend this community from undue harm.   


 


And it’s for all of these reasons, it’s for the testimony presented today that we would ask this 


Board to affirm the determination of the Village’s Police Chief that this dog is a vicious animal as 


defined in Chapter 119 of the ordinances.  We would ask that that determination require either 


Ms. Lay to license this animal as a vicious animal and keep it in accordance with the ordinances, 


or be afforded a reasonable amount of time to transfer the dog out of the jurisdiction also in 


accordance with the ordinances.  Thank you. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Thank you.  With that I’ll close the public hearing and open it up to Board comment and question.  


Mike? 


 


Michael Serpe: 


 


I have to give you credit for trying.  I’m an animal lover, believe me.  But when you have to have 


neighbors that have to have quick access to a shotgun because they’re afraid that the dog might 


come out that’s very scary.  That is extremely scary.  And I think the last gentleman that just 


spoke raises a good point.  If you’re able to find a community that will take this dog, and it’s not 


in Pleasant Prairie that’s for sure, that community has to be notified that this is a vicious animal. 


 


 


 







Village Board Special Meeting 


June 12, 2013 


 


 


30 


Amanda Lay: 


 


Yeah, I was aware that you have to write them a letter or whatever, yeah. 


 


Michael Serpe: 


 


But here’s the thing that’s going to stick with me if we allow that to happen.  What if that dog is 


unable to chance its behavior and goes after somebody else in a vicious way?  That’s going to 


come back on us, it’s going to come back on you.  I don’t want to see that.  And sometimes 


there’s human beings that just can’t change their behavior.  They’re put in mental institutions 


because that’s what we do to humans.  There’s animals that for whatever reason are vicious and 


maybe they’ll never change and they have to be euthanized.  Would you love to see that dog be in 


an enclosure, eight foot high stockade fence and never see the outside?  That’s not good.  That’s 


not good for that dog.  If that’s what the future of that dog has to see I would rather seen the dog 


put down rather than face that kind of life.  It’s just not good.  I hate to say that because I had 


dogs and I had cats.  And it kills you to put them down. 


 


Amanda Lay: 


 


Especially when they’re healthy. 


 


Michael Serpe: 


 


But in this case I honestly think that’s the best method to resolve this issue.  I really do. 


 


Steve Kumorkiewicz: 


 


I have to agree with Trustee Serpe.  I’m a dog lover myself.  I’ve had dogs all my life.  The issue 


here is that transferring the dog to another community will transfer the problems.  As Mike says if 


the same type of incident happens it comes to ours.  I don’t want to see that happen.  I’ve got a 


big problem with that.  I my opinion the dog is vicious, yes, definitely.  It has been proven with 


the incidents that have been reported to us here.  Now, I don’t understand if you have a problem 


before why you didn’t put a big fence in the beginning. 


 


Amanda Lay: 


 


He didn’t jump the fence in the beginning. 


 


Steve Kumorkiewicz: 


 


But he was at the top of the fence.  In my opinion when he was on top of the fence that’s it.  So I 


don’t think that the option is transfer the dog is an option.  In my opinion it’s not. 


 


 


 


 







Village Board Special Meeting 


June 12, 2013 


 


 


31 


Michael Serpe: 


 


I think we made our feelings somewhat been known, and I don’t think you’d disagree with too 


much of what we had to say, at least I don’t think you do.  But we have to declare this dog either 


vicious or not vicious.  And I think there’s enough testimony and evidence tonight that the dog is 


vicious.  And what happens after we declare that is -- what’s the procedure if we declare the dog 


vicious? 


 


Mike Pollocoff: 


 


Well, if the Board determines that the dog is vicious Ms. Lay would need to comply with Chapter 


119.  The dog would have to be licensed as a vicious dog.  If it’s moved out of the Village it has 


to be so noted that it’s a vicious dog before it moves out so that another community doesn’t 


accept a dog that’s been determined to be vicious.  If the dog is kept at the same residence, along 


with all the other requirements we have for dogs, it has to have their shots and rabies and 


everything else like that.  For the dog that’s determined to be vicious there would be an insurance 


requirement, $500,000 for property damage, $100,000 the policy names the Village of Pleasant 


Prairie.  It would be a separate license.   


 


The dog would have to be tattooed with the license number so that wouldn’t be lost.  The dog 


would need to be kept in a suitable structure fenced either inside, and if it was inside the fence 


would have to be of sufficient height to make sure the dog couldn’t get over it.  A large fence 


could not be put in the front yard where the existing fence is, the zoning ordinance will not permit 


anything higher than a four foot fence in the front yard of the property.  So it would have to be a 


pen or something in the back yard.  The dog would have to be muzzled, chained.  Those things 


would have to take place for the animal to be there.  There would have to be postings on the 


property and the fence that would notify that there’s a vicious animal warning people that could 


be there.  And off the premises it would have to be muzzled with a non bite-type muzzle and 


restrained as to movement with a sturdy collar, harness or leash secured by and under the direct 


control of the supervision of a mentally competent adult person. 


 


Ms. Lay could not sell or convey that dog without advising the person who is going to receive the 


dog that is, in fact, determined to be a vicious animal.  No person may sell or transfer possession 


of a dog who is licensed as a vicious dog or found by the Village Board of Pleasant Prairie or 


presumptively found to be vicious by the owner’s or keeper’s failure to request a hearing by the 


Village Board.  So basically it’s the Board’s decision, and I think a recommendation is and I 


believe that’s what the Chief and counsel’s recommending is the determination is the Board 


would consider the dog vicious or it’s not.  And if it is determined to be vicious they have to 


comply with the ordinance.  It would be Ms. Lay’s determination whether or not she’s going to 


euthanize the dog.  But if the Board makes that decision she has to comply with the provisions of 


the ordinance in short order. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Thank you, Mike.  Ms. Lay I understand your feelings for the animal.  I appreciate what you’ve 


tried to do so far with the animal.  It’s unfortunate animals really can’t be predictable.  But what’s 







Village Board Special Meeting 


June 12, 2013 


 


 


32 


been demonstrated so far was the attack on David and the fact that he’s an adult, he was able to 


fend it off.  He had a fertilizer spreader to put between himself and the animal.  I think my biggest 


concern and probably everybody here is the fact that if that was a small child out there, that child 


had no defense it would probably be killed.  And I couldn’t put that on my conscious, and I’m 


hoping you couldn’t do that either. 


 


Amanda Lay: 


 


No. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


And knowing and loving an animal is something, it’s very hard to let go of that animal.  But 


sometimes you have to look at what is the best thing not only for the animal but for the 


community.  And I have to agree with the Chief’s determination this dog has demonstrated 


vicious tendencies.  So I have to agree with the Chief on this. 


 


Michael Serpe: 


 


John, I would make a motion to concur with Chief Smetana’s recommendation and declare the 


dog’s vicious. 


 


Monica Yuhas: 


 


Second. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Motion by Mike, second by Monica.  Any further discussion from the Board?  If not, a motion is 


in order of verbal, or does this have to be a roll call? 


 


Jane Romanowski: 


 


Verbal. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Call the roll. 


 


 SERPE MOVED TO CONCUR WITH POLICE CHIEF DAVE SMETANA’S 


DETERMINATION THAT THE DOG “CASPER” OWNED BY AMANDA LAY IS A VICIOUS 


ANIMAL; SECONDED BY YUHAS; ROLL CALL VOTE – STEINBRINK – AYE; YUHAS – 


AYE; KUMORKIEWICZ – AYE; SERPE – AYE; MOTION CARRIED 4-0. 


 


 


 







Village Board Special Meeting 


June 12, 2013 


 


 


33 


John Steinbrink: 


 


With that I will adjourn this public hearing, and we’ll be moving onto the next in just a few 


moments.  We’ll take a five minute break here to let everybody settle out. 


 


Amanda Lay: 


 


Are we done? 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Yes, the Chief will talk to you. 


 


[Break] 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


The Village of Pleasant Prairie Village Board is in session.  We are on Item 3, public hearings, 


we’re on Item B.  The hour is 6:30. 


 


 B. 6:30 p.m. - Consider appeal filed by Victor Hayden of a vicious dog determination. 
 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


Thank you, Mr. President.  Again, for the record, Thomas Camilli, Jr., appearing on behalf of the 


Village of Pleasant Prairie.  Mr. President and members of the Board, this matter comes before 


the Board this evening based upon an appeal of Village resident Victor Hayden of a 


determination made by the Police Chief of Pleasant Prairie that Victor Hayden’s bullmastiff is 


and should be deemed a vicious animal under Chapter 119 of the ordinances. 


 


This incident arises from an attack which occurred on May 14, 2013 at 12137 Sheridan Road.  At 


that time a young ten year old boy was viciously and suddenly attacked by Mr. Hayden’s 


bullmastiff suffering severe injuries to the upper arms and to the right arm, injuries to the head as 


well as multiple deep punctures and lacerations. 


 


What we’re going to hear this evening is testimony from Officer Michael Prange and Village 


Police Chief Dave Smetana with regard to their investigation and the fact that this ten year old 


child was visiting a friend at Mr. Hayden’s home.  When the door was opened the dog ran out of 


the home and attacked this defenseless child causing serious injury. 


 


Before we take testimony I do just want to remind the Board briefly of the legal standard as 


outlined in Chapter 119.  Evidence that a dog has bitten another person is prima facie evidence of 


viciousness per our ordinance.  Viciousness simply means dangerously aggressive.  And what 


we’re going to see this evening is testimony which indicates that this animal caused severe and 


very significant injuries to a defenseless child.  I’m going to ask the Board after testimony is 


taken that the Board affirm the decision of Police Chief Smetana in determining that this dog is 







Village Board Special Meeting 


June 12, 2013 


 


 


34 


vicious and to require that this dog either be licensed in accordance with the ordinances or moved 


out of the jurisdiction. 


 


This case is especially disconcerting because it involves a young boy.  It involves serious injury.  


We have a dog that was not licensed, that did not have its rabies vaccinations current, and there 


have been prior instances as well, and the testimony will further illuminate that.  Without 


anything further I would ask for Officer Michael Prange to approach. 


 


Jane Romanowski: 


 


Do you solemnly swear in the matter now in hearing to tell the truth so help you God? 


 


Michael Prange: 


 


 I do. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


Will you please state your full name and work address. 


 


Michael Prange: 


 


Officer Michael Prange, and my address is 8600 Green Bay Road, Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


And, Officer Prange, you’re employed by the Pleasant Prairie Police Department? 


 


Michael Prange: 


 


That’s correct. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


What is your rank with the department? 


 


Michael Prange: 


 


Police officer. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


How long have you been a police officer? 


 


 


 







Village Board Special Meeting 


June 12, 2013 


 


 


35 


Michael Prange: 


 


For Pleasant Prairie? 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


For the Village of Pleasant Prairie. 


 


Michael Prange: 


 


Eleven years. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


And were you an officer prior to joining the Village? 


 


Michael Prange: 


 


Yes. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


Where was that? 


 


Michael Prange: 


 


For the Department of Natural Resources and part-time in Twin Lakes. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


And were you on duty as an officer with the Village on May 14 of this year? 


 


Michael Prange: 


 


Yes. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


And do you recall being dispatched to the Kenosha Memorial Hospital on May 14, 2013? 


 


Michael Prange: 


 


Yes. 


 


 


 







Village Board Special Meeting 


June 12, 2013 


 


 


36 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


And what was your understanding of the reason for your visit to Kenosha Memorial Hospital? 


 


Michael Prange: 


 


There was a ten year old child there with a dog bite injury. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


And I’d like you to describe for the Board what you observed when you arrived at Kenosha 


Memorial Hospital on May 14, 2013. 


 


Michael Prange: 


 


Ten year old boy in the ER.  He had bandages around both of his arms, and they had just finished 


cleaning two fairly severe wounds on the back of his head. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


And before you go any further, Officer Prange, I’m just going to stop you for a moment.  All of 


the testimony that you’re going to give was memorialized in a written report? 


 


Michael Prange: 


 


Yes. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


And I’m showing you what’s now been marked as Exhibit Number 4 or Item Number 4 in the 


exhibit book.  Do you recognize this report? 


 


Michael Prange: 


 


Yes. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


And is this a true and correct copy of the incident report that you prepared in connection with this 


investigation? 


 


Michael Prange: 


 


Yes, right. 


 


 







Village Board Special Meeting 


June 12, 2013 


 


 


37 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


And for the benefit of the Board, again I’m referring to the evidence book for Case Number 13-


7270, Exhibit Number 4.  You may continue with your testimony on that issue, Officer. 


 


Michael Prange: 


 


Okay.  I questioned the victim as to what happened.  He stated that he was going over to visit his 


friend, Julian Hayden.  And his mother dropped him off in the driveway.  He exited the vehicle, 


approached the back door of the Hayden residence, knocked on the door.  His friend Julian 


answered the door.  And at that time the dog, Tyson, ran out the door and attacked him.  Kyle’s 


statement was that he thought he was going to die.  And his mother who was still present exited 


the vehicle and attempted to get the dog off of Kyle, the victim.  And then one of Mr. Hayden’s 


other sons, I don’t recall his name, but he came outside and grabbed the dog by the collar, and 


they were able to pull the dog off of the children. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


So there was some effort to pull the dog off of the victim? 


 


Michael Prange: 


 


To my understanding yes. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


And can you describe the type of injuries that the child sustained? 


 


Michael Prange: 


 


He had two fairly -- 


 


Victor Hayden-: 


 


Objection, Your Honor.  All those was hearsay.  I mean that person isn’t here. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


I’m sorry, sir, this is -- he’s reading from the record here, his statement. 


 


Victor Hayden:: 


 


But that’s hearsay. 


 


 


 







Village Board Special Meeting 


June 12, 2013 


 


 


38 


John Steinbrink: 


 


You’ll have your opportunity to cross-examine. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


Just to verify for Mr. Hayden this is not a court of law, this is a Board hearing.  It’s a quasi-


judicial proceeding so the rules of evidence that apply in a court of law are not strictly applied 


here. 


 


Victor Hayden: 


 


So I can’t object. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


No, there are no rules of evidence.  You’ll have an opportunity to question Officer Prange after 


my examination, and you’ll have an opportunity to present your evidence to the Board as well.  


Could you please describe the injuries that you observed on the child? 


 


Michael Prange: 


 


Yes.  There were two fairly severe lacerations to the back of his head.  And then the bandages 


that were around his arm the nurses did come in and remove the bandages to further clean the 


wounds and give whatever treatment was necessary.  At that point I was able to photograph those 


wounds as well.  And the left arm had severe punctures with large areas of flesh and muscle that 


were removed.  The right arm had -- correction.  It was the right arm that had the muscle and 


flesh removed.  It was the left arm that had punctures and severe bite marks. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


And did you have the opportunity to photograph the injuries that you observed on the child? 


 


Michael Prange: 


 


Yes. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


And I’m going to direct you now to Exhibit Number 9 of the exhibit book which appear to be a 


series of photographs.  Do you recognize what has been marked as Exhibit Number 9? 


 


Michael Prange: 


 


Yes. 


 







Village Board Special Meeting 


June 12, 2013 


 


 


39 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


And there are several photographs I’d like you for the Board’s benefit to simply take us through 


the injuries and what you’ve photographed on that day. 


 


Michael Prange: 


 


Okay.  The first page the back of Kyle’s head.  You can see the hair is still saturated with a large 


amount of blood.  And the second picture, the second page, the nurse is moving some of the hair 


to the side so that you could see the actual cut and lacerations to the flesh.  The third picture he’s 


still wearing the bandages around his arms.  You can see some scratches and bruising on the next 


several pictures.  One of them there’s a few scratches to his back that are fairly minor and some 


bruising area to just like the armpit area.  And, again, photographs of the back of the head, the 


lacerations to the back of the head.  You can see that there are two there next to each other.   


 


And then the photograph of the right arm where the large areas of flesh were removed.  I mean it 


looks like possibly right down to the bone.  I mean those look deep.  And then just further 


pictures of the same wounds.  And then we move onto the pictures of the dog.  When we did go 


to remove the dog from the residence, and once animal control had the dog secured in the kennel 


in the back of their vehicle I did notice that the dog still had blood on the left side of his face so I 


photographed that as well.  And just further pictures from different angles. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


Thank you, Officer.  In the course of your investigation you indicated the dog was taken and was 


impounded? 


 


Michael Prange: 


 


Correct. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


And did you eventually make a determination to either Police Chief Smetana or Deputy Chief 


Mogensen that this dog may be a vicious animal? 


 


Michael Prange: 


 


Yes. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


And in the course of your investigation did you have an opportunity to look at whether the dog 


was licensed? 


 


 







Village Board Special Meeting 


June 12, 2013 


 


 


40 


Michael Prange: 


 


I did, and I learned that it was not. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


It was not licensed.  And can you tell us about the status of its vaccinations? 


 


Michael Prange: 


 


According to the veterinary hospital the shots were past due.  I believe the dog was due for shots 


in December of 2012. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


Thank you.  And I note in your report you indicate that Julian Hayden informed you that the dog 


also tried to attack other people in the past? 


 


Michael Prange: 


 


I believe the same child in the past.  It had gone after him before and actually jumped on him and 


hit the child in the nose with its front paw, and the child sustained a bloody nose from that at that 


time. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


Thank you.  I have no further questions for Officer Prange at this time. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Mr. Hayden, could you give us your name and address for the record so the recording knows who 


is speaking here. 


 


Victor Hayden, Sr.: 


 


Victor Hayden, Sr., 12137 Sheridan Road, Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Thank you. 


 


Victor Hayden, Sr.: 


 


Officer, when my son took Tyson out did he show any aggressiveness to you? 


 


 







Village Board Special Meeting 


June 12, 2013 


 


 


41 


Michael Prange: 


 


No, he did not.  I wasn’t near the dog when he was initially brought out of the house. 


 


Victor Hayden, Sr.: 


 


Did he show any aggression to the person that was the dog catcher, did he show any? 


 


Michael Prange: 


 


I believe it was your family that was able to coax the dog into the kennel.  Once the door of the 


kennel was shut then we approached but we let them -- 


 


Victor Hayden, Sr.: 


 


Did he bark at you, did he make any noise while he was going out? 


 


Michael Prange: 


 


He did not bark.  The demeanor that I witnessed he had his tail between his legs, his head down, 


and he had that kind of a cowering look that don’t come near me. 


 


Victor Hayden, Sr.: 


 


He didn’t show no viciousness? 


 


Michael Prange: 


 


Didn’t bark, didn’t growl but gave you an uneasy feeling. 


 


Victor Hayden, Sr.: 


 


These are my children, and I have two grand babies.  Tyson walks all around.  Kyle we didn’t 


know he was coming to the house.  His mother didn’t call, didn’t tell us that she was bringing 


Kyle.  And I don’t allow no visitors when me and my wife isn’t at home, no visitors.  That’s the 


rule, no visitors while we’re not at home. 


 


Jane Romanowski: 


 


Mr. Hayden, could you please speak into the microphone?  Thank you. 


 


Victor Hayden, Sr.: 


 


I’m sorry, I’m sorry.  There was an incident that Kyle came over, and the mother knew that we 


had a dog.  And I don’t understand why she didn’t phone, call my wife, she usually calls my wife.  


She didn’t do none of that and just brought the child over.  And my children don’t really open the 







Village Board Special Meeting 


June 12, 2013 


 


 


42 


door for strangers, but that’s his friend, that’s his best friend, so he opened the door.  Tyson is 


always in the house. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


Mr. President, I would ask if Mr. Hayden has specific questions for Officer Prange that he ask 


them.  He’ll have an opportunity to present his case after my evidence. 


 


Victor Hayden, Sr.: 


 


Pardon me?  I thought it was my floor. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


Sure, if you have questions for Officer Prange. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


This is your time to ask questions of the Officer.  He is the person on the stand.  In the end you 


will have a time to make your statement. 


 


Victor Hayden, Sr.: 


 


Pretty much I asked the questions.  I just showed that when Tyson went out with him that he 


didn’t show no viciousness. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Alright, is this a question for the Officer, or at the end you will have -- 


 


Victor Hayden, Sr.: 


 


He answered it already. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


-- afforded time to make a statement. 


 


Victor Hayden, Sr.: 


 


He already answered. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


This is your opportunity ask a question of the officer or cross-examine any testimony he has 


given. 







Village Board Special Meeting 


June 12, 2013 


 


 


43 


 


Victor Hayden, Sr.: 


 


Right, right, I’m fine.  No more questions. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Alright, thank you. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


The Village calls Police Chief Smetana. 


 


Jane Romanowski: 


 


Do you solemnly swear in the matter now in hearing to tell the truth so help you God? 


 


David Smetana: 


 


I do. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


Again, would you please state your full name and address for the record. 


 


David Smetana: 


 


David Bryan Smetana, 8600 Green Bay Road. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


And, Chief Smetana, you are the Police Chief for the Village of Pleasant Prairie. 


 


David Smetana: 


 


That’s correct. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


And in your capacity as Police Chief for the Village you have an obligation to enforce the 


ordinances of the Village, is that correct? 


 


David Smetana: 


 


That is correct. 


 







Village Board Special Meeting 


June 12, 2013 


 


 


44 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


And in your capacity as Police Chief have you had the opportunity to review the incident reports 


and other documents prepared by Officer Prange in this case? 


 


David Smetana: 


 


Yes, I have. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


And based upon your review of the documents you have made a determination that this 


bullmastiff is a vicious animal? 


 


David Smetana: 


 


That is correct. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


And I’m going to direct you to what has been marked as Exhibit Number 1 of our exhibit book.  


Can you identify Exhibit Number 1? 


 


David Smetana: 


 


That is a notification letter I sent to Mr. Victor Hayden on May 16th advising him that I had made 


a determination to have the dog labeled as vicious. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


And can you explain for the Board the reason behind your determination that this dog should be 


deemed a vicious animal? 


 


David Smetana: 


 


Certainly.  I looked at a number of factors.  As I’ve already said in other cases I don’t come 


across these decisions lightly.  When you’re taking away somebody’s pet and somebody’s 


property you need to make sure that you consider all the facts.  And that’s what I tried to do in 


this case.  I came to a number of conclusions.  In reviewing all the photos, all the reports, I 


determined that it was an unprovoked attack on a young child.  And I looked at the level of the 


injuries, and you can see from the photos the seriousness and the serious location of these injuries 


to the upper arms, there are vital arteries at that location, to the head, to the back, to the torso.  I 


looked at the fact that there are other children on the property and in the house.   


 


I looked at the fact that during the attack the dog made several bites.  It wasn’t just one bite and 


release and retreat.  There was a number of bites to the individual, and it took several people to 







Village Board Special Meeting 


June 12, 2013 


 


 


45 


wrestle this animal who had breached containment.  What I mean by breached containment was 


the child wasn’t in the animal’s house.  It was off on the porch.  The dog breached containment 


by coming through the front door and making that attack.  And it took several people to pull the 


dog off at that point.  I looked at the fact that the animal was not up to date on its shots which a 


responsible dog owner, as many of us are, keeps the dog up to date on their regular vaccinations. 


 


I looked at the fact that in speaking with Mr. Hayden that there was no rental insurance on the 


property.  So if something did happen with the animal that there was no coverage to help with 


that cost.  And those are the factors I looked at.  I also looked at the fact that we had cited the dog 


for dog at large and no license.  The dog was also not licensed through the Village.  So those are 


the factors that I took into consideration before I made the determination that I believe the dog to 


be vicious. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


And the determination that you made was that also motivated by safety and security concern for 


the community? 


 


David Smetana: 


 


That’s correct, yes it was. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


And are you concerned that due to the nature of this particular attack that there’s a possibility of 


this happening again? 


 


David Smetana: 


 


I am concerned.  When people have access to your front door, whether it’s a mail delivery person 


or somebody soliciting or just somebody coming up during the political season, they have access 


to your front door.  And you’ve got to be able to contain that animal entirely on your property, 


and that was one of my concerns. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


And as part of your investigation and the determination that you made you determined that the 


child did not in any way provoke or elicit the attack in any way. 


 


David Smetana: 


 


That was my determination from reading Officer Prange’s report, yes. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


No further questions for the Chief at this time. 







Village Board Special Meeting 


June 12, 2013 


 


 


46 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Mr. Hayden, any questions for the Chief? 


 


Victor Hayden, Sr.: 


 


Yes, I have quite a few.  The location where I live is it residential or is it commercial, what is it? 


 


David Smetana: 


 


I believe it’s mixed.  There’s a mix of residential and commercial in that whole area. 


 


Victor Hayden, Sr.: 


 


It’s mixed? 


 


David Smetana: 


 


Yes.  


 


Victor Hayden, Sr.: 


 


The closest house to my house is about how far? 


 


David Smetana: 


 


I don’t know. 


 


Victor Hayden, Sr.: 


 


There’s 71 acres in between me and the next yard.  It’s 35 acres from me to Buoy Storage.  You 


have that adult bookstore.  Down the street you have Ruffolo’s pizza.  How many break ins have 


there been around that area lately?  I know of three. 


 


David Smetana: 


 


Okay. 


 


Victor Hayden, Sr.: 


 


So it’s not really secure over where I am.  Pleasant Prairie officers don’t really patrol that area 


that tough.  I know because I patrol it.  Me and Tyson patrol it.  Matter of fact, yesterday, last 


night down at the Citgo there was a guy messing with Jeff, the teller there.  He was just standing 


out there hollering something, I don’t know, but I had three girls with me, and they were naughty.  







Village Board Special Meeting 


June 12, 2013 


 


 


47 


That’s why I have Tyson.  Tyson is there to protect my children.  Now as far as when he’s in the 


house there’s a cage for them for him.  Did you go inside the house? 


 


David Smetana: 


 


No. 


 


Victor Hayden, Sr.: 


 


There’s a cage in there.  Now, my son had just walked him and brought him in the house, and he 


was about to put him in his cage.  So there’s a cage, there’s a structured situation for Tyson.  


There’s a structured situation there.  I have a bunch of children, and I don’t want nothing around 


my children that’s vicious.  Now, I really feel that Tyson was protecting my son.  And that 


woman came over unannounced.  And you don’t know if that woman was provoking my dog.  


You don’t know that.  I don’t know it either.  But for some reason I got a funny feeling that 


woman provoked my dog and brought that baby to get some money.  I really do.  Me and my wife 


feel that way. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


Mr. President, I’m all for affording Mr. Hayden the latitude to ask questions, but I don’t think 


he’s asking any questions. 


 


Victor Hayden, Sr.: 


 


But this has been stressful on me and my children. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Alright, Mr. Hayden, direct your questions to the Chief.  Once again, at the end you will have 


your time to make your statement. 


 


Victor Hayden, Sr.: 


 


Yes sir, yes sir.  Did you look at the signs around the house? 


 


David Smetana: 


 


No. 


 


Victor Hayden, Sr.: 


 


There’s a sign out there stating that there’s a dog there, a guard dog.  Now, as far as the 


homeowner’s insurance you looked into that, right?  You asked me about that? 


 


 







Village Board Special Meeting 


June 12, 2013 


 


 


48 


David Smetana: 


 


Yes, I did. 


 


Victor Hayden, Sr.: 


 


The reason I don’t have homeowner’s insurance is because I didn’t know if I was going to stay 


here in Pleasant Prairie due to the plant closing.  I didn’t know if I was going to move, go to 


Detroit.  But me and the wife decided we going to stay here, and I took the job in Milwaukee, and 


we’re trying to get jobs back here.  So that’s the reason.  Now, since I’m staying here I’ll get 


some homeowner’s insurance. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Any further questions for the Chief? 


 


Victor Hayden, Sr.: 


 


No further questions, no further questions. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Thank you.  Further witnesses? 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


The Village has no further witnesses at this time, Mr. President. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Anybody you wish to call, sir? 


 


Victor Hayden, Sr.: 


 


You want to say something about Tyson?  Does anybody want to say something about Tyson? 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Okay, swear him in. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


Just say whatever you feel, how you feel about -- 


 


 


 







Village Board Special Meeting 


June 12, 2013 


 


 


49 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Okay, he’s acting as a witness. 


 


Michael Serpe: 


 


Would this be better as a public hearing? 


 


[Inaudible] 


 


Jane Romanowski: 


 


Okay, raise your right hand.  Do you solemnly swear in the matter of the hearing today that you’ll 


tell you the truth so help you God? 


 


Julian Hayden: 


 


Uh-huh. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Alright, state your name and address for the record. 


 


Julian Hayden: 


 


Julian Hayden, 12137 Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Thank you. 


 


Julian Hayden: 


 


I don’t think he’s a bad dog but he’s barely around other people.  So I don’t know why he 


attacked him, but I feel that I didn’t know why he was there at my house. 


 


Victor Hayden, Sr.: 


 


Was you happy to see your friend? 


 


Julian Hayden: 


 


Yeah. 


 


 


 







Village Board Special Meeting 


June 12, 2013 


 


 


50 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Mr. Hayden, you’re going to have to use the microphone also, otherwise we are not picking it up 


for the record. 


 


Victor Hayden, Sr.: 


 


Was you happy to see your friend? 


 


Julian Hayden: 


 


Yeah. 


 


Victor Hayden, Sr.: 


 


How do you feel about these pictures? 


 


Julian Hayden: 


 


Bad, and like it’s my fault. 


 


Victor Hayden, Sr.: 


 


You feel that it’s your fault? 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Mr. Hayden, once again please speak into the microphone, we can’t hear. 


 


Victor Hayden, Sr.: 


 


I’m sorry.  Do you feel that it’s your fault? 


 


Julian Hayden: 


 


Yeah. 


 


Victor Hayden, Sr.: 


 


It’s not, it’s not, okay?  It’s not your fault.  Okay. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Anything further, Mr. Hayden? 


 


 







Village Board Special Meeting 


June 12, 2013 


 


 


51 


Victor Hayden, Sr.: 


 


Nothing further.  I just want to say one thing. 


 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


This is the opportunity for Mr. Hayden to present your case. 


 


Victor Hayden, Sr.: 


 


Okay.  I feel bad, I really, really feel bad.  There’s been nights I can’t even sleep.  I can’t even 


sleep.  When I was at work and I got the phone call that Tyson had -- I just couldn’t -- that just 


blew me away.  I wasn’t ready for that one.  I was not ready for that one.  And both me and my 


wife ever since this incident has happened it’s really hurting us.  And I’ve had this dog ever since 


he was two weeks, and I’ve been working with him and I’ve been working with him, and I see a 


good dog in him.  I see a real good dog.  I see someone that’s going to -- I was looking at this dog 


to retire with.  And whatever it takes to make it right and to make it safe in this community I will 


do that.  I feel that he needs another chance.  I really do.  I feel that we both need another chance.  


That’s all I have. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Okay, thank you, sir. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


Mr. Hayden, I believe you testified that you patrol the neighborhood with this guard dog? 


 


Victor Hayden, Sr.: 


 


Yeah, I mean if I see this officer down, and you know me, I’m an ex-marine, I feel like I’m a first 


responder.  I mean there’s been situations that have been happening around the house that the 


police department will come to me. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


And you refer to the dog as a guard dog because it can be aggressive? 


 


Victor Hayden, Sr.: 


 


Well, I refer to him as a guard do because I mean if something was to happen towards me or my 


family I feel that he’s part of the family and he’s going to do whatever it takes to help one of us.  I 


mean do you have a dog? 


 


 







Village Board Special Meeting 


June 12, 2013 


 


 


52 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


I’m not here to answer your questions.  I’m going to ask you a question. 


 


Victor Hayden, Sr.: 


 


I mean anybody who has a dog if they got into a certain situation that dog is going to help that 


person. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


Sure.  Were you aware of the prior instances with your bullmastiff and the child, that instance? 


 


Victor Hayden, Sr.: 


 


When that happened I told -- I had a home meeting, and I told, you know, you cannot bring 


people around Tyson unless I’m around, new people, because Tyson is the type of dog that if 


you’re not introduced he’s going to think you’re a stranger.  That’s how they are.  If you’re not 


introduced he -- if you’re introduced it’s fine.  But if you’re not he’s looking at you, he’s 


watching you. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


So if there’s anyone that your dog does not recognize your dog would deem it a threat? 


 


Victor Hayden, Sr.: 


 


That’s a threat. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


And your dog would target it? 


 


Victor Hayden, Sr.: 


 


Not really, not really.  I mean if I’m walking my dog he’s not going to just up and bite anybody.  


I mean anybody in this room could rub on him.  But I mean if you go to call yourself going to 


hurt me and he sees aggressive towards me that’s like any dog.  I mean a police dog will protect 


his master. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


Mr. Hayden, you’ve had some prior instances with animals, haven’t you? 


 


 


 







Village Board Special Meeting 


June 12, 2013 


 


 


53 


Victor Hayden, Sr.: 


 


Yes, I have. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


And in September of 2008 you were charged with mistreating animals under the state statute, is 


that correct? 


 


Victor Hayden, Sr.: 


 


No, no.  I’m going to have to bring my wife in on this one because -- I’m going to have to bring 


her in on this one.  Because that dog that you’re talking about wasn’t my dog, it was her 


nephew’s dog that was stationed over in Iraq.  Okay.  He just had twin baby boys, two boys, and 


his wife couldn’t handle the two newborns and the Rottweiler.  So she asked me to watch the 


Rottweiler until he came back from Iraq.  I said okay.  I couldn’t control the dog.  The dog would 


tear up everything.  It got loose, and that’s when I got involved with Pleasant Prairie on that dog.  


That dog wasn’t even my dog.  I was doing a favor for a veteran over in Iraq fighting for our 


country, and I got caught up. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


I have no further questions for Mr. Hayden. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


With this I will close the public hearing and open it up to Board comment or question.  Mike? 


 


Michael Serpe: 


 


Mr. Hayden, has your dog ever showed aggression to the victim prior to this incident? 


 


Victor Hayden, Sr.: 


 


He showed aggressive -- 


 


Michael Serpe: 


 


Into the microphone. 


 


Victor Hayden, Sr.: 


 


I wasn’t there.  He came over to visit.  I’m at work.  My wife tells me Tyson scratched Kyle.  And 


I said why is someone new around Tyson?  So that’s when I had the -- that was the only time, and 


the same child, the same child. 


 







Village Board Special Meeting 


June 12, 2013 


 


 


54 


Michael Serpe: 


 


Has your dog ever showed any aggression to anybody else? 


 


Victor Hayden, Sr.: 


 


No. 


 


Michael Serpe: 


 


Never? 


 


Victor Hayden, Sr.: 


 


No. 


 


Michael Serpe: 


 


How old is it? 


 


Victor Hayden, Sr.: 


 


He’s going on two.  He’s not two yet.  And as far as those shots, I took him, and I was deemed to 


thinking he had a three year rabies shot.  So I’m thinking he’s up on his shots because they have a 


three year rabies shot, and when I took him in he got quite a few shots in one day.  So I’m 


thinking he’s up on his shots as far as the rabies, but he didn’t have one set of rabies shots. 


 


Michael Serpe: 


 


Mr. Hayden, how many times has the victim come over to your house in the past? 


 


Victor Hayden, Sr.: 


 


You’ll have to -- I’ve never seen the child over to our house.  You’ll have to ask my wife. 


 


Michael Serpe: 


 


If you would. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Please come forward and use the microphone right in the center here and give us your name and 


address for the record. 


 


 


 







Village Board Special Meeting 


June 12, 2013 


 


 


55 


Donna Hayden: 


 


Donna Hayden, 12137 Sheridan Road.  Kyle has never come to stay or visit at the house.  He’s 


only come when his mother brings Julian back, because Julian they will pick him up from school, 


or she will call me in advance and say I’m here, I beat the bus to your house, the bus is turning 


around, coming around, can we take Julian with us and I’ll bring him back tonight, and I’ll say 


okay.  This particular time no phone call, no text, no anything.  And I wasn’t even aware until she 


called me.  Why is she at my house?  And even Julian I said what was he doing here?  Because 


normally the boys will make plans and then they’ll tell us what they want to do.  And then either 


I’ll call her to confer or she’ll call me and we’ll try to work out our schedules.  And then it’s a 


plan for her to pick them up.  She’ll tell me I’ll get them after school or her mother will pick them 


up or whatever.  And that’s fine.  But she’s never brought Kyle to the house to drop him off.  


She’s brought Julian home and then they’ve dropped him off and that’s it.  But he’s only been I 


think maybe twice that he’s come to drop Julian off.  And him coming over unannounced this 


time was just a total surprise to me. 


 


Michael Serpe: 


 


Thank you. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


Before the Board makes its determination I did have an opportunity to provide a brief summation, 


and I would just ask for that opportunity before the Board is ready to make its final decision. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


We will do that.  Mr. Hayden, you stated you patrol the neighborhood with your dog.  Explain to 


me how you do that. 


 


Victor Hayden, Sr.: 


 


Well, Your Honor, when I come home my son, Jessie, works at Ruffolo’s Pizza, and I usually 


walk my dog up and down Sheridan Road [inaudible] and just patrol.  It’s like a neighborhood 


watch.  I know the neighbors.  I have a couple of elderly people, and I watch their homes.  It’s 


just like -- 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Is the dog on a leash? 


 


Victor Hayden, Sr.: 


 


Oh, yes.   


 


 







Village Board Special Meeting 


June 12, 2013 


 


 


56 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Because you stated you have 70 acres on one side, 35 acres on the other side and you have no 


neighbors.  That’s why -- 


 


Victor Hayden, Sr.: 


 


Sometimes I turn him loose and he likes to climb trees.  On  the right side of the home is a bunch 


of woods.  I mean I now when to turn Tyson loose and let him stretch.  I’ve been in that house 


over eight years. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Why isn’t the dog licensed? 


 


Victor Hayden, Sr.: 


 


I never knew that I had to license.  I never knew that.  And if I had to known I had to license him, 


I talked to the Police Chief, I didn’t know I had to have a license.  I thought the tag was enough. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Okay, thank you.  Any further questions or comments from Board members?  If not? 


 


Michael Serpe: 


 


Just one more comment.  I’m having difficulty with this one.  I think any dog is going to do what 


Tyson did if he’s going to protect his home.  I mean I’ve been around dogs long enough I’ve got 


bit a couple times.  And I don’t see this dog as vicious even though Kyle got bit pretty bad, but he 


was coming into a home unannounced, and a dog is going to do that.  I’m having a hard time with 


this.  Unless somebody could tell me why I should look at this differently I can’t see this as a 


vicious dog. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


I’m a little concerned the fact that there’s no control of the dog if, say, what if a Girl Scout came 


to the door selling cookies unannounced and somebody answered the door?  Reading the 


statement here you have somebody answering the door and I believe letting them into the porch 


and the dog attacking.  And the fact that you’re not always there to control the animal. 


 


Victor Hayden, Sr.: 


 


See, I have a 16 year old son there.  He took the dog out and brought the dog in, and he usually 


puts Tyson in his cage.  For some reason he didn’t put him in his cage.  Now, Julian isn’t allowed 


to open the door.  He’s still in elementary.  You don’t open the door.  You let Jesse open the door, 


someone.  But he was excited to see his friend and he opened the door.  And I don’t believe Julian 







Village Board Special Meeting 


June 12, 2013 


 


 


57 


will ever do that again.  I really don’t.  As far as Tyson he’s got a massive cage down in the 


basement.   


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Mr. Hayden with owning a dog like this, and I understand you’re stating it’s for protection of 


your family and everything else, with that comes responsibility. 


 


Victor Hayden, Sr.: 


 


Yes, sir. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


But unfortunately you haven’t demonstrated responsibility.  You have no shots for the dog that 


are up to date.  You have no license for the dog and you have no insurance.  Those are three big 


issues.  If you’re going to own an animal like this and have it in our community there are rules 


that you need to abide by.  And the fact that you’re disregarded all of those and you make a 


statement that you think it was a plot that they’re seeking money from you by doing this bothers 


me.  And it bothers me that someone, another innocent person, could be attacked by this dog 


because you’re not there to control it at all times.  And if that child had been killed what would 


your reaction be? 


 


Victor Hayden, Sr.: 


 


If the child had been killed? 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Would you still think it was a plot, or would you feel some responsibility for this? 


 


Victor Hayden, Sr.: 


 


I feel responsibility, Your Honor.  But I also feel that that woman was plotting.  That’s how I’m 


feeling. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Alright, than you very much.  You wanted to make a statement? 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


Thank you, Mr. President.  Viciousness simply means dangerously aggressive.  And I think we 


have seen testimony from Officer Prange and Police Chief Smetana that this dog has natural 


aggressive tendencies.  That is in a sense the nature of a guard dog, but this has gone so much 


farther.  Because what we have here is a young child that suffered not one bite, not two bites, but 







Village Board Special Meeting 


June 12, 2013 


 


 


58 


multiple lacerations, deep lacerations.  He lost a part of his arm, chunks of flesh.  This is not give 


the dog one bite, two bites, okay.  This is an attack. And had this dog not been wrestled from this 


child this child would be dead.  This is serious.   


 


And this is why the Police Chief has made this determination because he has a responsibility as 


the chief law enforcement for this community to make sure that this never, ever happens again.  


And I respect Mr. Hayden’s feelings.  Obviously he and his family care for their dog.  They feel 


that it provides some sense of security for them and I understand that.  The problem is in a 


situation like this if the dog doesn’t recognize you, you are the target of the dog.  And I don’t put 


that so much on the dog but I put it on the training and the responsibility of the dog owner to 


make sure that that doesn’t happen, and it happened.  And thank God this child is not dead 


because I am particularly disturbed by the images I see here. 


 


There is more than enough evidence to show that this dog is vicious, and there is a very good 


chance as indicated by Chief Smetana that this could happen again.  I’m also concerned about this 


sense of vigilantism that’s been expressed by Mr. Hayden where he walks his dog around the 


neighborhood to patrol.  Again, I have grave concerns.  And I just think that’s part of the puzzle 


or part of the piece that goes into the overall picture here of a dog that really does need to be 


licensed as vicious.  It needs to be properly maintained in accordance with the ordinance, or it 


needs to leave the Village.  Something like this simply cannot happen again.  And I would ask the 


Board to affirm the determination of the Police Chief of the Village that this animal is vicious, 


that it should either be licensed as such or it should be removed from the Village.  I thank the 


Board for its time this evening. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Further comment or question from Board members?  If not, a motion is in order.  I’ll so move to 


concur with the Chief’s determination.  I’m kind of puzzled by your outlook on the neighborhood 


and the need to, and I guess the word vigilantism kind of fits my definition in there, too, the fact 


that you feel it’s your responsibility to have an animal that’s capable of doing this to protect your 


family.  But also you’re concerned about the neighborhood.  And I think that’s why we have a 


Police Department is to protect the neighborhood.  And I’m not so sure that all your neighbors 


would probably agree with you in the fact that you’re actually performing a service for them.  It 


may fit within your own home, but when you take that outside your home then it becomes a risk 


to others. And that risk has been demonstrated by the photos I’m looking at here and the fact that 


this could have been much more serious.  So I will make a motion to concur with the Chief’s 


determination of a vicious dog. 


 


Victor Hayden, Sr.: 


 


Can I say something, Your Honor? 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


We’re still in the middle here.  Is there a second?  If not, motion dies for lack of a second.  Is 


there another motion? 







Village Board Special Meeting 


June 12, 2013 


 


 


59 


 


Michael Serpe: 


 


Is the motion to adjourn the proper motion. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


I’m not sure.  Mr. Counsel? 


 


Monica Yuhas: 


 


I would like to ask Mr. Hayden one question if that’s possible.  Is it out of -- 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


It’s still appropriate to do that now, yes. 


 


Monica Yuhas: 


 


Mr. Hayden, when you had the Rottweiler, how long was that Rottweiler in your care when your 


relative was overseas? 


 


Victor Hayden, Sr.: 


 


That Rottweiler was in my care for I want to say it wasn’t even two weeks.  I tried to keep the 


dog in the house.  It chewed up all the door knobs.  I tried to keep it in the garage, it chewed the 


door knob in the garage.  And then it just barked and barked and barked.  So I tried to put in in 


the kennel and it got out.  It just got out the kennel.  So I tried to put a chain around its neck out in 


the back yard, and it twisted and twisted and twisted and it got off.  And that’s when the dog 


catchers got it. 


 


Monica Yuhas: 


 


And that’s when it was turned over to the humane society? 


 


Victor Hayden, Sr.: 


 


Right, right.  I tried but I couldn’t. 


 


Monica Yuhas: 


 


And have you owned any other animals since the Rottweiler? 


 


 


 


 







Village Board Special Meeting 


June 12, 2013 


 


 


60 


 


Victor Hayden, Sr.: 


 


I had a Rottweiler that I brought back from Germany, and I had it for 13 years.  And that’s the 


reason  -- he was 13 years old, had no problem.  Had no problems.  But when this female rott 


came that’s when everything hit the fan. 


 


Monica Yuhas: 


 


Do you happen to get the Village newsletter on a monthly basis delivered to your home? 


 


Victor Hayden, Sr.: 


 


Yes, I’ve seen it. 


 


Monica Yuhas: 


 


Okay, and every year it lists in there about dog licensing and what the responsibility and the 


requirements are if you have a dog or a cat and you live in the Village.  And for me the hard part 


is that I see from 2008 there was this incident with the Rottweiler, and you did explain that.  Then 


I also look at these horrific pictures.  I have never seen pictures this horrific from a dog.  Being a 


dog owner and also being a parent I think of what if other children -- children are going to do 


things.  People do things that are unexplainable, unexpected.  And my responsibility, and this is 


what I’m struggling with, my responsibility is I was elected to do what’s in the best interest of 


this entire Village.  And my fear is, like President Steinbrink said, what if someone were to come 


up to your house and be selling something and, God forbid, that cage doesn’t get locked.   


 


And the one thing I want Julian to take away from this is it wasn’t your fault.  This had nothing to 


do with you.  You didn’t do anything wrong, and I hope you don’t feel that way.  And I know 


your friend was hurt.  The responsibility is on the owner and the dog.  And I keep going back to 


this 2008 and the lack of responsibility that was taken.  The shots weren’t up to date.  The 


licensing wasn’t done.  I look at these pictures.  We hire staff, we hired Chief Smetana back in 


January.  We hired him because we trust his judgment.  He has the experience, he has the 


knowledge, he’s been doing this for a long time. 


 


I also have to take into consideration what he is presenting to us because he’s had a lot more 


experience with this type of issue than the majority of us have ever had.  Since I’ve been on the 


Board this is only the third case that I’ve seen come before for a vicious dog.  And I don’t know 


how I can tell the residents that this isn’t going to happen again.  And when I look at his arm with 


pieces of meat missing or what if it happens to your children?  And you’re giving me every 


answer that you can to say it’s not going to happen, but we never thought it would get to this 


point.  And I -- 


 


Victor Hayden, Sr.: 


 


I can’t -- go ahead. 







Village Board Special Meeting 


June 12, 2013 


 


 


61 


 


Monica Yuhas: 


 


And I’m going to second President Steinbrink’s motion.  Then I’ll make the motion to declare 


this dog vicious based on the evidence presented. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


I will second that motion. 


 


Monica Yuhas: 


 


And I hope that you take into consideration all the verbiage, our opinions where we’re coming 


from.  No one up here wants to declare a dog vicious, but we have a responsibility to the 


taxpayers to protect their interests.  And that’s how I’m basing my decision so we have a motion 


and we have a second. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Any further discussion on the motion and the second? 


 


Steve Kumorkiewicz: 


 


Yes, I have a question for Mr. Hayden.  Thank you for the service you performed for the country.  


Also, I know that you’re talking about patrolling, I mean you’re familiar with that.  I was ex-


military same as Mike here.  This is one of the most difficult cases I ever got.  This is my fourth 


case that I’ve got here.  I understand your reasons.  But as Monica says we’re responsible to the 


residents for the decision that we make.  There’s no question that you didn’t comply with the laws 


that we have, the ordinance that we’ve got here in the Village concerning animals, dogs or cats.  


I’m concerned that I don’t know what you are going to do to get this animal straight which is 


pretty hard at this age.  Because you can train an animal the first year, the second year is pretty 


hard.  So as an animal lover I have a problem with the fact that where are you going to go from 


here?  What’s your idea, sir?  What are you going to do to avoid a the future an incident again?  


That’s where I’ve got a problem with that. 


 


Victor Hayden, Sr.: 


 


Well, I love my dog and I love my family.  And to get him right I’m just going to have to spend 


more and more time with him and do whatever it takes to be in compliance with the Village.  


Whatever it takes to be in compliance with the Village then that’s what I’m going to have to do. 


 


Steve Kumorkiewicz: 


 


Do you have fence around your house? 


 


 







Village Board Special Meeting 


June 12, 2013 


 


 


62 


 


Victor Hayden, Sr.: 


 


I have a partial fence.  I mean the house is -- it’s a partial fence.  I had a full kennel but the dog 


catcher when he took the Rottweiler destroyed it, so if I have to put another one up I will.  


Whatever it takes. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


I think the concern of the Board is obviously ensuring this never happens again.  This was a 


serious incident.  From the Village’s perspective the best way and I think the only way that this 


Board can assure itself that it will never happen again to either comply with the provisions in our 


ordinance for licensing of vicious animals, that contains provisions for proper containment, 


proper insurance, proper handling of the dog, those are all of the things that Mr. Hayden says he 


needs to work on.  Well, if he complies with the ordinance he’ll have an opportunity to do that.  


But I think the ordinance has to be our guide.  And I think if this Board licenses or affirms the 


Police Chief that it is vicious it will force Mr. Hayden to comply with that ordinance. 


 


And, again, we’re not asking the dog to be destroyed.  We’re simply asking that proper protective 


measures be taken by Mr. Hayden to prevent this very scary, very terrorizing incident from 


happening again.  And I think our ordinance, our Chapter 119 for the licensing of vicious animals 


encompasses all of those concerns that have been raised by Trustee Kumorkiewicz and Trustee 


Yuhas.  There are provisions for the proper handling, the containment of the dog and for proper 


liability insurance, all of the things that have been lacking which resulted in a very, very serious 


unfortunate situation.   


 


Again, I’m sensitive to Mr. Hayden’s concerns about his dog.  He says he wants to make the dog 


better.  I think the only way to do that realistically is to enforce the ordinance to affirm the Police 


Chief that this dog is vicious.  And if Mr. Hayden is serious about making those changes he’ll 


have an opportunity to do so by complying with the ordinance accordingly.  And that best 


protects the public, and I think that is really in the best interest of the community at large. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Thank you, and I think that was the intent of the motions here is concurrence with the Chief’s 


determination.  And then the onus falls upon Mr. Hayden to either make it right or have to do 


what it takes.  It’s some hard decisions on your part.  But for us the evidence says only one thing 


to me, and basically just looking at the pictures, listening to the testimony that’s what I base my 


decision on.  Mr. Serpe? 


 


Michael Serpe: 


 


What happened to that little boy is unfortunate.  I feel bad about that.  But if somebody were to 


enter Mr. Hayden’s house at two o’clock in the morning and that person didn’t live there and that 


dog attacked that intruder we’d be recognizing that dog for a job well done.  We wouldn’t be 


charging or trying to declare the dog a vicious animal because he did exactly what he was 







Village Board Special Meeting 


June 12, 2013 


 


 


63 


supposed to do to protect that property.  Unfortunately the dog can’t determine a person that 


doesn’t belong there at two o’clock in the morning and somebody coming to the front door who 


the dog doesn’t know either.  He’s looking at both of those people in the same way.  This person 


doesn’t belong here and this is my house.  That’s why I’m having a hard time with this.   


 


It isn’t that the dog was in the back yard jumping a fence going after somebody.  That didn’t 


happen.  And nothing against the Police Department.  God, they did their job, they had to do this 


and I understand it.  I’ve been there enough times before, I know what they’re going through.  


But I’m just looking at this case in particular.  There’s no history with this dog being an attack 


dog.  It’s the one incident on the little boy and he was severely hurt and that’s unfortunate.  But, 


again, if a person entered that house at two o’clock in the morning that dog would chewed the 


hell out of him and rightfully so.  That’s the only reason I’m having a hard time with this because 


the dog was doing what dogs are going to do.  They’re going to protect their property. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


I guess the question is would the dog be in the cage at two o’clock in the morning, and this wasn’t 


two o’clock in the morning, and the pictures demonstrate what happens to somebody that enters 


the house and it isn’t two in the morning.  And a dog can’t make that determination I guess.  


Mike? 


 


Mike Pollocoff: 


 


I understand where Trustee Serpe is coming from.  And I think what differentiates this from a 


situation where you look at a dog that was defending its home and something that I think 


everybody has a right to expect if they have a dog that they allow that dog to bark or do 


something when somebody comes in the home.  I think from the Village’s standpoint and how we 


base our judgment on these and as we look at weighing the liability to the Village for making sure 


that we make a proper consideration of the safety of the Village as it respects this dog, and I think 


the concerning parts are even if you were to say the young child shouldn’t have been there, every 


dog owner in this community has certain responsibilities whether the dog is vicious, whether the 


dog’s going to bite somebody, whether a dog is well behaved or unbehaved they have to be 


licensed, they have to have their shots.   


 


And people should have insurance so that even in the case when their dog does something that 


people are able to be made whole in that as a result of that.  And that to me appears to be the most 


mitigating factor in this is that everything leading up to the fact that this dog took this action or 


the dog bit somebody Mr. Hayden hadn’t met his requirements.  And I think the fact that he 


hadn’t met his requirements and said he didn’t know or he thought he was insured or he thought 


he was going to be leaving or whatever, if you’re going to house an animal that you’re relying on 


guarding your house and will attack somebody, I think it’s only prudent that all those tests be 


followed in order to have that.  I think if that had been the case here, I mean maybe it makes a 


little more sense that Mr. Hayden is responsibly acting, he’s got this dog licensed, he’s got this 


dog licensed, he’s got his shots, he’s insured, if somebody comes in his house something like that 


is going to happen.  But I think in this case he’s admitted that hasn’t happened, and I don’t 


believe his reasons for this things not having happened are reliable. 







Village Board Special Meeting 


June 12, 2013 


 


 


64 


 


The Village has previous experience with the dog that was there before.  The Village ended up 


having to pay $4,800 in storage bills for the dog because nobody assumed the responsibility for 


the upkeep of that dog.  So I think to take the totality of this that’s my concern is that had Mr. 


Hayden acted responsibly and met his obligations along the way maybe there is that room for 


justification.  But I think given the seriousness of the bites and I think what led up to that or what 


Mr. Hayden didn’t do, our responsibility for public safety I don’t think he’s helped his case in 


that.  I think if, in fact, the Board decides to determine the animal is vicious, that gives him 


another window of opportunity to do those things.  Granted, it’s going to be some tough decisions 


and it’s going to be a hard climb, but everything he says he wants to do under the vicious animal 


ordinance he would have the opportunity to do those things that he should have been doing 


before. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


We have a motion and a second.  There’s no further discussion?  Call the roll. 


 


 YUHAS MOVED TO CONCUR WITH POLICE CHIEF DAVE SMETANA’S 


DETERMINATION THAT THE DOG “TYSON” OWNED BY VICTOR HAYDEN SR. IS A 


VICIOUS ANIMAL; SECONDED BY STEINBRINK; ROLL CALL VOTE – STEINBRINK – 


AYE’ YUHAS – AYE; KUMORKIEWICZ – AYE; SERPE – NAY; MOTION CARRIED 3-1 


WITH SERPE DISSENTING. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


That concludes Item B. 


 


4. ADJOURNMENT 
 


 YUHAS MOVED TO ADJOURN THE MEETING; SECONDED BY KUMORKIEWICZ; 


MOTION CARRIED 4-0 AND MEETING ADJOURNED AT 7:45 P.M. 







VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE 


PLEASANT PRAIRIE VILLAGE BOARD 


PLEASANT PRAIRIE WATER UTILITY 


PLEASANT PRAIRIE SEWER UTILITY 


9915 - 39th Avenue 


Pleasant Prairie, WI   


July 15, 2013 


6:00 p.m. 
 


 A regular meeting of the Pleasant Prairie Village Board was held on Monday, July 15, 2013.  


Meeting called to order at 6:00 p.m.  Present were Village Board members John Steinbrink, Monica 


Yuhas, Steve Kumorkiewicz, Clyde Allen and Mike Serpe.  Also present were Michael Pollocoff, Village 


Administrator; Tom Shircel, Assistant Administrator; Jean Werbie-Harris, Community Development 


Director; Kathy Goessl, Finance Director; Dave Smetana, Police Chief; Doug McElmury; Fire & Rescue 


Chief; Mike Spence, Village Engineer; John Steinbrink Jr., Public Works Director; Carol Willke, HR and 


Recreation Director and Jane M. Romanowski, Village Clerk.   


 


1. CALL TO ORDER 


 


2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 


 


3. ROLL CALL 
 


4. PRESENTATION OF A DONATION BY THE KENOSHA NOON OPTIMIST CLUB TO 


THE THERAPEUTIC RECREATION PROGRAM. 
 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Good evening, Dennis. 


 


Dennis DuChene: 


 


Good evening.  Dennis DuChene, 8710 36th Avenue, Kenosha, Wisconsin.  I’m here tonight as 


President of the Kenosha Area Noon Optimist Club.  And we would like to make a donation to 


the Discovery Program.  We’ve been involved with the program for a few years now as the 


Optimist Club.  Bring Santa Claus there over the holiday season to visit with the kids.  Some of 


our members enjoy working with the kids.  This year the donation is going to be used for the kids 


to go to an outing to the Brewer’s Game, State Fair and I believe the Milwaukee County Zoo.  So 


at this time I’d like to present Erin with a check from the Kenosha Area Noon Optimist Club for 


$1,000 to help offset some of the great programming she does. 


 


Erin Winch: 


 


I’m Erin Winch, Director of the Therapeutic Recreation Program.  And I just wanted to thank 


Dennis and the Kenosha Noon Optimist Club.  Without their support there is no way that we 


would be able to take our 50 or 60 clients with disabilities into the community and get the support 


that we do and do these great outings and adventure.  So we just want to say thank you. 


 


 







Village Board Meeting 


July 15, 2013 


 


 


2 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Thank you, and thank you, Dennis. 


 


5. PUBLIC HEARING 


 


 A. Consider authorizing construction of final paving improvements in the Whispering 


Knoll Subdivision and Final Resolution #13-15 levying special assessments for said 


project. 
 


Mike Pollocoff: 


 


Mr. President, tonight this resolution comes to us by virtue of a notice of intent that the resolution 


that the Village adopted last year.  And this is an unusual resolution in the work that’s being 


considered, part of it is unusual.  But it is within the guidelines set forth by statutes in order to pay 


for public improvements.  The Whispering Knoll subdivision is a 40 lot subdivision.  It began 


development in 2005.  They had not substantially completed the development when the real estate 


market collapsed in 2007-2008.  And subsequently this development has kind of limped along 


until where we’re at today. 


 


In Pleasant Prairie when new subdivisions are approved and they’re platted and we reach a 


developer’s agreement for the developer to do the improvements for that subdivision, the Village 


is accomplishing a number of things.  One is that the ordinances anticipate that if development 


meets the standards of the Village and it’s constructed by those standards and it meets the zoning 


requirements, the land division requirements, it goes through the public hearing process, and if 


it’s a good development it should be able to proceed.  But the Village ordinances also require that 


residential development cannot be subsidized by the existing tax base of the Village.  Every 


taxpayer at some point, and it might have been a long time ago, paid someone to improve their 


parcel, whether it was a farmer that decided to subdivide the land in some of the really old areas 


or early developers. 


 


As a Town the previous Town Boards, this is dating back to the ‘50s and ‘60s had agreed to do 


public improvements for developers where the Town would assess people who bought lots the 


cost of paving or sewer or water.  And at that time what was happening is the Town was accruing 


a lot of debt in order to do that.  At the time we incorporated as a Village and we were no longer 


under Kenosha County zoning and development, the Village made the conscious decision that 


development should only pay its own way, that tax paying residents of the Village should be 


expected to pay for their improvements when they’re initially constructed but no one else’s. 


 


In the case of roads, sewer and water, once an improvement has been constructed to the Village 


specifications, and this has been true since 1990, once its been constructed to Village 


specifications and it’s been formally accepted by the Village of Pleasant Prairie, then that 


improvement becomes the Village’s responsibility to maintain and replace, repair, modify, 


whatever it takes to make sure that those improvements are working.  In the case of water lines 


those costs are borne by the rate payers who pay water bills.  In case of sanitary sewer lines it’s 


borne by the sewer utility.  In the case of storm water lines that’s being borne by the clean water 







Village Board Meeting 


July 15, 2013 


 


 


3 


utility.  In the case of roads, streets and curbs and gutters and signals if that’s involved that’s 


borne by the general property tax of the Village. 


 


Each year the Village allocates a specific amount of money, and right now it’s about $650,000 a 


year, and with that money we go by and we resurface or recondition or replace roads depending 


what it is across the entire Village.  Now we don’t do the whole Village with that small amount of 


money, but the Village’s commitment is once we’ve accepted an improvement that’s been built to 


our standards then we will maintain that road in perpetuity, and we won’t go back with that future 


maintenance cost go back and assess the people for what they initially paid for when they bought 


the property or the predecessors in that property had paid for.  So once somebody has a road they 


have a road, and they shouldn’t be anticipating that they’re going to get a special assessment to 


pay for future maintenance or any work that’s done to that road. 


 


In the case of this subdivision and in my experience in my time here we’ve had two, and this 


would be the second one since 1990 where the real estate market had gotten the best of a 


developer and they were unable to complete their improvements.  The first one was in the 


Meadowdale Subdivision which is right down the road here off of 39th.  And in that area there 


was lots that had been divided, the plat had been created, the underground improvements had 


been put in.  And I believe there was four houses our of I think it was possibly 25 lots that had 


actually been sold and homes had been built.  There they didn’t have their first year 


improvements which is the binder course of asphalt and the curb and gutter.  So for about three 


years they were driving in gravel to get to their homes. 


 


In that area it was apparent the subdivider had folded up.  The bank wasn’t making any effort to 


make payments.  The banks were in transition.  One bank had been shut down by the FDIC, and 


the second bank was taking over.  In order to remedy that situation the Village evaluated where 


the roads were at that point, and in that subdivision we determined that given the fact that there 


were so few homes built yet, and our homes typically require 75 percent of the homes be built 


before the final course of asphalt is in, the Village decided that the best way to proceed in that 


subdivision was to put in a concrete road and curb and gutter and assess the cost of that concrete 


in order to, one, hold with our ordinance that says the Village taxpayers won’t pay for 


improvements, but it ensured that the road would get built.  And as the houses were built into that 


subdivision over time they wouldn’t damage the road. 


 


Meadowdale is an area where the houses are very large.  They’re extremely large houses, and 


when a new subdivision is being built out, anybody that’s lived in a new subdivision or watched it 


you have cement trucks, you have trucks hauling in blocks for foundation, you have sand and 


gravel trucks, you have trucks hauling in trusses, the drywall.  It’s a lot of heavy loads, and it’s 


typically more than what a street is designed to handle which is why in the case of the Whispering 


Knoll Subdivision we allowed the developer to put in the base course of asphalt which we know 


will degregate and break down at some point.  You really can’t say where.   


 


They put in as much gravel as they’re going to need for finish, but only about two and a half 


inches or two inches of the base course goes in, and then the curbs are put in to just establish a 


boundary for the people in their property where to build to.  And we modified the curb inlets so 


that water can drain into the storm sewer.  It’s not an ideal situation but it’s one way that the 







Village Board Meeting 


July 15, 2013 


 


 


4 


Village had done previously to keep the development cost manageable for a developer, for the 


people who are going to buy those homes eventually and allow the construction to beat up the 


road.  And then when the final course of asphalt is put in all the areas that have failed we go back 


and repair those areas.   


 


Any underground improvements that have failed subsequently because that will happen during 


that period, too, whether it’s storm or sewer or water laterals, water mains, sewer mains, whatever 


the problem is those are all repaired and fixed.  Because once we put that final course of asphalt 


down we don’t want to patch it again.  We don’t want to be in there digging it up.  I mean 


something could happen where a water main will burst or a valve will break and that just 


happens.  But typically not with new infrastructure.  But we want the people there to be able to at 


least for 20 to 25 years have a nice clean ride-able road.  And then the Village taxpayers as we go 


forward and go to maintain that road we’re maintaining something that’s more sustainable than 


something that was just slapped together. 


 


We have had ongoing discussions with Mr. Barcelona, the developer of this subdivision, about 


the need to do two things.  One is that the letter of credit from the date of 2005 we felt was not 


sufficient to complete the project as it needed to be completed.  And as time goes on this project 


gets more and more expensive.  The improvement here is primarily a petroleum based 


improvement.  The price of oil goes up, the price of asphalt goes up, the price of what it takes to 


get asphalt trucks in here to deliver the materials because it’s incrementally increasing.  And the 


problem that Pleasant Prairie faces is the problem that the State of Wisconsin faces.  Everyone is 


dealing with increasing road construction and maintenance cost.  And we could see that we’re 


coming to a point of no return on this where, one, the base was degregating significantly.  We 


could have a situation which we’ve had in some situations where they had to rip out the entire 


road, put in a brand new base course and put in the final topping.  This one has not gotten to that 


point yet but we’ve got some significant failures. 


 


We’ve had a series of correspondence and meetings with the developer who had indicated he felt 


the project could be done for a bid price that was older.  Our review of the quantities we didn’t 


feel that the Village could be guaranteed or the people that lived out there to get the product that 


they had planned on securing when they bought their lots.  But nonetheless we gave them the 


opportunity to go ahead -- if they had a bid price on it and a contract to go ahead and do it last 


year, and that didn’t come to fruition. 


 


I have to say that our discussions with Mr. Barcelona, the developer, were from my perspective, 


from the staff perspective were less than straightforward.  And as we look back I think he was 


stretching the project out, the process out, in hopes of doing two things.  One is hoping the bank 


would accommodate his demands, and secondly being able to sell more lots.  We had adopted 


that initial resolution last year, and I think it was the developer’s hope that we’d be in a situation 


where his cost for improvements would be spread across the remaining property owners and he 


wouldn’t have to pay for it.  It would be one less thing that he wouldn’t have to deal with as he 


disposed of or ended his agreement with the bank.  The bank was looking to minimize their 


exposure to this as well. 


 







Village Board Meeting 


July 15, 2013 


 


 


5 


We came to September or October of last year, and typically you can’t for an asphalt road -- if 


you were going to pave right at the beginning of October you’d be okay.  But a subdivision like 


this where you have to come back and regrade the road, dig out the bad spots, we had some 


underground improvements that needed to be repaired, there was a substantial amount of work 


that needed to take place and get that squared away before asphalting could take place.  So we 


wanted them to get started early.  Because if you start that work in October by the time you get 


done with it in some of this stuff you don’t know what you’re going to be dealing with until you 


dig it up and expose it, you could be paving in November.  And if it’s cold, if it’s wet, you’re not 


going to get a good product.  And then we’ll be sitting in a worse case scenario where you’ve got 


patches and open gravel in places, and we don’t want that to happen. 


 


So I filed a formal breach of the development agreement with Mr. Barcelona at the beginning of 


this year.  We worked to give him the opportunity to plan to get this work take place and it didn’t.  


Simultaneously the real estate market began to pick up somewhat.  I mean it’s not what it was, I 


don’t know that it will ever be like it was before, but there was movement of lots in this 


subdivision.  And from the Village’s standpoint to allow the developer to proceed to sell lots 


knowing that he doesn’t have sufficient funds to complete the project and then have another 


person occupy a parcel, build a house on it without having -- knowing that he doesn’t have the 


funds to complete it wasn’t acceptable. 


 


We had moved in our breach notice to secure $277,000 that was still in the letter of credit with 


the bank, so the Village took possession of that money so we’d have some certain funds to be 


able to carry on these improvements with.  At that point as we moved on it became more than 


obvious that they were starting to sell lots at a greater clip.  At that time we contacted counsel to 


find a way to bring some kind of closure or stop on this so we could stop the sale of lots.  We had 


no guarantee that the proceeds from those sales would come back in the developer’s hands and be 


able to provides funds sufficient to meet the developer’s requirements rather than have that fall 


back on existing property owners.  So with that I’ll introduce Village Counsel Tom Camilli.  He 


then took steps to on the Village’s behalf to freeze those lots and put us in the best position we 


could get in to stop the developer from escaping from this project.  Tom, if you want to describe 


what you did and a gap that I had feel free to jump in there, too. 


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


Thank you, Mr. Pollocoff.  Mr. President and members of the Board, for the record my name is 


Thomas Camilli, Jr.  I’m an attorney with the firm of Godin, Geraghty, Puntillo, Camilli in 


Kenosha, 6301 Green Bay Road.  As Administrator Pollocoff indicated my firm was engaged 


earlier this year as counsel on behalf of the Village of Pleasant Prairie with regard to this 


particular matter.  Particularly my firm was asked to take certain action against Whispering Knoll, 


LLC and its developer John Barcelona with regard to the fact that the remaining letter of credit 


funds on deposit were insufficient to allow the full and complete construction of the public 


improvements.   


 


My office in conjunction with Village officials sent out numerous notices and numerous demand 


letters to Mr. Barcelona.  And, again, Whispering Knoll, LLC is, of course, the developer of the 


Whispering Knoll Subdivision and is currently the owner of the 13 unsold lots remaining at the 







Village Board Meeting 


July 15, 2013 


 


 


6 


subdivision.  The Village engaged my firm to take whatever action it could under the law to try 


and secure the necessary funds needed to complete the public improvements.  Ultimately 


Whispering Knoll, LLC as the developer of this subdivision is responsible for the cost of the 


infrastructure for the installation of the roads and for all of the public improvements.   


 


Now the problem was, as indicated, time went on and Whispering Knoll and Mr. Barcelona were 


not putting up the necessary funds or additional funds that were determined necessary to complete 


all of these public improvements.  So my firm sent out numerous letters, demand letters to Mr. 


Barcelona requesting either additional cash or an additional letter of credit to give security to the 


Village that the funds would be available to complete the public improvements.  Unfortunately 


despite numerous requests on behalf of my office and also on behalf of the Village there was no 


response. 


 


We subsequently became aware that there were efforts by Whispering Knoll to quickly sell the 


remaining 13 lots without any guarantee of any of those proceeds being paid to the Village to 


complete the public improvements.  At that point my firm filed a summons and complaint on 


April 5, 2013 in the Kenosha County Circuit Court alleging breach of the development agreement 


between the Village of Pleasant Prairie and Whispering Knoll, LLC.  And in that lawsuit filed in 


circuit court the Village alleged that Whispering Knoll breached the agreement by failing to 


provide additional cash or an additional letter of credit in favor of the Village to complete the 


remaining public improvements. 


 


In addition to filing the complaint in circuit court we also filed a motion requesting what’s known 


as a prejudgment writ of attachment.  A prejudgment writ of attachment is a rather rare 


provisional remedy that allows a plaintiff to obtain a judgment upon certain property of 


Whispering Knoll prior to the time of judgment.  And the Village was successful in obtaining a 


prejudgment writ of attachment from the court which resulted in liens being placed on the 13 


unsold lots in the amount of the Village’s demand.  And the Village’s demand was in excess of 


$146,000 which was approximately the amount determined necessary to complete the public 


improvements.  The court issued a writ of attachment on April 12, 2013, and the Village of 


Pleasant Prairie then obtained liens upon those 13 lots.   


 


Additionally, the Village continued its action against Whispering Knoll and moved for a default 


money judgment.  Whispering Knoll never appeared in the action and a judgment was entered 


against Whispering Knoll by the Kenosha County Circuit Court on May 16th of this year.  And a 


judgment was entered in favor of the Village and against Whispering Knoll in excess of 


$146,000.  And the Village’s judgment lien remains upon those 13 lots.  It was our hope and the 


Village’s desire to obtain the necessary funds to complete the public improvements from these 


remaining lots or from the sales of these lots which are owned by Whispering Knoll.   


 


Naturally I don’t think the Village takes this measure very lightly to have to consider special 


assessing all of the residents of Whispering Knoll.  And I can say that the Village has taken every 


legal action it could to try and avoid this resolved.  And, in fact, some of the action that was taken 


in court was very unusual and in some respects very uncommon to try and exercise the Village’s 


rights to the greatest degree permissible by law and to protect the taxpayers, and that has been 


done.  We have a judgment against Whispering Knoll, and we have judgment liens upon all of 







Village Board Meeting 


July 15, 2013 


 


 


7 


those lots.  Unfortunately, as the Board may know, a judgment does not necessary equate to 


immediate payment by Whispering Knoll.  So even though Whispering Knoll is obligated per 


court judgment to pay those additional amounts to the Village it has not done so.   


 


What has also happened is in the interim the bank which holds the mortgage upon those 13 lots 


has begun foreclosure proceedings to recover those lots.  Old Plank Trail Community Bank which 


is the holder of the mortgage upon those properties has commenced with foreclosure, and a 


judgment of foreclosure was previously entered in favor of the bank.  Practically what that means 


is when Old Plank Trail Community Bank completes its foreclosure upon those lots it will 


recover title to those 13 lots, and the judgment lien and the lien of attachment that the Village had 


will be extinguished simply by operation of Wisconsin law.  Because the mortgage of the bank is 


superior and prior to the lien of the Village by law the Village’s lien gets extinguished, and that’s 


pursuant to State law. 


 


We have also appeared in that foreclosure action.  We have filed what’s called a demand for 


surplus which means that in the event that any surplus funds remain after these 13 lots are sold at 


Sheriff Sale the Village has a right to collect upon those proceeds as a subordinate lien holder.  


However, at this point the Village in my estimation has done what it can to advance the rights of 


the Village to hold Whispering Knoll responsible for what is a breach of the agreement and to 


attempt to collect the necessary funds from Whispering Knoll.  And unfortunately that simply has 


not happened.  And the Village is in a position now where it needs to go forward to complete 


those public improvements, and it needs the necessary funds to do so. 


 


So while we have done and continue to do what can be done from a legal perspective, the funds 


still need to be acquired by the Village to complete those improvements.  So that’s where we are 


litigation wise at this point.  I’m certainly happy to respond to any questions of the Board or any 


other comments that may be entered later. 


 


Mike Pollocoff: 


 


Thanks, Tom.  That’s a very description of where we were.  The other thing that occurred while 


Tom has filed and gotten the liens placed on the lots or was in the process, the bank filed an 


injunction to stop us from being able to do it.   


 


Thomas Camilli: 


 


That’s an excellent point.  And I think it goes -- I think it further shows the efforts that the Village 


has done to try and advance its interests during the course of our litigation against Whispering 


Knoll.  The bank attempted to intervene in our lawsuit against Whispering Knoll.  And Old Plank 


Trail Community Bank and its lawyers filed certain documents with the court requesting the court 


to, in essence, quash the liens that the Village obtained on these lots.  And the Village was 


successful in defeating that motion.  The judge determined that Old Plank Trail Community Bank 


had no right to request the quashing of the Village’s liens, and we were successful.  Unfortunately 


what has happened, and as is the right of the bank to do, it’s simply foreclosing its mortgages at 


this point.  And what’s going to happen at the end is it’s going to be able to extinguish the 


Village’s liens through that foreclosure process. 







Village Board Meeting 


July 15, 2013 


 


 


8 


 


Mike Pollocoff: 


 


As Tom advised us there was a chance that that was going to occur.  Our action wouldn’t be able 


to stop them from foreclosing on it.  But I think it was telling in the discussion in court the 


attorneys for Old Plank Town Bank indicated that they knew that there was expenses out there, 


they knew that the Village wasn’t whole and neither were the homeowners.  But they had 


indicated in open court that they felt that was something that the Village taxpayers should pay for 


rather than themselves.  The judge didn’t agree with that, and I think it helped him formulate his 


opinion, and he agreed with Attorney Camilli’s findings.  But that’s kind of where we’re at. 


 


The bank other than that one attempt they made to quash our legal efforts is to minimize their 


exposure, and anything that can be put off to the Village taxpayers is going to decrease their loss.  


We don’t know what the exact loss or where they are with their foreclosure.  So we’re at the point 


where we need to in order to get this thing built this year and have some certainty on the fixed 


cost is to get this done.  And Mike Spence is going to describe the project in detail. 


 


But before he starts that there’s just a couple of overall concepts that I’m recommending to the 


Board that we follow in this process.  The hearing, of course, will be taking place tonight.  And 


there’s no question that there is some groundswell of legal challenges that the property owners 


might be undertaking.  The Village is still going to do everything we can to exercise our rights.  


But in a special assessment in the State of Wisconsin it’s for a public improvement for benefitting 


properties.  So we can only assess the people who will benefit from that improvement. 


 


In this case there’s two of them really.  There’s the road completion and the repairs it takes so that 


road can be completed, and at that point we’ll accept the road.  And that assessment is being 


based on a per parcel basis.  If your lot is 60 feet wide or your lot is a cul-de-sac that’s 40 feet 


wide or it’s a corner lot that’s 200 feet wide in essence you’ve got a road.  Your best benefit to 


that road is you have access to your property.  We don’t limit where people can park where you 


can only park in front of your parcel.  Everybody has access to the road.  So for a street 


assessment that benefit is defined on a unit basis.  The second assessment is for trees.  In that case 


it’s a unit cost.  If you have five trees in front of your property those will be your five trees.  If 


you get one tree you have one tree, and that’s based on how many you have there. 


 


But at the end of the day we have hard numbers for the bid.  We’re performing this special 


assessment based with hard numbers on what a contractor has given us for what he thinks is 


going to be done.  Now there is contingency in there, and there’s some allowable amounts based 


on when a contractor is exposing failures how much work they’re going to do.  Any assessment 


that the Village levies when it comes time to collect the money the only thing that we collect is 


what we spend.  So if we don’t spend $378,000 and we spend $350,000 we’re going to bill for 


$350,000.  If there’s through any kind of settlement or a negotiation or the bank comes back and 


says, Pleasant Prairie, we feel really bad about what we’re doing, what’s happened here, we’ll 


give you some lots to sell and then you can use the proceeds of those lot sales to buttress the cost.  


Then we would take those sale proceeds, put them against the assessment cost, then whatever that 


number is would be the new assessment number. 


 







Village Board Meeting 


July 15, 2013 


 


 


9 


If some developers were to purchase the remaining lots and develop them and we could leverage 


and negotiate some additional funds from that sale or transaction to be able to reduce the 


assessment we’ll do that.  The problem is that some of those things construction will know what 


our savings are as the project evolves.  If we have additional -- we haven’t had any negotiations 


with the bank, they haven’t negotiated with us at all.  But we’re going to reach out and try to get 


that to happen.  If they do, if we could secure either a lot or some payment or whatever, then 


we’ll apply that to the special assessment.  If some other developer wants to acquire those lots 


and they’re able to put the bank in a position where they have more money to be able to deal with 


this and that money is made available to the Village we’ll apply that to the special assessment. 


 


So we know that tonight the final number which is $378,000 and change is the top.  If for some 


reason we had to do more, we had to spend more, we would send everybody a notice and reopen 


a public hearing and say for whatever reasons we couldn’t get it done and we need more money.  


In my 28 plus years here I think we’ve had to do that twice, and it was projects that had a lot 


more uncertainty than this does.  This has some uncertainty, but as a public works project it 


doesn’t have a lot of uncertainty.  It just has a little bit.  So in Mike’s estimates as verified by the 


hard bids that were on there we’ve got a pretty good handle on what it’s going to take to get this 


thing done.  So we’re anticipating we’re going to come in under budget.   


 


Are we going to be off by $100,000?  No because those numbers are generally right.  If we can 


remove some of the uncertainty as far as underground work, if we have a really good contractor, 


and Payne and Dolan is the road builder in the State, they know how to build roads, we’re not 


going to be out there fighting with them about how they have to do it, so our inspection time 


should be minimal.  I mean things are going to line up that are going to help with the cost of this 


project.  It’s not going to take away everybody’s assessment. 


 


But in order to allow some time for this thing to get done and then make available any 


opportunity we can to bring more money into the project, the final resolution that the Board will 


be considering, Resolution 13-15 for the final determination of assessments, I’m recommending 


that the effective date be left open until October 1, 2014.  And what that will mean is that by that 


time that gives us the better part of a year to allow some of these actions to kind of work their 


way through the system, see what we have.  If we don’t get anything with respect to more money 


everybody will know it and they’ll be able to plan ahead for that expense.  In October we would 


be asking the people who have this assessment if in the worse case scenario the assessment is the 


$3,747 per lot for the paving, if they want to pay that all off with no interest come October 1st of 


next year they could do that.  Or they could pay it off over a ten year period starting with their 


first payment in 2015, and it would be 10 percent of the principle, and the interest would be what 


the interest rate is now.   


 


There’s some legislation that was passed this year that modifies that.  So we’ll be taking a look at 


what bonds are at that point in time, and that will be the interest rate.  Bonds today are between 


three and a half and four percent.  I have no idea where it will be at that point.  But they’re 


probably less than nine which is what we were charging.  So that’s how this -- we wanted to be 


able to provide some room for both the Village and the residents there to examine their options 


while we get this thing built and get our costs fixed on this project so we know what we’ve got to 


do.  And the Village assume the maintenance of this subdivision’s road and improvements this 







Village Board Meeting 


July 15, 2013 


 


 


10 


fall.  Get that behind us because as we wait this gets more and more expensive as time goes on for 


the cost of the materials and for the degregation of the base course of asphalt there. 


 


The subdivision is almost virtually at the 75 percent, close to 75 percent fill rate, so I think we 


can withstand the rest of the improvement that’s going to take place on that road.  Because I think 


there will be some other things evolving out of here.  And it just gives everybody more time to 


work their options.  If they want to sue us it gives them time to sue us.  The provisions of the 


special assessment is you have 90 days from the date that the resolution becomes effective to 


bring an action in circuit court to overturn the special assessment.  It’s really not overturning it.  


You could have the court determine whether or not the basis that we made this determination of 


special assessment and how those assessments were levied could be reviewed and the assessment 


method might be modified, but not the fact that the assessment took place.  So that would be their 


final option if they really felt that the Village had erred on this and that the taxpayers should pay 


for it. 


 


So that’s kind of the long view of where we go, and I think that it gives us some time to do that 


because there are some things that are legally not completed but hanging.  And I think my counsel 


for the Board or my advice is to stop the special assessment and not award a contract for getting 


this done is just going to increase the price of the project.  And if we end up in the same place a 


year from now where the Village still has to get this thing paid for and we end up with a special 


assessment it’s just going to be more.  I was taking a look, I think this project has probably grown 


by $40,000 in a year, and we are doing probably more rehabilitation work on the concrete, but the 


price of asphalt is going up. 


 


So before we open up the public hearing, and at the public hearing anything we talk about if 


people want to come up to comment or ask questions we’ll be available.  Before we do that I’d 


like our Village Engineering go through the special assessment, the scope of the project and 


what’s involved in it and how he arrived at the determination of how the assessments are going to 


be levied and distributed as far as the proportion of them. 


 


Mike Spence: 


 


Thank you, Mr. Pollocoff.  I have a number of slides here.  Some of the slides the issues have 


been discussed and I’ll go over them briefly.  But what I plan on doing is giving a little additional 


background on how our infrastructure projects in the Village proceed and then also an indication 


of what work needs to be done and what we’ve done to assess the costs. 


 


The Village, as was indicated previously, entered into an agreement with the developer back on 


March 22, 2005.  Generally in the Village for a subdivision the public improvements are to be 


constructed in three phases, and that’s to allow for settlement and as a result of construction 


traffic because the roads do take a beating during construction.  The first phase of the project 


included the grading of the subdivision, the sanitary sewer system, the water supply and 


distribution system and that initial paving which was a gravel base course, and then also 


streetlight and street signs.  These improvements were completed in 2005 and were paid for by 


the developer. 


 







Village Board Meeting 


July 15, 2013 


 


 


11 


The second phase of improvements includes then installing the curb and gutter.  As I indicated 


the first phase is just gravel.  Also some landscaping and then some grading compaction of the 


base course and then the installation of the binder course of asphalt which is what you have out 


there now.  And then at this point some street trees were installed at homes or at lots that had 


homes built.  But all the street trees weren’t put in because generally that becomes an issue with 


driveways and potential damage during construction of homes.  These improvements were 


completed in 2007 and were paid for by the developer. 


 


The phase three improvements is where we’re at now which includes raising the storm inlet 


frames.  That’s where the storm water goes.  They need to be raised to the final grade of the final 


pavement.  As Mr. Pollocoff indicated we need to replace the binder and the pavement areas that 


have failed over the years.  I think you probably have seen the markings out there.  And we did a 


thorough job of indicating where the pavement was deteriorated and what needed to be replaced.  


And then the last part is to install the remaining street trees.  As indicated the money in the letter 


of credit was not sufficient. 


 


Again, this is just some of the actions we took.  Back in June, September and November of last 


year and again this year we were notified that the funds were insufficient.  We notified the bank 


and the developer that the funds were insufficient.  This is just an example of some of the 


documentation.  We sent a breach letter back in July to John Barcelona, Whispering Knoll, LLC.   


And, again, at that time we indicated that there were insufficient funds.  And as you can see 


toward the bottom we said to provide a supplementary letter of credit which, again, wasn’t done. 


 


Then back in November we also where they were looking at maybe trying to finish, again, as was 


indicated we were getting late in the year.  This letter is dated November 2nd.  We were getting 


into the end of the paving season.  And, again, we wanted the owner to acknowledge and 


supplement the letter of credit which, again, he did not.  And then as Attorney Camilli indicated 


we did take some legal action.  And the bank has now commenced a foreclosure for our actions.  


However, at this point as indicated there are still liens on the property.  But a bankruptcy would 


remove those liens.  And this is why, as you can see, where we’re at today. 


 


In terms of getting into the details of what the assessment is all about, this is the actual special 


assessment map of the subdivision.  As you can see, all the lots are indicated there.  The gray area 


is the final paving of the roadway that will be completed as part of this project.  The dots indicate 


the trees that need to be planted also.  And then finally there is a sidewalk to be installed to the 


north there to go from the subdivision to the school right there.  The improvements in more detail 


include the storm sewer and sanitary sewer utility repairs.  Again, to make sure that all this 


infrastructure is to the quality and to the level that’s acceptable to the Village we televised all the 


infrastructure there.  So there were some issues in the storm sewer and the sanitary sewer that 


were identified, and these are all going to be fixed as part of this project.  I mentioned the 


sidewalk, the final layer of asphalt and the street trees. 


 


The assessment rate calculation is based on an actual bid cost.  The paving and the repairs that I 


just referred to were all part of a bid document that was submitted for bids, and we received them 


on June 20th of this year.  The total rate also includes a conservative tree installation cost, 


engineering and inspection services as well as a contingency.  As was indicated it’s our intent to 







Village Board Meeting 


July 15, 2013 


 


 


12 


have a conservative estimate that if anything it will go down.  We don’t want to have to come 


back and say that we still don’t have enough money.  We took all these costs, and I’ll show you in 


a minute, we reduced those by the money that we do still have cash on deposit from the 


developer.   


 


Then the final assessment will be based on the actual cost and not to exceed the approved 


assessment rate.  I put an asterisk there because since the time that we sent out the notice of the 


assessment we have gotten in the estimate for the trees.  And that was bid actually last week, and 


the low bid came in under the estimate which is $18,635.  You’ll see how that affects the numbers 


shortly.  As far as the rate calculation, and this was mentioned earlier, it is our belief that all the 


lot owners equally benefit from having access to the public road.  Therefore we believe that the 


most equitable way of distributing these costs are on an equal share basis.  And, therefore, the rate 


basis is based on a per lot basis within the development. 


 


For the street trees we believe there’s an individual benefit for each homeowner to have the trees 


on their property.  In this particular case there’s 54 trees that remain.  The cost that was in the 


estimate that we sent out was $19,373.  As you can see the estimate that came in from the 


contractor is less.  So the assessment rate for the trees is going to be based on a per tree basis for 


each lot.   


 


As far as how the numbers work out for the assessment, for the final paving the $379,000 and 


change, again, that’s an actual bid number from Payne and Dolan.  The engineering services 


number includes the staff time for inspection.  It also includes construction services to have an 


inspector out there, again, to make sure the contractor is performing the work properly. 


 


Mike Pollocoff: 


 


That includes surveying and staking. 


 


Mike Spence: 


 


I’m sorry, that includes surveying and staking to get the grades for the road as well.  That total 


ends up to be $412,000.  We did add a 5 percent contingency.  So that’s to cover any unforeseen 


items that might arise during the construction of these improvements.  Then there is a small 


eyebrow part of the road there that is related to the Sunny Prairie development.  So that money is 


going to come from that developer.  Then we subtracted out as well, again, the cash on deposit.  


That’s the money that we have from the developer, $277,000 and change and less the interest that 


we’ve accrued on that money.  So the final assessable cost is $149,916.80.  We divided that by 40 


lots, and that is the assessment rate of $3,747.92 per lot. 


 


For the street trees, again, the original estimate was $19,373.  Again, we have engineering, we 


have to do the inspection, and there’s a number of things and staking out where the trees go, 


that’s included in that cost.  And then we did put in a 5 percent contingency.  So that total number 


becomes $23,491.08 divided by the number of trees that comes out to $435.02 per street tree.  


Now, the asterisk indicates, again, the low bid came in under the estimate.  So it’s actually 







Village Board Meeting 


July 15, 2013 


 


 


13 


$18,635.  So if you carry those numbers through the assessment for the tree would go down to 


$420.68. 


 


And, again, it’s important to note as has been mentioned the assessment won’t be more than what 


we’ve given you.  Again, we’ve tried to be conservative and include contingencies.  And as Mr. 


Pollocoff indicated we’re looking at other areas to hopefully reduce this.  But it’s just important 


to know it’s the actual cost that will be assessed.  So we will be monitoring the construction and 


the engineering costs to make sure that they are less than the assessed amount.  That’s all I have. 


 


Mike Pollocoff: 


 


With that, Mr. President, I’d recommend that we open up the hearing. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


With that we will open up the hearing.  We’ll open it up to comment or question.  We ask that 


you give us your name and address for the record and use the microphone.  Jane, was there a 


signup sheet? 


 


Jane Romanowski: 


 


There was a signup sheet.  And following the meeting rules, as there are more than five speakers 


tonight for the public hearing, there’s a time limit of three minutes unless the Board agrees to 


extend that time.  So the first speaker is John Borkovec. 


 


John Borkovec: 


 


Good evening, John Borkovec, 10837 45th Avenue, Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin.  Mr. President 


and members of the Board and other supporting members, thank you for the work you’ve done 


for us on our behalf.  We realize this is quite a complicated thing.  I’m standing here as somewhat 


of a representative for our group [inaudible] because I met with Mr. Pollocoff.  Thank you again 


for your recap today.  It lent clarity to me on some pieces that I was missing.  I think we came in 


[inaudible] to you due to the fact that we felt that the amount of time that we’ve had to even 


absorb what was going on [inaudible] and per our meeting together hoping to get some kind of a 


time delay to this and appreciate your recommendation on the effective date of this assessment 


[inaudible].  At least that would give us some time to examine our options. 


 


I think on behalf of some of the other folks that are here, and I’m sure a couple others will be 


speaking, but effectively for the existing homeowners we feel that we’re kind of like that farmer 


who paid for his improvements and he’s getting hit up again.  And feel that we paid this money in 


already, why is it we have to pay for it when these delays weren’t necessarily related to us.  On a 


person basis I question whether or not perhaps there was some level of greed I guess is the word 


to use on trying to delay things because if they didn’t get the dollars that they wanted to they 


maybe could well have hit the 75 percent to satisfy their [inaudible] to getting the completion 


[inaudible]. 


 







Village Board Meeting 


July 15, 2013 


 


 


14 


Secondly, as homeowners we negotiated our purchases with the assumption that all these roads 


were going to be completed as per the agreement with the developer.  There’s some other points 


to make regarding some of the way the allocations are created.  And I understand the benefit to all 


concept and equally spread across to the point of having already paid in.  Further more we look at 


some of these points as a matter of fact that Sunny Prairie area that they’re able to have a $4,300 


assessment from two different lots which will be using our subdivision to gain access to their lots.  


They’re being assessed $4,300 total, why would this not be a 42 lot issue.  They already paid in, 


right?  Well, so did we, and I think that’s the position of our group as well. 


 


The other point that I wanted to bring to the table was regarding the letter of credit and the whole 


concept, and I don’t have clarity on this so forgive me if I don’t say it quite right.  But the point of 


the letter of credit not being adequate if the developer came to the Village and says we can get it 


done, is it not the Village’s right to say, well, we hold the inspection card, and we either approve 


your work or we don’t.  So in that light why is it that the Village was able to say we don’t believe 


you that you can get it done for this amount of money per the letter of credit.  So I think that’s 


one of those looming questions that we have. 


 


Besides that thank you again for the work you’ve done, and really more than anything I think that 


[inaudible] offered to delay the effective date of the assessment to 2014 [inaudible].  We want to 


do everything we can to help you folks gain what’s right from the developer for all these things 


that are affecting all of us.  I guess we’re [inaudible] together as a team so thank you. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Thank you. 


 


Jane Romanowski: 


 


Keith Rishel. 


 


Keith Rishel: 


 


Thank you for helping us out [inaudible]. 


 


Jane Romanowski: 


 


Name and address for the record please. 


 


Keith Rishel: 


 


Keith Rishel, 10731 44th Avenue.  


 


Jane Romanowski: 


 


Thank you. 


 







Village Board Meeting 


July 15, 2013 


 


 


15 


Keith Rishel: 


 


I hesitate to speak [inaudible] I have a hard time expressing myself and my feelings [inaudible] 


differently.  But I gather that from talking to other people that some people at the Village may not 


believe that we are concerned about this.  That’s not the case.  We are all very concerned about it.  


Some of us are [inaudible] and we bought this property eight years ago, now all of a sudden the 


property is at half the value.  In that process of eight years now some of us have taken us 


significant pay cuts so we’re in survival mode.   We’re wondering how this assessment is going to 


affect us in the future, how we’re going to pay for it.  Some of us don’t have the opportunity to 


take off and make calls to the Village and come to the Village and look at documentation.  So, 


again, we’re in survival mode.  So I just want to make certain that everybody is aware that this is 


the case, that we are all concerned about this and how this is going to get paid.  WE all agree it 


has to get done, but we do agree that we are all [inaudible].  That’s all [inaudible]. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Thank you. 


 


Jane Romanowski: 


 


Amy Lowry. 


 


Mike Pollocoff: 


 


The mic is not picking up. 


 


Amy Lowry: 


 


Amy Lowry.  I’m at 4405 107th Place.  We’ve done a lot of talking tonight about the paving of 


the lands, but I’d like to talk a little bit about the trees.  We are the most recent house to built out 


in Whispering Knoll.  We just finished our construction in April.  Back in July of last year we 


actually when we were negotiating our purchase of the land we asked Whispering Knoll to install 


the trees on our own.  So as part of the negotiation process we called the Village and said, okay, 


we’re wanting us to do this.  What’s it going to cost us, how many trees, the varieties?  We want 


to know what’s a good negotiating factor here.  At the time we were informed that the duty fell on 


the developer and that we could not include it in the contract. 


 


As a result we ended up paying more for the land.  So we’re feeling I guess particularly misled in 


that where we were told that we could not use this as a negotiating factor we’re now having to 


pay anyway.  And we had waited to reach out to the developer asking when the trees were going 


to be installed.  We just recently had our driveway put in towards the end of June.  And then I 


received this notice of special assessment.  And so we reached out to the developer anyway, and 


we’re told that he could not speak to us because that’s what the bank directed.  And so we feel a 


little bit that our ability to move forward was hindered by the Village’s actions in the lawsuit and 


in administering this special assessment.  And so we were not given the opportunity we otherwise 


would have to work this out and negotiate with the developer to try to get those in anyway. 







Village Board Meeting 


July 15, 2013 


 


 


16 


 


It’s $2,600 so it is substantial.  We’re on a corner lot so we have six trees.  We do feel we’re in a 


little bit of a different position than maybe some of the other homeowners who have trees yet to 


be installed.  I do have our contract here that explicitly says seller shall install all required 


parkway trees.  I also have documentation of the discussion with the Village and that we were 


told we couldn’t use it as a negotiating factor. 


 


So at this point we still feel there’s some questions unanswered on how we’re going to work out 


in this situation when we’re between a lawsuit with the Village and a developer who may be or 


maybe not would have followed through with the contract that we signed with him.   I’ve since 


spoken with Mr. Spence on Friday and he was very sympathetic and offered his condolences in 


helping us through and his assistance, and it was much appreciated.  So thank you for your time 


on Friday. 


 


Today I spoke with Ms. Kuzma at the bank and was simply informed that the Village had a letter 


of credit which was intended to cover the trees and they could do nothing further to assist us.  So 


I don’t have a lot to say besides other than I’d like you to take that into consideration when we 


felt we were protected because we had negotiated specifically in the contract based upon 


discussions that were had, and we are now left paying for it anyway after paying addition for the 


lot.  So thank you very much for your time. 


 


Jane Romanowski: 


 


Kenneth Wilson. 


 


Kenneth Wilson: 


 


Thank you, good evening.  My name is Kenneth Wilson.  My address is 4470 107th Place.  John 


already expressed some of his concerns and some of the residents’ concerns around the 


assessment process.  He already raised the Sun Prairie one so I won’t address that.  But one of the 


things I think the residents feel very strongly about is those residents who are already in the 


subdivision have already paid, and I think that’s been said already this evening.  And we would 


like to understand if it’s possible to burden the open lots.  And really the goal of burdening the 


open lots would be that it puts the emphasis back onto the bank which is all of our goal, both the 


Village and the residents.  In that way it wouldn’t burden new residents coming in because those 


lots would be sold at market value.  And if the bank could recover the assessment fee through 


selling of the lots at market value then I think everybody would be happy with that.  More than 


likely, however, the bank would have to absorb some of that assessment because of the market 


value today.  So we would like you to consider when reviewing the assessment to burden the 


open lots rather than equally across all of the lots.  Thank you. 


 


Jane Romanowski: 


 


Tim Wilson.  (Declined to speak) Brad Santeler. 


 


 







Village Board Meeting 


July 15, 2013 


 


 


17 


Brad Santeler: 


 


Hi, I’m Brad Santeler, 10798 45th Avenue.  And most everything has been said so I’ll be brief 


not to belabor it.  But I have two sort of areas of question.  I guess one’s a question and then one 


is a consideration.  So the question part is as this has unfolded over the period in looking at some 


of the documents it appears that there was a five year stipulation or 75 percent of the lots.  So at 


some point it would be helpful to understand what happened with that five year incident and why 


that wasn’t appropriate in terms of them doing the paving hindsight being 20/20 I guess, but 


we’re not at 75 percent now.  And so what could have been done potentially at the time we find 


ourselves in the same position of not being completed lots.  So that’s sort of an observation I’d 


like to understand. 


 


And just to again repeat two things around the assessment.  One is if it an equitable assessment 


the question is is Sunny Prairie getting its equitable share, too.  I would like to understand the 


dynamics there.  And then second as both now John and Kenny have suggested if there was a way 


to put the burden of the assessment on those unsold lots it seems like it would replicate the spirit 


of the lien which was on those lots as opposed to burdening the current taxpayers.  Thank you. 


 


Jane Romanowski: 


 


Edwin Martell. 


 


Edwin Martell: 


 


Edwin Martell, 4416 109th Street, Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin.  As I listened to my neighbors I 


was writing my question.  And I guess my take on it, and once again it goes back to the empty 


lots, why couldn’t we -- since we already paid, those of us who already live there we already paid 


into this road improvement as part of the original price of the home, so by paying again we’re 


paying twice.  So why couldn’t we apply the same concept to the empty lots?  So in other words 


since we already paid we pay it again so that’s twice.  So then for the empty lots use the same 


concept.  Just take a number and multiply it by two.  Once again just a suggestion.  Okay, that’s 


all, thank you. 


 


Jane Romanowski: 


 


Chris Maze.  Jeff Rodriguez or Christina Rodriguez. (Declined to speak) 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


That’s the names on the sheet.  Anyone else wishing to speak on this item?  Yes, ma’am?  


Microphone, name and address. 


 


Gail Reinhardt: 


 


Gail Reinhardt, 10731 44th Avenue.  I want to know what you’re going to do in the future to 


prevent this from happening.  I understand this is something that’s happening all over the country 







Village Board Meeting 


July 15, 2013 


 


 


18 


due to the real estate crash.  I’ve noticed and I’ve read articles where a lot of the western states 


now have instituted when a new development goes in they will take part at the closing a sum that 


would be put into an escrow account to be used if the development is not finished properly.  And 


I want to know if you’re going to institute something like that or are you considering something 


because this is very, very costly.  We have had three foreclosures in our subdivision already, and 


we don’t know how many more may happen because people can’t make their bills.  Thank you. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Thank you.  Anyone else wishing to speak?  Yes, ma’am? 


 


Kathy Borkovec: 


 


Thank you.  Kathy Borkovec, 10837 45th Avenue, Pleasant Prairie.  So thank you again for all of 


your time this evening.  I just wanted to review and thank you for your thought that was 


mentioned in the Kenosha paper, and that was of the three lots, a potential for three lots to pay for 


this assessment.  So, again, not to expand on that, but please consider that.  Thank you. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Thank you.  Anyone else?  Yes, ma’am? 


 


Milagros Victor-Butzen: 


 


Hi, Milagros Victor-Butzen, 2825 11th Place, Unit 706.  We’re currently building on Lot 1 in 


Whispering Knoll.  I guess my question is if we were to do the special assessment for $3,747.92 


and the lots remain unsold for the 13 lots that are outstanding, would we have to make up that 


loss which is about $48,000? 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Thank you.  Anyone else?  Anyone else?  If not I’m going to close the public hearing and open it 


up to Board comment or question.  Mike? 


 


Mike Pollocoff: 


 


There are some good questions out there tonight, and I’ll answer all of them if I can.  Mr. 


Borkovec and someone else had brought up the question about the Sunny Prairie assessment.  If 


you think back to Mike’s presentation I believe it was $4,339 is what Sunny Prairie -- on the 


assessment schedule that’s listed as their contribution.  They had given that money to the Village 


prior to knowing where we were going to be with this project.  That was money from their 


development agreement that they completed.  So once they had their work done and they had the 


remaining funds left in the letter of credit they provided that to the Village for completion of 


these improvements that we’re talking about.  But at that time, not unlike you, they didn’t know it 


was going to cost more. 


 







Village Board Meeting 


July 15, 2013 


 


 


19 


But what the Village is doing with Sunny Prairie is we already have $4,300 of their funds.  And if 


you look, you all know where it is, it’s between Lots 36 and Lots 34.  They’ll have a special 


assessment to make up the difference between, it’s roughly $1,900 between the $4,339 and what 


the $3,747 is.  So they’ll have to pick up that.  That will be a separate special assessment hearing 


that they’ll have.  So they will have to pay.  That will reduce the total number of $1,900, $1,937 I 


believe it is.  So that will be paid. 


 


One of the questions that wasn’t asked but it relates is on 43rd Avenue.  The people that live on 


the east side of 43rd Avenue weren’t assessed, and they weren’t assessed -- kind of if you think 


back to what I was saying is once you get a road, you have a road and you’re using that road, we 


don’t come back and assess you for putting another one in.  And back when Whispering Knolls 


was constructed the lay of the land looked a lot different than it does today.  There was a 


significant amount of grading that had to take place in order to get that -- if you think back if you 


were to stand on 43rd Avenue and you look west Whispering Knolls climbs in elevation.   


 


And what we needed to do or what the developer needed to do in order to get the grades to work 


there and get drainage is they had to completely change the grades along 43rd Avenue on both 


sides of the street.  So the people on the east side of the street we basically used up almost all 


their right of way that they have so they lost sections of lawn and terrace.  Because the road that 


was there before was off centered some and it was a lot smaller.  So they don’t get billed.  I mean 


the fact that the developer needed something to make his development work was an improvement 


the developer had to make because it didn’t benefit them at all because they already had a road.  


What they were doing was the developer was making an improvement on their property so he 


could get drainage to come away from the property onto the street and then the storm sewer.  So 


that can’t be assessed either. 


 


The other question is I believe that John brought up was could they have done the work under the 


letter of credit earlier.  We did go back and forth on this.  The Village builds a lot of roads every 


year and we’ve been doing it for quite a while.  And what we want to be able to do is make sure 


that once that road construction takes place and they’re in the middle of it if they don’t have 


enough money that’s almost a worst case scenario.  Because then you have the road demolished 


in sections, you have manholes that might not be set.  The catch basin inlets that receive the water 


might not be set, so to start that project out the developer said he could do it under his existing 


letter of credit.  We didn’t think it was possible to complete it just based on what the cost of 


materials were.  And the contractor if he has to do more work than the money’s there he’ll stop or 


something is going to happen.   


 


So at that point it doesn’t help anybody to get the project three fourths done and not have it 


completed.  Because the thing that won’t get completed is the final lift of asphalt.  So you could 


have the underground improvements made, you could have some of the catch basins squared 


away, but if you get to the point where you don’t have enough money and you can’t complete the 


project then the last thing that happens is the top course doesn’t get it and you’re right back where 


you started from. 


 


We used sound engineering.  When we price out a project we just don’t say what we think it’s 


going to do.  We look at actual bids that are going on every day and we review what other 







Village Board Meeting 


July 15, 2013 


 


 


20 


municipalities, what other people are paying for asphalt work, for grading, for storm sewers all 


that stuff because it’s an evolving market.  If there’s a lot of work out there the prices get a little 


higher and it gets competitive.  If there’s not a lot of work out there then the prices will stabilize 


or sometimes come down.  So it’s not just we don’t look at this in isolation.  We look at what the 


current marketplace is  for the construction business to come up with our number of what it’s 


going to take to do it and that’s the number we’re using. 


 


If the developer is telling us a different number God bless him if he thinks he can do it, but at the 


end of the day when they look at their contracts and they can’t carry it on then they have to come 


up with more money.  If they’re already telling us they can’t enrich the letter of credit we don’t 


want them to start down a project or down a road where they can’t finish it.  Because then we’re 


all going to be back here trying to come up with money again, and we won’t have much time to 


get it done. 


 


In respects to Keith’s comments how will this assessment be paid, I think we pretty much 


described that.  We’re sensitive to the point that this is not the ideal economy for anybody.  Even 


if you haven’t been taken pay cuts or you still have your jobs $3,700 is $3,700 that you didn’t 


plan on paying.  We’re somewhat limited by -- if the public is going to stand behind that 


improvement and accept it it’s got to be paid for.  The best thing we can do in this instance is to 


stretch out that time on the front end so that you know it’s coming.  And we’ve exercised every 


tool we have to make sure we can bring whatever resources in to make you the residents and the 


Village as whole as possible so we’re not having to pay most of that.  And the best thing the 


Village can do is use that extra year to effectuate what we can. 


 


We realize that it’s a burden for anybody to have to pay this especially when you’ve already paid 


for it.  Everybody here at the dais understands full well that you guys have already paid for this.  I 


mean it’s not like you got a deal and you didn’t pay for it, you did pay for it.  That was the give in 


your lot.  But we’re prohibited from using your ability to pay as a basis for how we determine 


what the costs are.  The State law says we really have to determine what you pay based on the 


benefit you receive, not how much you paid.  It’s not a social work project, it’s a public works 


project, and it has to be a direct connection between what you receive as an improvement and 


what you have to pay.  Those things should be equal for everybody whether they can afford it or 


not or whether they want it or not or whether they thought they were going to get it.  It has to be 


the reality of the numbers. 


 


Mrs. Lowry for your trees, I can understand your frustration.  All I could tell you is that when we 


put a developer in a development agreement and we require that he makes those public 


improvements we put that in an agreement that’s recorded.  We take the money from him in the 


letter of credit that he’s got money set aside to pay for it.  And we record that document in the 


Register of Deeds so that any real estate company, any mortgage company, an attorney, anybody 


that looks at what the recorded obligations are for that developer and what he has to do to perform 


to be in compliance is there for everybody to know. 


 


What we don’t let people do is cut deals in between and outside of that because, one, it’s 


impossible to keep track of because your agreement that you make with the developer isn’t 


recorded with the Village.  We have no knowledge of it unless we decide to run down there for 







Village Board Meeting 


July 15, 2013 


 


 


21 


any reason and take a look at it.  What we want to tell everybody when they buy a lot is we’ve 


created this plat for you to be able to buy a lot, and in the creation of that plat the developer is 


committed to pave the roads, put the sewer, the water, the storm sewer, the curb and gutter, trees, 


everything in and that’s going to be done.  And he’s prepared plans and specifications that we’ve 


approved, they’ve set a letter of credit aside to be able to pay for it, and this is all in place. 


 


I’m distressed that the bank told you what they told you, that the letter of credit was in place 


because they know full well the letter of credit isn’t sufficient.  They’ve been dodging from that, 


they’ve been hiding it, and they’ve been doing it to the detriment of the Village, and they’ve been 


doing it to the detriment of people that purchased a lot from the developer and that they’re 


standing behind.  I can’t say anything that’s more despicable about that than what took place, and 


they owed it to you to give you a better answer that said, yeah, there was a letter of credit but it 


wasn’t sufficient.  And our developer made an agreement to do it and he should be standing 


behind it.  And if we need to put another $1,000 or whatever the number is to make you feel good 


they should have did it.  I think that’s only good business.   


 


Maybe I’m being unsympathetic for their need to achieve a profit or a goal.  But on the other 


hand if you’re going to be in the real estate business and the development business your word 


must mean something, and it’s got to be meaning to get something done.  I’m sorry that’s 


happened.  We don’t want to be the one to tell you you can’t do what you want to do, but I think 


to be fair and honest with everybody that’s what we expect a developer to do when they sign up 


to do an agreement.  We’re not going to let somebody develop land unless they meet all those 


requirements. 


 


For Ken Wilson and Ed Martell and for someone else who says why can’t we assess the open 


lots.  If we could assess the remaining lots that haven’t been sold for this development for the cost 


of the improvements we’d have done that in a minute.  And that’s really what Tom Camilli was 


describing when we put the lien of the properties.  We put a lien on those lots so they couldn’t be 


sold until this thing got resolved.  On a special assessment we’re governed by law and case law 


that says everybody who benefits from the improvements, whether a good guy or a bad guy, 


where they’re from or who they are doesn’t matter.  The fact that they own property and they 


received a benefit they get assessed.  The fact that the bank is going to pay 13 assessments on this 


they’re going to have to pay that there.  The majority of them are sold is going to go to you and I 


can’t change that.  The Board can’t change that. 


 


I can guarantee if we redid this assessment and levied it just on the open lots the bank’s attorney 


would take us to task and we’d be right back where we started from where we’d have to hold 


another hearing because that would get tossed out in a minute.  We would like to be able to do 


that but we can’t do that.  It’s just not possible. 


 


For Gail’s question what are you doing to stop this from happening in the future, one of the things 


is there was a point in time in development where developments were happening so quick we 


actually had a hard time getting the improvements in fast enough.  Development would be at 75 


percent, and we would be struggling to get the second year improvements while on the final 


improvements.  Well, I think the new norm is that’s not going to happen.  In fact, it’s probably 


going to be quite a while before we see a plat where someone wants to divide land and make 







Village Board Meeting 


July 15, 2013 


 


 


22 


improvements.  What we are going to do is say we’re coming up with engineering plans and 


requirements that require a developer, as I said, to put in all the improvements in the first year.  


And they’re going to be of substantive quality and strength.  We’re going to go away from asphalt 


roads and we’re going to go to concrete roads.  We’re going to use asphalt to seal it and not be the 


primary use of it. 


 


And we already have really tough standards on sewer, water and storm sewer.  I think that’s 


going to do two things.  One is if a development takes a long time to be developed and built out, 


the improvements are going to withstand the construction weight and traffic that occurs on that.  


And, secondly, that short period everybody’s costs are going to be known really fast.  That thing 


is going to be done and the number is the number.  I think for the Village and for people who are 


going to buy lots in the future that’s the best thing they can do is instead of having this thing drag 


out over time because we’re trying to protect and improvement that’s not meant to take a lot of 


heavy equipment, we should put the improvement in the way it’s meant to handle and be able to 


handle it. 


 


This last year we paved a road and just put a surface coat on a road in LakeView Corporate Park.  


The busiest road in Pleasant Prairie is 95th Street between H and Highway 31.  It carries semis, 


tankers, tons of cars, it’s the busiest road we have.  We put it in 20 years ago, and last year, and 


it’s one of those roads that’s eight inches of concrete on eight inches of stone with an inch and a 


half of asphalt on it to kind of seal the concrete to water doesn’t get in there and damage it.  When 


we took that inch and a half of asphalt off, we milled it off, we had two cracks in the road that 


needed repair.  That’s almost a mile of road.  Outside of that that’s all we had to do.  That road 


was in perfect shape.  So just for us seeing is believing that if we put the more expensive road in 


in the first place it will last.  It will hold up.  If it can hold up to concrete panels being delivered to 


building out there and what have you it will surely hold up in a residential subdivision. 


 


On the five years or 75 percent that Brad talked about, the thing that stops us from paving a road 


before it gets close to 75 percent is the fact that you’ll end up rebuilding that whole road.  Even 


now with the damage that’s been done on the road right now, we’re not ripping out all the asphalt.  


And if we start earlier where we do allow that to happen it just damages the road more 


significantly.  I don’t know, Mike, if you have a percentage of how much of the road we’re going 


to be removing as far as the asphalt? 


 


Mike Spence: 


 


I don’t have the exact percentage, but it was a pretty big amount.  I don’t have the exact number, 


but if I had to estimate I’d say 20 or 25 percent at least. 


 


Mike Pollocoff: 


 


Okay, so if we were to do that earlier that amount would be smaller.  I mean there would be less 


damage at that point.  But the problem is you’d have your final course of asphalt on there and 


your road would be beat to hell because all those trucks would just make it look terrible.  We had 


a subdivision that we approved back in -- well, it was originally platted in the ‘50s.  It was 


actually built out in ‘90, and we allowed the developer to go in and do his final paving early.  It’s 







Village Board Meeting 


July 15, 2013 


 


 


23 


the Green Tree Estates Subdivision.  It’s over off of 39th Avenue and 125th.  And you drive on 


that road today and we need to rip that entire road out.  We need a complete redo.  And that road 


was destroyed, and those were small houses in there, they were like 60 foot wide lots.  


 


That whole road was destroyed because there was a lot of houses left to be built when the final 


lift of asphalt was on.  So it was all done, it looked good for a couple years, and then it just slowly 


deteriorated.  It’s all alligatored.  It’s hard to find a piece that’s much bigger than six inches 


without cracks around it.  And that’s why we wait as long as we can before we put that lift on 


there.  And in just five years in reality means nothing.  It really depends on what kind of trucks 


and how often and when are they going over the road.  It’s the percentage of lots that are done 


that will give you some comfort that you’ll be able to withstand additional traffic on the road. 


 


The other thing as far as what we can do in the future, one of the things we were looking to do 


that we do in Pleasant Prairie is we prequalify contractors.  We won’t let anybody bid on our 


project unless we know they’re experienced, they’ve done the work similarly, they’ve got 


professionals on staff that know what they’re doing.  They’ve got the financial strength to 


complete a project from beginning to end, and they have financials that show that.  And they’re 


not in court regularly because their work is so bad that they’re being sued for failure of the work.  


And we were looking at prequalifying developers.  And this developer is a perfect case of 


somebody that should be prequalified.  And I would still like to be able to do that.  But in the last 


legislative session in Wisconsin, Wisconsin legislature prohibits municipalities from imposing 


any restrictions on realtors, any qualifying or regulations on realtors.  And that’s what developers 


are, in essence they’re realtors. 


 


So what we were working on as far as plans to be able to prequalify a developer to see if they had 


the financial strength and the experience to do that we’re not able to do that anymore.  That’s 


been taken away from us.  So I’m really at a loss to be able to figure out how we can separate a 


good developer from a bad developer even if we know they’re a bad developer.  If they comply 


with all the laws right now the State is saying you have to let them go.  So that can’t be regulated 


locally anymore.  I hope I addressed all the comments.  If you have any questions. 


 


Michael Serpe: 


 


Mike, you did a fantastic job explaining the whole process.  I don’t think we have a representative 


from the developer her or the bank, do we?  I can certainly understand why.  Mike Spence, the 


time of the project how long is it going to take to get this done? 


 


Mike Spence: 


 


The construction will be done by this fall.  Depending on what happens tonight we’re prepared to 


award the contract to the paver.  And I would envision the paving to start probably within a 


month. 


 


 


 


 







Village Board Meeting 


July 15, 2013 


 


 


24 


Michael Serpe: 


 


By us adopting this resolution tonight it’s certainly not going to stop Mike and Mr. Camilli and 


Mike Spence and our department heads from further trying to resolve and get more money put 


into this project.  And what Mike suggested that the final determination be in 2014 with final 


payment in 2015 gives two years of hopeful successful negotiation with the bank and the 


developer to bring more money into this to reduce the assessed amount.   


 


Mike, what you said tonight disturbs me greatly that special interests can go to our legislators in 


Madison and create laws that benefit them at the expense of the taxpayer.  And that just upsets me 


to no end.  The every day people like all of us here don’t have enough money to give the 


legislators to get special interest legislation and the big boys do.  And they get the laws passed to 


benefit them.  It’s upsetting.  It’s very upsetting. 


 


Clyde Allen: 


 


First I want to thank everybody for coming and making their voices heard.  A lot of good points, 


excellent points, excellent questions.  The one that struck me the most was, Mr. Rishel, 


everybody is in survival mode, absolutely.  What happened to the economy, what has happened 


not only affected the developer but it’s affecting you, affecting us.  These are not the kind of 


decisions we want to make.  They’re not fun, they’re hard, and as some of you say they’re not 


fair.  Understand but your hands are tied sometimes.  There’s nowhere else to go.  But I have all 


the faith in the world that Mike and our attorneys will do everything they can to pursue other 


avenues of funds to lower the assessment.  Thank you for the presentation, Mike.  Thank you. 


 


Steve Kumorkiewicz: 


 


Thank you, Mr. President.  Thank you everybody for being here today.  We are well aware of the 


situation.  Many times it’s hard to understand how the government works.  Mike here and the 


staff are doing an excellent job in getting all the facts together as they were presented here 


tonight.  Unfortunately, as Michael says, Mike Serpe, too, Madison is passing more and more 


statutes that doesn’t benefit the residents.  They work against the residents’ and the 


municipalities’ interests and that’s a typical example that we cannot control who can build here.  


They have [inaudible].  So our hands are tied.  What Mike presented here tonight is as best as it 


can be presented to anybody in this situation.  So there’s not too much left to say about that.  We 


don’t like it but we don’t have any choice.  That’s all I can say.  Thank you. 


 


Michael Serpe: 


 


John, I would make a motion to adopt Resolution 13-15 with the final determination in 2014 and 


final determination with payment in 2015. 


 


Steve Kumorkiewicz: 


 


Second. 


 







Village Board Meeting 


July 15, 2013 


 


 


25 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Motion by Mike, second by Steve.  Is there any further discussion? 


 


Michael Serpe: 


 


One other thing.  Thanks for your professionalism in approaching the Board.  It doesn’t always 


work that way believe me.  Thank you. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


I just want to add, as they’ve said before, thank you for coming.  As Mike said this is only the 


second time we’ve dealt with this, and it’s no prettier than the first time we dealt with it.  


Unfortunately everybody’s out there to make a buck for themselves, and they really don’t care 


about you I guess.  But the Village we try and look out for you.  We try and do whatever we can 


do but we’re limited.  And unfortunately when Madison makes laws that makes it even harder for 


us to protect you, to work with you, protect all the Village residents that gets very frustrating to us 


because we know somebody bought their favor.  And I’ll just say it, somebody bought their favor 


so they could financially benefit. 


 


Over the years the Village has always been known as the hard nose with developers because of 


what we do and how we protect our residents.  And over the years little things have been put in 


place to take away from us the powers we had to protect the residents, whether it’s your cable TV 


or the situation you’re in today, and it’s frustrating.  And I commend the Board and the Village 


staff for what they do because unlike the politicians in other parts of the country, and I hate to use 


the word politicians, I enjoy working with a group of people that really looks out for their Village 


for the people that live here to provide the services and provide the honest government you 


deserve.  And as Mike said we’re going to do everything legally possible, and the attorney 


working with us, to minimize whatever impact there is and hopefully there wouldn’t be an impact 


if the developer and the bank would do the right thing here.  There is resolution to this, we just 


need cooperation.  So with that we have a motion and a second. 


 


Michael Serpe: 


 


One other thing.  The Clerk just brought something to my attention.  November 1, 2014 


determination, is November 1, 2015 final payment? 


 


Mike Pollocoff: 


 


It will kind of be up to the decision of the property owner.  They’ll be able to make a decision 


prior to November 1, 2014 how they want to pay for it.  If they decide to finance it in ten equal 


installments that first installment would show up in 2015.  That would be their time for their first 


payment. 


 


Michael Serpe: 


 







Village Board Meeting 


July 15, 2013 


 


 


26 


The date being November 1st? 


 


Mike Pollocoff: 


 


No, it would be January 31st.  So it would show up on your property tax bills as a separate line 


that says special assessment streets.  And then when you pay your property taxes that one tenth 


payment and interest would show up on that line.  So it would be in ‘15.  You could pay it off at 


any time.  If you advance it over ten years and you decide after one year I’m going to pay this 


thing off you can pay it off with no interest penalties. 


 


Michael Serpe: 


 


Mike, a clarification on this.  November ‘14 and January 31 of ‘15, okay. 


 


Mike Pollocoff: 


 


Isn’t that right, that’s when the first specials are due?  Yes. 


 


Steve Kumorkiewicz: 


 


Another clarification.  And the rest of them have the right to [inaudible]. 


 


Mike Pollocoff: 


 


One thing we encourage people to look at if, in fact, this thing kind of lands down and people are 


going to pay for it, some people when we’ve done assessments over the years for sewer and water 


and what have you they’ve just done a home equity loan and paid us off since that typically you 


can deduct that off your taxes or do it that way.  Or you can pay it off with us.  Under the new 


rules the interest will be about the same typically for what you’ll get a home equity loan versus 


what we’re going to charge you.  I’m not a tax person to know what the impact is on your income 


taxes.  I think it’s different for everybody compared to where they are.  Those are things you 


might want to look at over the coming years just how you want to deal with that. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Motion and second.  Further discussion?  


 


 SERPE MOVED TO ADOPT RESOLUTION #13-15 – FINAL RESOLUTION 


AUTHORIZING CONSTRUCTION OF PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS AND LEVYING SPECIAL 


ASSESSMENTS AGAINST BENEFITED PROPERTY WITH THE CONSTRUCTION OF 


FINAL PAVING FOR THE WHISPERING KNOLL SUBDIVISION – PAYMENT OF THE 


ASSESSMENT IS TO BE MADE IN FULL BY NOVEMBER 1, 2014 OR PLACED ON THE TAX 


ROLL WITH THE FIRST INSTALLMENT DUE JANUARY 31, 2015; SECONDED BY 


KUMORKIEWICZ; MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 


 


 







Village Board Meeting 


July 15, 2013 


 


 


27 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Once again thank you for coming out.  John, you were kind of the representative I believe.  We’ll 


be keeping in touch with John to make sure you’re up to date on what’s happening.  If that’s okay 


that may be a little easier maybe. 


 


Mike Pollocoff: 


 


We’ll set up a link on our website where we post some documents on things that occur.  So rather 


than having to run down here and pay for copies we’ll try and keep that current.  We won’t try, 


we will keep it current for you so you can look and see where we are at any given point in time.  


If you have any questions after you look at that by all means give us a call.  And we’ll send out a 


letter with the link on there so you’ll know where to look. 


 


6. CITIZEN COMMENTS 
 


Jane Romanowski: 


 


Mr. Hayden signed up, but Mr. Hayden you’ll speak when your item comes up on the agenda, 


okay?  We’ll wait for your item so we can discuss it all at once, okay?  There were no other 


signups under citizen comments. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Anyone else wishing to speak under citizens’ comments?  Anyone else wishing to speak under 


citizens’ comments?  If not, I’m going to close citizens’ comments.  And before we move onto 


the Administrator’s report we’re going to take a five minute recess. 


 


[Recess] 


 


7. ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT 
 


Mike Pollocoff: 


 


I’ve said all I care to say tonight. 


 


8. NEW BUSINESS 


 


 A. Receive Plan Commission recommendation and consider Ordinances #13-27 and 


#13-28 to rezone the property at 7804 Cooper Road from R-4 (UHO) Urban Single 


Family Residential District with an Urban Landholding Overlay District to R-4 


(UHO) (PUD), Urban Single Family Residential District with an Urban 


Landholding Overlay District and a Planned Unit Development Overlay District to 


create the specific PUD District zoning regulations for the one (1) single family 


home development of the property. 
 







Village Board Meeting 


July 15, 2013 


 


 


28 


Jean Werbie-Harris: 


 


Mr. President, this is a request by Mr. Tenuta and his wife for their property located at 7804 


Cooper Road.  They are requesting a zoning map and a text amendment this evening.  And they 


are requesting to modify that zoning from R-4 UHO to R-4 UHO PUD.  Primarily this is a 


situation where there was one single family home on the property.  That property house was 


razed.  They’re looking to build a brand new single family house on this particular property in 


that R-4 District.   


 


And what they’re requesting is because this is such a large property, 30 plus acres of land, they’re 


asking for some consideration with the planned unit development in order to increase the number 


of accessory buildings on the particular property.  As the typical R-4 District only allows for three 


accessory structures they’re requesting up to six.  Again, they’ve got over 30 acres of land, most 


of which is wooded.  And one of the other specific items within that PUD is they are looking to 


have one of those accessory buildings or structures, a garage, to be up to 6,000 square feet.  And 


this garage as shown on the screen would be located to the north/northwest of the existing house 


or the proposed house that they’re looking to have. 


 


Just looking back one minute, with respect to the placement of the garage, again, this is all 


wooded to the north, and there’s trees and woods along to the west, to the south, and a lot of them 


up front.  Where they’re looking to place this proposed 6,000 square foot garage you’d barely be 


able to see it based on all the other environmental amenities on the particular property. 


 


So specifically this is a matter that was before the Village Plan Commission at their last meeting.  


Again, they’re looking for a zoning map amendment to add that PUD provision to their property.  


They’re looking to have up to six accessory structures.  They are looking to have the largest 


accessory structure be 6,000 square feet.  They have agreed to comply with the requirements as 


set forth by the fire department with respect to sprinklering this particular building and putting in 


early warning detection systems so that a building of this size has the adequate protection from a 


municipal fire protection standpoint. 


 


Two other items that they’re looking to modify is that typically a swimming pool is not put into 


the street yard.  Sometimes it’s put in a rear street yard.  In this case they have a front and a rear 


street yard, but they may want to put a swimming pool in.  And we are under these provisions 


allowing that it could go in the front yard no closer than 100 feet to Cooper Road.  Again, I’m not 


sure that they’re entirely interested in doing that, but we wanted to outline that possibility for 


them. 


 


And then finally there are some historic stone pillars that were at the front entrance of their 


driveway on Cooper Road.  Based on their need to widen that driveway to be able to get 


construction vehicles and other vehicles in and out of their property they are looking to modify 


and they may need to reconstruct those stone pillars.  And if they do that they are looking to do 


them at the same height which is at least six feet, where our typical fence or hedge or entrance 


monuments are only four feet in the street yard.  And then they’d also like to be able to 


reconstruct them just inside the right of way. 


 







Village Board Meeting 


July 15, 2013 


 


 


29 


One of the situations is typically we have not allowed for any type of fences or stone pillars or 


anything like that to be in a right of way unless an indemnification is signed by the particular 


property owner.  And we’d added some other provisions, for example, it cannot impact in any 


way the Village public works efforts in snowplowing and maintaining Cooper Road.  And we 


need to make sure that it’s not going to be an issue or concern or problem for any future potential 


widening of Cooper Road when and if that ever does happen.  It’s really considered more of a 


rustic road for the Village. 


 


So I’m just going to scroll through a couple more of the slides that we had.  These are views of 


the garage, again, that would be located northwest of the house.  Any building over 3,500 square 


feet would have to be serviced with fire sprinklers.  That’s in the PUD provisions.  It’s the 


community benefit that has been defined as part of the approval of this planned unit development 


for this particular property.  And then this again just shows the two views in different directions.  


And that’s it, Mr. President.  If there’s any questions.  The PUD does specifically outline some of 


the requirements for various sizes of accessory structures, this size to this size and these setbacks.  


And that language really has all been brought from the existing zoning ordinance, but we just put 


into the PUD as a reminder of what those regulations would be. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Thank you, Jean.  


 


Michael Serpe: 


 


I think it’s going to be beautiful for that area.  The Zirk property was nice to look at for years, but 


if you got up close to it it wasn’t that pretty.  This will be a very nice development.  I move 


approval of the zoning map and zoning text amendment Ordinance 13-27 and 13-28. 


 


Clyde Allen: 


 


Second. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Motion by Mike, second by Clyde.  Any other discussion? 


 


Monica Yuhas: 


 


I would just to say at the Plan Commission meeting you saw a lot of the neighbors and residents 


turn out in support of this project.  And that just goes to show you that everyone in the 


neighborhood is in favor of it.  It’s a well thought out plan.  Welcome to the Village, Chris. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 







Village Board Meeting 


July 15, 2013 


 


 


30 


And this is a great piece of property, and I don’t think there could be a better use for it than what 


you’re doing with it.  So we’re excited about it and hope everything goes well.  With that we have 


a motion and a second.   


 


 SERPE MOVED TO CONCUR WITH THE PLAN COMMISSION 


RECOMMENDATION AND ADOPT ORDINANCES #13-27 AND #13-28 TO REZONE THE 


PROPERTY AT 7804 COOPER ROAD FROM R-4 (UHO) URBAN SINGLE FAMILY 


RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT WITH AN URBAN LANDHOLDING OVERLAY DISTRICT TO R-4 


(UHO) (PUD), URBAN SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT WITH AN URBAN 


LANDHOLDING OVERLAY DISTRICT AND A PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT 


OVERLAY DISTRICT TO CREATE THE SPECIFIC PUD DISTRICT ZONING 


REGULATIONS FOR THE ONE (1) SINGLE FAMILY HOME DEVELOPMENT OF THE 


PROPERTY; SECONDED BY ALLEN; MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 


 


 B. Receive Plan Commission recommendation and consider Ordinance #13-29 to 


amend the definition of Auxiliary Permitted Use in Section 420-152 of the Village 


Zoning Ordinance. 
 


Jean Werbie-Harris: 


 


Mr. President and members of the Board and the audience, on March 11, 2013 the Plan 


Commission adopted a resolution to initiate some amendments to the Village’s comprehensive 


plan and the zoning ordinance text and the zoning maps.  These changes and modifications were 


put forth in order to create a new M-5 Production Manufacturing Zoning District.  This district 


would allow for specific manufacturing, production and office uses located on properties located 


adjacent to the LakeView Corporate Park.  On June 17 the Plan Commission held a public 


hearing, and the Board adopted the new M-5 zoning district regulations as well as the 


comprehensive plan and the zoning map amendments for this new district.   


 


Again, just as a reminder, the M-5 District was a good, sound public policy decision of the 


Village.  While there still may have been and still are sufficient economic opportunities for 


construction of warehouses and distribution facilities in the corporate park, it’s important to 


conserve our land resources and our economic infrastructure support in order to assist in 


providing new employment opportunities. 


 


This new district, again as a reminder, serves to promote and encourage production, 


manufacturing and office uses and those that support that type of employment as primary uses in 


the Village.  Secondary uses would be warehousing uses in this particular district.  So one of the 


things that we needed to do as part of our amendment is that we needed to modify an auxiliary 


permitted use definition because there are a couple of phrases in there that didn’t make a whole 


lot of sense based on the way we are now going to be using it in this particular district and 


throughout the rest of the districts.  So the modifications that we made are to clarify that auxiliary 


permitted uses are intended to be secondary.   


 


So in this case warehouses are considered secondary uses within this M-5 District.  And then to 


clarify that for retail or service auxiliary uses it’s designed to serve the needs of occupants of the 







Village Board Meeting 


July 15, 2013 


 


 


31 


principle building, as no dedicated outside entrance to the building, and has no signage visible 


from the exterior of the building.  So we’ve used this word auxiliary as it relates to commercial 


related uses as well as manufacturing.  But this just helps to clarify that point so that there’s no 


confusion with respect to the M-5 District.  The staff and the Plan Commission recommend 


approval. 


 


Monica Yuhas: 


 


Motion to approve Ordinance 13-29. 


 


Steve Kumorkiewicz: 


 


Second. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Motion by Monica, second by Steve.  Any further discussion on this item?   


 


 YUHAS MOVED TO CONCUR WITH THE PLAN COMMISSION 


RECOMMENDATION AND ADOPT ORDINANCE #13-29 TO AMEND THE DEFINITION OF 


AUXILIARY PERMITTED USE IN SECTION 420-152 OF THE VILLAGE ZONING 


ORDINANCE; SECONDED BY KUMORKIEWICZ; MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 


 


 C. Consider Resolution #13-16 to initiate the change of address of 5029 93rd Street that 


is inappropriately assigned. 
 


Jean Werbie-Harris: 


 


Mr. President and members of the Board, Resolution 13-16 is a resolution to initiate the change of 


an official address in Pleasant Prairie.  The Board of Trustees may change the official address of a 


property when it’s been brought to the Village’s attention that the address of an existing property 


may cause problems due to it being out of sequence or it could create a problem for emergency 


response personnel, deliveries or other persons trying to relocate to a particular property. 


 


There is an existing home as noted with the star south of 93rd Street west of Cooper Road that 


has an address of 5029 93rd Street.  As you remember as part of the Devonshire development, the 


second phase, Cooper Road was to be extended to the south.  And when Cooper Road was going 


to be extended to the south this particular home was either going to be moved, relocated or an 


address assignment correction had to be made because no longer did it fall within the proper 


sequencing. 


 


Well, that particular development has gone through a foreclosure process, and a new owner 


developer has purchased that property, Double D Two Investments, LLC, and at this time they’ve 


just purchased all of the property, but they are not intending to develop at this time.  They are 


looking to submit, though, a certified survey map to subdivide off this particular home and lot and 







Village Board Meeting 


July 15, 2013 


 


 


32 


dedicate a portion of Cooper Road.  But they are not going to be proceeding with any mass 


development at this point.   


 


But because of that CSM that’s going to be presented to you next month the address for the home 


that’s going to be west of Cooper Road did need to be reassigned.  Someone is going to be 


moving into that home and occupying it for a period of time.  So the purchase of this resolution, 


again, is to initiate the process by which this address change can be promptly evaluated by the 


Village staff and notices can be put together.  The Board by this resolution is not making any 


determinations regarding the merits of the proposed change but just initiating the process by 


which we would hold the public hearing for you to consider this change.  And the public hearing 


for this particular matter is going to be scheduled next month in August.  The staff recommends 


approval of Resolution 13-16. 


 


Michael Serpe: 


 


Is that house empty right now? 


 


Jean Werbie-Harris: 


 


It is. 


 


Michael Serpe: 


 


And it’s been empty for quite some time? 


 


Jean Werbie-Harris: 


 


It has. 


 


Michael Serpe: 


 


Is it inhabitable? 


 


Jean Werbie-Harris: 


 


Yes.  I think it’s the brother-in-law of the owner has been monitoring it, and my understanding is 


that they will probably submit for some remodeling work.  But my understanding is that it’s 


intended to be occupied. 


 


Steve Kumorkiewicz: 


 


Move for approval of the resolution. 


 


Michael Serpe: 


 


I’ll second it with a comment.  So if we have a public hearing nobody is living in it. 







Village Board Meeting 


July 15, 2013 


 


 


33 


 


Jean Werbie-Harris: 


 


Well, the owner will be notified. 


 


Michael Serpe: 


 


It’s not going to affect anybody’s change of address as far as their bank account and everything 


else? 


 


Jean Werbie-Harris: 


 


No, I don’t believe so. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Motion by Steve, second by Mike.  Any further discussion?   


 


 KUMORKIEWICZ MOVED TO ADOPT RESOLUTION #13-16 TO INITIATE THE 


CHANGE OF ADDRESS OF 5029 93RD STREET THAT IS INAPPROPRIATELY ASSIGNED; 


SECONDED BY SERPE; MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 


 


 D. Consider an award of contract for the construction of final public improvements for 


the Whispering Knoll Subdivision. 
 


John Steinbrink: 


 


And do you want to do the E together or just separately? 


 


Mike Pollocoff: 


 


We can do them together. 


 


 E. Consider a Professional Construction Engineering Inspection Services Agreement 


for the Whispering Knoll Subdivision final public improvements. 
 


 F. Consider an award of contract for the installation of street trees in the Whispering 


Knoll Subdivision. 
 


Mike Spence: 


 


Mr. President and members of the Board, we’ve gone through a lot of this prior.  But up here on 


the Board we have the actual components of the contract for the final paving.  Again, it’s the final 


asphalt layer, the patching, curb and gutter repairs, manhole adjustments, the sidewalk and 


miscellaneous repairs.  Again, it shows the subdivision.  We bid this project on June 20th.  We 


got two bids.  The low bid was from Payne and Dolan for $379,242.46.  I’m recommending -- 







Village Board Meeting 


July 15, 2013 


 


 


34 


and, again, this is the number that we used in the assessment calculation.  I’m recommending that 


the contract be awarded to Payne and Dolan.  I also just wanted to note this is under the original 


estimate that we had for the paving.   


 


I guess I can go to the next one, too, if we’re going to do them altogether.  We also have a 


contract to do the construction related services for the project which would include the contract 


administration, the construction staking survey and inspection.  This is an estimated fee on an 


hourly basis.  Again, we monitor during the project to keep that in line.  This fee is $15,673.  


And, again, that was included in the previous assessment estimates. 


 


This one is for the street trees.  Again, we got two bids to install the remaining 54 trees.  Again, 


the drawing there shows, the red dots show the 54 trees.  Just a point of information.  Out of the 


54 trees 40 of them are associated with the lots that are still owned by Whispering Knoll, LLC.  


So unfortunately there are 14 that are by owners that have recently built.  The low bid was from 


Kenosha Grounds Care for $18,635.  Breezy Hill also bid.  I’m recommending that the contract 


be awarded to Kenosha Grounds Care, Inc. 


 


Steve Kumorkiewicz: 


 


So moved. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


They’ve got to be separate.  We’ve got three motions there, Steve.  Which one would you like?  


You’ve got to do Item D first. 


 


Mike Spence: 


 


The first one would be for the award of the contract to Payne and Dolan. 


 


Steve Kumorkiewicz: 


 


I move to approve the contract for Payne and Dolan. 


 


Clyde Allen: 


 


Second. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Motion by Steve, second by Clyde for award of contract for the public improvements for the 


Whispering Knoll Subdivision.  Any further discussion?   


 


 KUMORKIEWICZ MOVED TO AWARD A CONTRACT TO PAYNE & DOLAN IN  


THE AMOUNT OF $379,242.46 FOR THE CONSTRUCTION OF FINAL PUBLIC  


IMPROVEMENTS FOR THE WHISPERING KNOLL SUBDIVISION; SECONDED BY ALLEN;  







Village Board Meeting 


July 15, 2013 


 


 


35 


MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 


 


Mike Spence: 


 


Then the next motion would be for the execution of the contract for construction services. 


 


Clyde Allen: 


 


Make a motion to approve. 


 


Michael Serpe: 


 


Second. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Motion by Clyde, second by Mike for adoption of an engineering inspection services agreement 


for the Whispering Knoll Subdivision. 


 


 ALLEN MOVED TO APPROVE A PROFESSIONAL CONSTRUCTION ENGINEERING 


INSPECTION SERVICES AGREEMENT WITH HOULE ENTERPRISES FOR THE 


WHISPERING KNOLL SUBDIVISION FINAL PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS PROJECT; 


SECONDED BY SERPE; MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 


 


F. Consider an award of contract for the installation of street trees in the Whispering 


Knoll Subdivision. 
 


Michael Serpe: 


 


Move approval of Kenosha Grounds Care $18,635. 


 


Clyde Allen: 


 


Second. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Motion by Mike, second by Clyde for adoption of the installation of street trees for Whispering 


Knoll Subdivision.  Any further discussion?   


  


 SERPE MOVED TO AWARD A CONTRACT FOR THE INSTALLATION OF STREET 


TREES IN THE WHISPERING KNOLL SUBDIVISION TO KENOSHA GROUNDS CARE IN 


THE AMOUNT OF $18,635; SECONDED BY ALLEN; MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 


 


 


 







Village Board Meeting 


July 15, 2013 


 


 


36 


John Steinbrink: 


 


That completes Items D, E and F. 


 


 G. Consider an award of contract for the relocation of a sanitary manhole as part of 


the WisDOT STH 50/I94 interchange project. 
 


Mike Spence: 


 


Mr. President and members of the Board, this item is related to the work that the Wisconsin 


Department of Transportation is doing at State Highway 150 and I-94.  As part of that project 


they’re doing frontage road improvements.  On the East Frontage Road at 116th Avenue there’s 


an existing sanitary sewer manhole that needs to be relocated because during the construction it 


will end up being in the curb.  So this contract is to move this manhole to the east and outside of 


the new pavement.  We solicited a number of bids.  This is the location off of 116th Avenue.  It’s 


just adjacent to the Super 8 Motel.  And we got three bids.  The low bid was from Riesman’s for 


$8,120.  This work will be reimbursed by the DOT with an agreement that we have with them.  


So I’m recommending that this contract be approved for the Riesman’s excavating and grading. 


 


Monica Yuhas: 


 


Make a motion to approve. 


 


Clyde Allen: 


 


Second. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Motion by Monica, second by Clyde for award of this contract.  Any further discussion?  


 


 YUHAS MOVED TO AWARD A CONTRACT FOR THE RELOCATION OF A 


SANITARY MANHOLE AS PART OF THE WISDOT STH 50/I94 INTERCHANGE PROJECT 


TO REESMAN’S EXCAVATING IN THE AMOUNT OF $8,120; SECONDED BY ALLEN; 


MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 


 


 H. Consider the request of Victor Hayden to amend Chapter 119 of the Municipal 


Code relating to vicious dog license requirements. 
 


Jane Romanowski: 


 


Mr. President and Board members, as you will recall on June 12th there was a special hearing 


regarding the vicious dog determination and the appeal of Mr. Hayden at that time to not agree 


with the Police Chief’s determination and the Board voted Tyson was deemed a vicious animal.  


So since that date Mr. Hayden’s been in several times working to license his dog as a vicious 


animal.  He’s talked to the Police Chief and worked with the Police Department as well. 







Village Board Meeting 


July 15, 2013 


 


 


37 


 


To date, and I had the ordinance in the file so you can kind of follow along, he did submit a 


certificate of inoculation from the veterinarian, and the Police Department has inspected the 


fencing and the signage and they’ve approved that.  So what’s outstanding is a certificate of 


liability insurance covering health and personal injury in the amount of $500,000 and property 


damage in the amount of $100,000.  And we’ve not received information from a veterinarian that 


Tyson has been neutered.  And Mr. Hayden indicated that a microchip was already placed in 


Tyson, and we just need the information on that chip rather than that tattooing of the license 


number in the thigh.  We need to know what that information says on the chip.  And the Police 


Chief and I have talked about that. 


 


So as you can see from your information Mr. Hayden filed a request for the Board to amend the 


ordinance to change the requirements with respect to the insurance and the neutering of the dog.  


And as you will remember there was a 30 day requirement for all of this to take place.  But since 


the letter was filed last week in discussion with the Police Chief and Mike we decided not to take 


any action until Mr. Hayden had his time here tonight to discuss this with the Board.  So that’s 


where we’re at at this moment.  So if you need to talk to Mr. Hayden he should come up and 


explain what he’s requesting. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Mr. Hayden, you’re looking to amend Chapter 119.  What would you suggest as an amendment? 


 


Jane Romanowski: 


 


Can I just have your name and address for the record then? 


 


Victor Hayden: 


 


Victor Hayden, Sr., 12137 Sheridan Road, Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin.  Mr. President, I’m not a 


homeowner, I’m a renter.  And the most that they will give a renter is $300,000 instead of the 


$500,000.  I’ve did everything that the Board and the ordinance wants me to.  But as far as the 


insurance they won’t insure me because I’m not a homeowner.  That’s the most they will do is 


$300,000. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


I guess one of my questions is would you be able to secure a $300,000? 


 


Victor Hayden: 


 


I have it. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


I mean you’re saying that’s all they’ll give you but -- 







Village Board Meeting 


July 15, 2013 


 


 


38 


 


Victor Hayden: 


 


I have it. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


And this is for a dog, a vicious dog? 


 


Mike Pollocoff: 


 


Right, the ordinance requires that the owner of a vicious dog that’s been determined vicious be 


able to post with the Village a liability policy in the amount of $500,000.  That’s a fairly old 


amount.  Typically 30 years ago that was a rather large amount.  It doesn’t distinguish between 


owner or tenant or whatever.  That’s the amount that’s established by the ordinance going 


forward.  Mr. Hayden had approached the Clerk saying he wanted to do $300,000, and the 


ordinance doesn’t give us that latitude to make that determination.  For any other dog that’s been 


deemed vicious that’s the amount that is required the owner to post. 


 


Michael Serpe: 


 


Do you have a legitimate quote from an insurance company? 


 


Victor Hayden: 


 


Yes, sir.  I have everything. 


 


Michael Serpe: 


 


Okay.  It’s a $214 policy, $300,000 coverage each occurrence. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


And it lists animal in there?  As Mr. Pollocoff said, even in today’s standards $500,000 is a low 


number. 


 


Michael Serpe: 


 


Where does it say you’re insuring the dog? 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


It can’t be just insuring your personal property, dwelling or contents.  The dog has to be in there 


because the dog is the key issue here. 


 


 







Village Board Meeting 


July 15, 2013 


 


 


39 


Victor Hayden: 


 


My insurance agents know it’s for the dog.  It’s $300,000. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


It has to list specifically the animal in there and the fact that they are willing to stand behind that. 


 


Michael Serpe: 


 


It doesn’t specifically say an animal or a dog. 


 


Victor Hayden: 


 


That’s what she wrote up for me. 


 


Mike Pollocoff: 


 


I think what the ordinance anticipates is everybody should have insurance on their belongings and 


for liability anyway.  But what the ordinance is looking for you to do is to go to your agent, 


identify I have a dog that’s deemed to be vicious, I need to insure this animal for $500,000 so that 


the insurance company knows that they’re not just giving you an umbrella of $300,000 or 


$500,000, that you are in fact specifically seeking insurance on what damages your dog can do.  


It’s not just a general $300,000 umbrella. 


 


Victor Hayden: 


 


I was confused on that.  I went to my agent, I told her -- she knows it’s for the dog.  And she said 


the most that I can insure since I’m not a homeowner is $300,000.  That’s what my agent is 


telling me. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


But on a policy it will tell you what is covered, what protections you have. 


 


Victor Hayden: 


 


Well, Mr. President, I’m going to need more time. 


 


Michael Serpe: 


 


Who’s paying for the care of the animal right now? 


 


Victor Hayden: 


 


I am. 







Village Board Meeting 


July 15, 2013 


 


 


40 


 


Michael Serpe: 


 


Give him more time. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


The Village is paying for it? 


 


Victor Hayden: 


 


I’m paying for it. 


 


Mike Pollocoff: 


 


Have you made a payment? 


 


Victor Hayden: 


 


Yes, I have.  I’ve been making weekly payments on it.  I’m up to $1,200, over $1,200. 


 


Michael Serpe: 


 


What about the neutering of the dog? 


 


Victor Hayden: 


 


I was going to -- neutering doesn’t stop a dog from biting a person.  So I was planning on putting 


one of those behavioral collars around him.  That was another option. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


The collar only works if somebody is there to use it. 


 


Michael Serpe: 


 


I’m not going to bend on the neutering.  But I will consider to the next Board meeting if you can 


come in with an insurance policy that will cover that dog. 


 


Victor Hayden: 


 


Yes, sir. 


 


Michael Serpe: 


 


I don’t know if that’s an unreasonable request, two more weeks. 







Village Board Meeting 


July 15, 2013 


 


 


41 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Who is the insurance company? 


 


Victor Hayden: 


 


Allstate. 


 


Jane Romanowski: 


 


It’s a renter’s policy. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Right, a renter’s policy is totally different than covering an animal. 


 


Steve Kumorkiewicz: 


 


It has to mention the animal, too. 


 


Clyde Allen: 


 


Mr. President, I guess the agenda item is to consider a request to amend Chapter 119.  At this 


point in time we’re not going to consider -- it appears to not to consider amending Chapter 119 


regardless.  None of these requirements have been met, and the $300,000 would be a 


consideration to ask to lower that.  But I can’t see you saying the neutering not being done and 


the information on the microchip.  So at this point in time why would we want to consider 


amending Chapter 119? 


 


Victor Hayden: 


 


Well, as far as neutering him I can’t move him until I get other things done.  I can’t even touch 


my dog to have him neutered.  If I’d had the $500,000 policy I would have been able to move 


Tyson, and then I would have came in to try to amend not neutering him and doing the behavioral 


collar, but I couldn’t -- I’m thinking that the insurance was the most that I could get.  That’s how 


I went to my insurance agent.  And the way she was coming to me was that I could only get 


$300,000.  That’s why when she told me that that’s when I came in and -- 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


$300,000 is what a renter can get, not a renter with insuring a vicious dog. 


 


Victor Hayden: 


 


Mr. President I’ve never had a vicious dog and they’re playing with him at the kennel. 







Village Board Meeting 


July 15, 2013 


 


 


42 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


That needs to be clarified with your agent. 


 


Victor Hayden: 


 


And the people at the kennel was playing with Tyson and making him do tricks. 


 


Mike Pollocoff: 


 


Just so the Board understands, the only action you can take is to consider an ordinance -- if you 


want to direct the staff to modify the ordinance we could do that.  What the owner of the dog has 


to do is find someone that will secure the insurance for the $500,000 in lieu of an ordinance 


change.  I think it increases the risk in the sense that somebody had $300,000 and they owned the 


property they have some collateral equity that would protect someone who was attacked by the 


dog.  In this case it doesn’t exist.  I think it’s more critical in this case that the $500,000 take 


place. 


 


Secondly, Mr. Hayden is wrong.  If, in fact, you get the $500,000 policy to cover the dog, the dog 


can be neutered where it’s at.  You don’t have to take it anyplace.  That work can take place right 


at the shelter where it’s at.  And then the dog can be released to you because then you’ve met all 


the requirements.  If what you’re saying is you’re not going to neuter the dog the discussion is 


moot. 


 


Victor Hayden: 


 


On neutering the dog I’ve talked to quite a few people.  Neutering a dog doesn’t stop a dog from 


biting.  It doesn’t stop a dog from biting neutering the dog.  I mean in that ordinance you had to 


tattoo him.  There’s different techniques now.  They have chips now, they have these behavioral 


collars.  You don’t have to neuter a dog.  He’s a champion.  He’s a champion in the making.  And 


I plan on sending Tyson to school, a military school.  He’s a bullmastiff.  I’m trying to work with 


the Board.  If there’s a way for me to get a $500,000 policy then I’m going to find that way.  But I 


went to my agent and that’s what she told me so I’m thinking that I can’t get coverage. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


I’m not willing to go along to wait two weeks here.  In fact, I’m a little perplexed why we even 


have $500,000 these days.  I think that number actually to be increased when you look at today’s 


liability out there and the cases out there.  This is the Village that’s at risk when we do this.  And 


the Village makes up the difference.  So unfortunate to Mr. Hayden I would want to be going in 


the other direction to increase the $500,000 to protect the Village, protect the residents. 


 


Michael Serpe: 


 


Chief, do you have something to add here?  Could you add something to this? 







Village Board Meeting 


July 15, 2013 


 


 


43 


 


Chief Smetana: 


 


I guess what I’ve got to add is if the ordinance needs to be re-looked at or updated, fine, we can 


do that.  But as far as neutering goes I just don’t buy the argument that it’s not a remedy for an 


aggressive animal.  It’s been a remedy for aggressive animals for decades.  I mean that is what 


they’ve done to take the aggressive mode out of animals.  That and population control.  So I think 


the argument that it’s not going to stop somebody from biting just doesn’t fly.  I think that needs 


to stay in there.  Mr. Hayden knew that it had to stay in there.  So the fact that the couldn’t get his 


hands on the dog to have it neutered I don’t buy that either.   


 


I think he has made some strides.  We’ve looked at his property.  He has made some investment 


in his property to come into the code.  And he has done the signage, he’s done the kennel area.  


I’m not sure if he’s done the mask for the dog if it’s out in public.  


 


[Inaudible] 


 


Chief Smetana: 


 


Okay.  But the two things that are huge is that everybody else has come into compliance with or 


they’ve come into compliance with having their dogs either moved from the area or put down is 


that insurance policy.  That insurance policy protects not only the Village but it protects our 


public as well. 


 


Michael Serpe: 


 


Thanks, Chief.  I would like to suggest that we give Mr. Hayden two more weeks to see if he can 


insure this dog in accordance with the ordinance including having it neutered.  And I’ll give you 


two more weeks to see if you can get insurance for this dog.  If you can get the $500,000 


insurance then we’ll take it up at the next Board meeting.  Is that appropriate do you think? 


 


Jane Romanowski: 


 


What I would suggest is I don’t think it has to be coming back to the Board.  If you’re going to 


extend it you would extend it to a time specific so at that time if nothing happens they’d go with 


what Attorney Camilli recommended a court order either the dog is sold or transferred or put 


down.  But it doesn’t have to come back to the Board because the ordinance is what it is.  And if 


you’re not willing to amend the ordinance then -- 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


As Clyde said what’s before us is to amend the Chapter 119. 


 


 


 


 







Village Board Meeting 


July 15, 2013 


 


 


44 


Jane Romanowski: 


 


So make a date specific so we can get on with the Police Chief and Attorney Camilli to take care 


of this matter.  It doesn’t have to be coming back to the Board.  We’ve already been there. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


And also with that any expense associated with this be borne by him and not the Village.  So is 


there isn’t some payment being made on whatever the costs are here the extension ends. 


 


Victor Hayden: 


 


I’m making the payments on my dog.  My question is as far as you’re telling me to transfer or sell 


what do you mean by that? 


 


Jane Romanowski: 


 


Mr. Hayden you’ve had three copies of the ordinance given to you. 


 


Victor Hayden: 


 


I don’t understand that.  I don’t understand it.  I don’t understand the transfer.  How can I transfer 


this dog or sell it. 


 


Mike Pollocoff: 


 


You transfer the dog by getting it insured and having it neutered and then you can move it to 


another community or you can leave it here but those two things have to happen. 


 


Victor Hayden: 


 


And if I can’t insure then Tyson is put down? 


 


Mike Pollocoff: 


 


Well, yeah, at that point if you can’t comply with the ordinance then the dog would have to be put 


down. 


 


Victor Hayden: 


 


If he’s put down can I get the remains cremated? 


 


Mike Pollocoff: 


 


Yes. 


 







Village Board Meeting 


July 15, 2013 


 


 


45 


Victor Hayden: 


 


Would the Board give me the remains to cremate him? 


 


Mike Pollocoff: 


 


You’ve got to pay for it. 


 


Michael Serpe: 


 


You have to pay for the cremation. 


 


Victor Hayden: 


 


Right, I’ll pay for the cremation. 


 


Jane Romanowski: 


 


It’s not coming back to the Board. 


 


Mike Pollocoff: 


 


Mr. President, if there’s a motion for a new date that he has to comply by. 


 


Clyde Allen: 


 


I’m going to make a motion to deny the request to amend Chapter 119. 


 


Michael Serpe: 


 


I’ll second it. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Motion by Clyde, second by Mike for denial.  


 


Jane Romanowski: 


 


But I have to remind you the 30 days is up, July 12th is up, so you’re not giving him any time.  


That’s what I’m saying.  The 30 days is up as of July 12th.  If you’re going to give him extra time 


make a date specific for him to take care of what he can or can’t so the Board can -- 


 


Michael Serpe: 


 


Let’s do that. 


 







Village Board Meeting 


July 15, 2013 


 


 


46 


Jane Romanowski: 


 


So I understand the motion is to deny the amendment of the ordinance.  But if you’re going to 


give Mr. Hayden some extra time to try to get his policy make it a date specific so at that time we 


can start what Attorney Camilli July 12th would have happened, 30 days out, for him to either -- 


for us to take action. 


 


Clyde Allen: 


 


I will amend that to extend Mr. Hayden’s request to the first Board meeting in August, is that 


correct? 


 


Jane Romanowski: 


 


We don’t have to come back to the Board.  Pick a date specific.  It could be July 26th is a week 


from Friday so that would be almost two weeks. 


 


Clyde Allen: 


 


July 26th it is. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


And that is making sure that all the payments are made. 


 


Clyde Allen: 


 


Correct, with all payments made. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Because if the payments aren’t being made all bets are off. 


 


Clyde Allen: 


 


Yes, that is the extension. 


 


Jane Romanowski: 


 


So you’re denying the amendment to the ordinance and giving Mr. Hayden until July 26th to 


either comply with the ordinance, license his dog, get the insurance policy, have the dog neutered, 


or else the Village goes to take court action like he was instructed. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


As long as the payments have been made. 







Village Board Meeting 


July 15, 2013 


 


 


47 


 


Jane Romanowski: 


 


Okay, and payments, okay. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


The taxpayers don’t need to be on the hook for this. 


 


Mike Pollocoff: 


 


Do you want to make a motion to accept a friendly amendment to have that time pre-paid so we 


would know ahead of time that the payment has been made. 


 


Victor Hayden: 


 


Mr. President, what payments are you talking about? 


 


Mike Pollocoff: 


 


For the storage and kennel care. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


The care and handling of your dog. 


 


Victor Hayden: 


 


Okay, you’re talking about the kennel, the Humane Society. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


And any costs associated with it.  And the word pre-payment has been put into it.  So you want 


the extension, pre-payment is made. 


 


Jane Romanowski: 


 


To July 26th with denial of any ordinance amendments. 


 


Victor Hayden: 


 


Now, if I get the policy, say I get the policy tomorrow -- 


 


Jane Romanowski: 


 


And the dog has to be neutered.  We’d have to have a certificate that the dog was neutered. 







Village Board Meeting 


July 15, 2013 


 


 


48 


 


Victor Hayden: 


 


Then he can come home? 


 


Jane Romanowski: 


 


And the payments are all made is what you were saying, any payment for any kennel care or 


anything was made. 


 


Victor Hayden: 


 


He can come home? 


 


Mike Pollocoff: 


 


That’s correct. 


 


Jane Romanowski: 


 


As long as you comply with the ordinance.  And the information from the microchip.  We just 


need a veterinarian certificate that says what does that microchip say.  And on the inoculation 


certificate. 


 


[Inaudible] 


 


Jane Romanowski: 


 


When was that done? 


 


[Inaudible] 


 


Jane Romanowski: 


 


Oh, okay, and with the information that says what it says.  Okay, I see, okay.  So the two big 


items are the insurance policy and the neutering certificate.  And he has to July 26th and pre-


payment of all fees from where he’s being kept. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


To that date. 


 


Jane Romanowski: 


 


To that date. 


 







Village Board Meeting 


July 15, 2013 


 


 


49 


John Steinbrink: 


 


We have a motion and a second.  Any further discussion? 


 


Clyde Allen: 


 


Do we need to add the part about if he wants him cremated he needs to pay for the cremation and 


the remains? 


 


Mike Pollocoff: 


 


The remains would be turned over to him and he can do whatever he wants. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


We have a motion, we have a second.   


 


 ALLEN MOVED TO DENY THE REQUEST OF VICTOR HAYDEN TO AMEND 


CHAPTER 119 OF THE MUNICIPAL CODE RELATING TO VICIOUS DOG LICENSE 


REQUIREMENTS AND TO EXTEND THE DEADLINE FOR MR. HAYDEN TO EITHER SELL 


OR TRANSFER HIS DOG TYSON OR COMPLY WITH THE VICIOUS DOG LICENSING 


REGULATIONS, INCLUDING PAYMENT IN FULL OF ALL FEES TO FRIDAY JULY 26
, 


2013; SECONDED BY SERPE; MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 


 


Victor Hayden: 


 


Thank you, Mr. President and the Board. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Good luck. 


 


 I. Consider disallowance of a claim submitted by Jeannine Lee for an injury incurred 


at the RecPlex on January 18, 2012. 
 


Mike Pollocoff: 


 


Mr. President, we received a claim for damages by Jeannine Lee for a fall at the RecPlex.  We’ve 


turned this over to our insurance company for review.  Based on their review they’re 


recommending that the claim be disallowed.  It would be my recommendation to the Board for 


the Board to take the recommendation to disallow the claim so that we can start the clock for any 


additional claims to be made. 


 


Michael Serpe: 


 


So moved. 







Village Board Meeting 


July 15, 2013 


 


 


50 


 


Monica Yuhas: 


 


Second. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Motion by Mike, second by Monica.  Further discussion?   


 


 SERPE MOVED TO DISALLOW THE CLAIM SUBMITTED BY JEANNINE LEE FOR 


AN INJURY INCURRED AT THE RECPLEX ON JANUARY 18, 2012; SECONDED BY 


YUHAS; MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 


 


 J. Consider disallowance of a claim submitted by Ricardo Rojas for damage to a 


vehicle caused by a parking lot gate arm at the RecPlex on February 20, 2013. 
 


Mike Pollocoff: 


 


Mr. President, again this is a claim that has been submitted at the RecPlex.  We’ve forwarded that 


to our insurance company for investigation.  They’ve indicated in their review that the RecPlex 


was not negligent, that the issue with the gate is with the manufacturer of the gate, and they’re 


recommending the claim be denied. 


 


Clyde Allen: 


 


So moved. 


 


Michael Serpe: 


 


Second.  How did that accident happen? 


 


Mike Pollocoff: 


 


The gate just came down randomly. 


 


Steve Kumorkiewicz: 


 


Malfunction. 


 


Michael Serpe: 


 


But the whole stand it moved. 


 


Mike Pollocoff: 


 


No, somebody hit it for that. 







Village Board Meeting 


July 15, 2013 


 


 


51 


 


Michael Serpe: 


 


You mean there was something else? 


 


Mike Pollocoff: 


 


It was something else. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


We have a motion, we have a second.  Any further discussion?   


 


 ALLEN MOVED TO DISALLOW THE CLAIM SUBMITTED BY RICARDO ROJAS 


FOR DAMAGE TO A VEHICLE CAUSED BY A PARKING LOT GATE ARM AT THE 


RECPLEX ON FEBRUARY 20, 2013;SECONDED BY SERPE; MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 


 


 K. Consider Ordinance #13-30 to amend Chapter 242 of the Municipal Code relating to 


RecPlex Membership Fees. 
 


Chris Finkel: 


 


Mr. President and members of the Board, I’d like for you to consider amendment #13-30.  During 


the recent difficult economic years the RecPlex has been able to maintain membership rates 


despite our rising costs.  And as we all know staff has taken great pride in having a wonderful 


facility.  It’s kept up to the utmost, and we’d like to continue maintaining the facility and the 


standard.  The building is now about 13 years old, and we’re faced with different needs and 


maintenance.  We’ve had a couple of air units go this year.  And we just are faced with the fact 


that we need to propose a membership increase for the first time in two and a half years to keep 


up with our rising costs. 


 


The proposal is a primary adult member rate increase of $3 per month and a second adult member 


rate increase of $2 per month.  Also, for the first time ever, there’s a facility fee increase for new 


members of $25 making it $125, and for our corporate membership it’s $15 more.  So instead of 


$50 it would be $65.  Also in this ordinance change there is a corporate partner membership type 


that has been allowed by the Board in the past through sponsorship agreements, but it is not in the 


ordinance.  So we’d like to include that corporate partner membership into the ordinance.  I’d like 


to note that we’re not increasing senior or youth member rates at all.  And these rates would go 


into effect on September 1, 2013.  We do need to notify our memberships of any rate increase.  


 


As I stated we have not increased the rates for two and a half years.  This is a six percent increase 


of these two membership types, the primary and secondary.  And with all hopes that we would 


not increase again in another two years or two and a half years.  There would be a 1.2 percent 


increase over five years.  That is it.  The recommendation is to accept this ordinance change. 


 


 







Village Board Meeting 


July 15, 2013 


 


 


52 


Monica Yuhas: 


 


Motion to approve Ordinance 13-30. 


 


Steve Kumorkiewicz: 


 


Second. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Motion by Monica, second by Steve for adopt of Ordinance 13-30.  Further discussion?   


 


 YUHAS MOVED TO ADOPT ORDINANCE #13-30 TO AMEND CHAPTER 242 OF THE 


MUNICIPAL CODE RELATING TO RECPLEX MEMBERSHIP FEES; SECONDED BY 


KUMORKIEWICZ; MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 


 


 L. Consider denial of a second invoice submitted by Ron Sierra for perceived use 


payment on parcel #93-4-123-203-0200. 
 


Mike Pollocoff: 


 


Mr. President, the claim de jour of Mr. Sierra is an equal amount as last time along with interest 


penalties.  I’m recommending this claim be denied.  We’ve also forwarded this to our insurance 


carrier to defend the Village from the action that Mr. Sierra is taking.  So I’d request that this 


claim payment be denied. 


 


Michael Serpe: 


 


So moved. 


 


Clyde Allen: 


 


Second. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Motion by Clyde, second by Mike.  Any further discussion? 


 


Steve Kumorkiewicz: 


 


One question, that property is on Lake Shore Drive, the west side? 


 


Mike Pollocoff: 


 


Yes. 


 







Village Board Meeting 


July 15, 2013 


 


 


53 


Steve Kumorkiewicz: 


 


Okay, thank you. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Motion and a second.   


 


 ALLEN MOVED TO DENY A SECOND INVOICE SUBMITTED BY RON SIERRA FOR 


PERCEIVED USE PAYMENT ON PARCEL #93-4-123-203-0200; SECONDED BY SERPE; 


MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 


 


 M. Consider reappointments to the Community Development Authority. 
 


Mike Pollocoff: 


 


Mr. President, I’m recommending that John Steinbrink and Monica Yuhas be reappointed for 


terms of one year to the Community Development Authority. 


 


Clyde Allen: 


 


Motion to approve. 


 


Michael Serpe: 


 


Second. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Motion by Clyde, second by Mike.  Any discussion?  Do we note on this or do we not vote on 


this? 


 


Mike Pollocoff: 


 


You vote. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


We vote?  I get to vote for myself?  This is a great country.  Motion and a second.  No further 


discussion.   


 


 ALLEN MOVED TO REAPPOINT JOHN STEINBRINK AND MONICA YUHAS TO 


ONE YEAR TERMS TO THE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY; SECONDED BY 


SERPE; MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 


 







Village Board Meeting 


July 15, 2013 


 


 


54 


 N. Consider approval of Operator License Applications on file and the denial of the 


Operator License Application submitted by Adam Rocha.  
 


Jane Romanowski: 


 


This is pretty easy.  There are two applications tonight for approval for Ariana Saunders and 


Molly Thompson.  And as you can see from the information the Police Chief has supplied for the 


application of Adam Rocha he is not to possess or consume alcoholic beverages and is not to be 


in taverns or any premises located for the sale of intoxicating beverages except restaurants.  So he 


according to the Chief does not meet our matrix because of his probation.  So I would recommend 


as well as the Police Chief that we deny his operator’s license. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


And for which establishment is this for? 


 


Jane Romanowski: 


 


Well, it wouldn’t make a difference, but it actually was for I believe Chili’s.  I think it was 


Chili’s.  And the probation started in May and it’s for a year at this point and that’s what the 


record shows. 


 


Clyde Allen: 


 


I’ll make a motion to approve the two recommended and a motion to deny Adam Rocha. 


 


Michael Serpe: 


 


Motion by Clyde, second by Mike for adoption of the two applications and denial in concurrence 


with the denial of operator license submitted by Adam Rocha.  Further discussion?   


 


 ALLEN MOVED TO APPROVE THE OPERATOR LICENSES FOR ARIANA 


SAUNDERS AND MOLLY THOMPSON AND TO CONCUR WITH THE POLICE CHIEF’S 


RECOMMENDATION TO DENY TO OPERATOR LICENSE OF ADAM ROCHA DUE TO 


THE RESTRICTIONS OF HIS PROBATION; SECONDED BY SERPE; MOTION CARRIED 5-


0. 


 


9. VILLAGE BOARD COMMENTS 
 


Steve Kumorkiewicz: 


 


Don’t forget this coming Saturday we’re going to have the first concert by the lake.  It starts at six 


o’clock. 


 


 


 







Village Board Meeting 


July 15, 2013 


 


 


55 


Monica Yuhas: 


 


And 116th is looking good, Mike.  It looks like the second lift is on and all they’re going to have 


to do it stripe. 


 


10. ADJOURNMENT 
 


 YUHAS MOVED TO ADJOURN THE MEETING; SECONDED BY KUMORKIEWICZ; 


MOTION CARRIED 5-0 AND MEETING ADJOURNED AT 8:50 P.M. 







WHEREAS, during March of 1973, the United States officially ended military involvement in 
Vietnam after participating in what remains one of the longest wars in our country’s history; and 


WHEREAS, the last American casualties occurred in Vietnam in 1975 during a civilian rescue 
mission, and more than 58,000 American men and women lost their lives during the Vietnam War; and


WHEREAS, it is important to honor the men and women who served our country and fought against 
the spread of communism in Vietnam; and


WHEREAS, since their return, surviving veterans of the Vietnam War have contributed tremendously 
to their communities, their states and the nation; and


WHEREAS, area veterans and community organizations have joined together to bring The Moving 
Wall to Prairie Springs Park in the Village of Pleasant Prairie between the dates of September 12, 2013 and 
September 16, 2013; and


WHEREAS, The Moving Wall is a half-size replica of the Washington, D.C. Vietnam Veterans 
Memorial. The Moving Wall was conceived of and built by Vietnam Veterans as a remembrance and healing 
tool for all those who may never have a chance to visit the Memorial in Washington, D.C.; and 


WHEREAS, the Pleasant Prairie Village Board of Trustees wishes to welcome The Moving Wall to 
the Village of Pleasant Prairie, to express our utmost respect and appreciation for our country’s veterans, and 
to express gratitude to those helping to bring The Moving Wall to the community.


NOW, THEREFORE, I, John P. Steinbrink, President of the Village of Pleasant Prairie, do hereby 
proclaim the period between September 12, 2013 and September 16, 2013 as the official visit of The Moving 
Wall to Prairie Springs Park and encourage all in the community to visit The Moving Wall during its time 
here to honor those men and women who lost their lives in the service of our country during the Vietnam War.


      GIVEN, under my hand and the Seal of the
      Village of Pleasant Prairie, on this 5th day of
      August, 2013.


      
   
      _______________________________________
      John P. Steinbrink, President


�


The Village of Pleasant Prairie
Office of the Village President







MEMORANDUM 
 
 
TO:   Village Board of Trustees 
 
FROM:  Jane M. Romanowski 


Village Clerk 
 
DATE:  July 30, 2013 
 
RE:   Liquor License Application – Cheddar’s Casual Cafe 
 
 
On July 16, 2013, Tina Wesley, agent for Cheddar’s Casual Café, Inc., submitted a Class “B” 
Fermented Malt Beverage (Beer) License and Reserve “Class B” Intoxicating Liquor License 
Application for the Cheddar’s restaurant currently under construction at 10366 77th Street.   
 
This is the third Reserve “Class B” Intoxicating Liquor License application received by the Village 
with Famous Dave’s and The Olive Garden being the two reserved licenses currently issued.  
Reserve “Class B” liquor licenses are those licenses available under the quota system existing 
before December 1, 1997 that were not granted or issued by the municipality at that time.  The 
reserve license regulations mirror the Regular “Class B” Intoxicating Liquor Licenses regulations 
but again were determined by law to be classified after December 1, 1997 as reserve licenses.  The 
number of reserve Class B licenses available to a municipality is determined by engaging in a 
series of calculations as outlined by State Statutes, and the Village currently has 19 reserve 
licenses available. 
 
The initial issuance fee for a reserve license is $10,000 plus an annual “Class B” Liquor license fee 
of $500.  The $10,000 initial issuance fee is a one-time fee, and annual fees set forth by Ordinance 
will only apply when the license is renewed.  The license fee for a Class “B” Fermented Malt 
Beverage License is $100. 
 
In accordance with Chapter 194 of the Municipal Code, the Board may grant a license prior to the 
completed project, but the establishment must be open within 90 days of board approval.  The 
Board, for cause as outlined in Village ordinances, may extend the time to open to 180 days. 
 
The Police Department check has been completed and the ownership, publication and residency 
requirements have been satisfied.  There are no delinquent taxes or invoices on record.  Cheddar’s 
proposes to open this establishment in early September. 
 
If the Village Board approves this application, the following items must be received prior to issuance 
of the license: 
 


1. Documentation that Tina Wesley has satisfied the training requirements which 
entails either completing a responsible beverage server training course or provide 
proof that Ms. Wesley has either held an individual Operator’s License or has held a 
liquor license for an establishment in the State of Wisconsin in the last two years.  


2. Payment of the Initial $10,000 Reserve “Class B” Liquor License fee. 
3. Payment of prorated annual license fees from the date of issuance to 6/30/14. 
4. Payment of publication costs. 
5. Certificates of Occupancy issued by the Community Development Department and 


Fire & Rescue Department. 
 


* * * * * 







Consider Resolution #13-17 to change the official address of the house at 5029 93rd 


Street that is inappropriately assigned to 5149 93rd Street. 


 


Recommendation:  Plan Commission recommends that the Village Board approve the 


address change for the house located at 5029 93rd Street to 5149 93rd Street as 


presented. 


 


 







 
2 


 


VILLAGE STAFF REPORT OF AUGUST 5, 2013 


Consider Resolution #13-17 to change the official address of the house at 5029 93rd 


Street that is inappropriately assigned to 5149 93rd Street. 


 


On July 15, 2013, the Village initiated the change of an official address of 5029 93rd Street 


(western most home on Outlot 4 of the Devonshire Subdivision) because it does not fall 


within the proper address sequencing order.   


On July 18, 2013 the Village sent a notice to the property owner related to the proposed 


changes noting that a public hearing will be held on August 5, 2013 to discuss said change.  


The address is proposed to be changed from 5029 93rd Street to 5149 93rd Street. Said 


changes shall be effective August 15, 2013. 


 


The Plan Commission at its July 22, 2013 meeting recommended that the Village Board 


approve the address change for the westernmost home from  5029 93rd Street to 5149 


93rd Street as presented in Resolution #13-17. 







VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
RESOLUTION #13-17 


 


 
RESOLUTION TO CHANGE OF THE OFFICIAL ADDRESS OF A PROPERTY IN THE 


VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE, KENOSHA COUNTY, WISCONSIN 
 
 


WHEREAS, the Village Board of Trustees of the Village of Pleasant Prairie, Kenosha 
County, Wisconsin, pursuant to Article IV of the Village Ordinances may change the official 
address of a property; and 


WHEREAS, on July 15, 2013, the Village initiated the change of an official address 
5029 93rd Street (western most home on Outlot 4 of the Devonshire Subdivision) on a 
portion of the property identified as Tax Parcel Number 92-4-122-232-1304 that does not 
fall within the proper address sequencing order; and 


WHEREAS, on July 18, 2013 the Village sent a notice to the property owner related 
to the proposed changes and that a Public Hearing will be held on August 5, 2013 to discuss 
said change; and  


WHEREAS, on July 22, 2013, the Village Plan Commission recommended that the 
addresses be changed from 5029 93rd Street to 5149 93rd Street to resolve the 
aforementioned concern; and  


WHEREAS, the Village Board of Trustees conducted a Public Hearing on August 5, 
2013 to consider said address changes. 


NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the official street address for the 
western most home on Tax Parcel Number 92-4-122-232-1304 is changed from 5029 93rd 
Street to 5149 93rd Street.  Said changes shall be effective August 15, 2013. 


Adopted this 5th day of August 2013. 
 


        VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE 
 
ATTEST: 
 


______________________________ 
______________________________  John P. Steinbrink 
Jane M. Romanowski     Village President 
Village Clerk 
 
Posted:  __________________________ 
 
17-Adrerss corrections 232-1304 Final.doc 







1 inch =  129 feet


DISCLAIMER  This ma p is neither a  legally recorded ma p nor a survey and is not intended to be used as one.  This drawing is a compilation of records, data and in formation loca ted in  var iou s state, county and municipal office s 
and other source s affecting the area sh own and is to be used for reference  purposes only.  Kenosha County is no t responsible for any inaccuracies he rein co ntaine d.  If discrepa ncies are fou nd, please contact Kenosha Cou nty.


KENOSHA COUNTY 
INTERACTIVE MAPPING


¨


     


Date Printed : 7/18/2013



pherrick

Typewritten Text

5029 93rd Streetto be changed to 5149 93rd Street



pherrick

Typewritten Text



pherrick

Typewritten Text



pherrick

Typewritten Text



pherrick

Typewritten Text



pherrick

Line







1 
 


Consider a Zoning Map Amendment (Ord. #13-31) for the request of James and Linda 


Carpenter, owners of the property located at 11450 23rd Avenue to rezone the property from R-4 


(UHO), Urban Single Family Residential District with an Urban Landholding Overlay District into 


the R-4 (AGO), Urban Single Family Residential District with a General Agricultural Overlay 


District. 


Recommendation:  On July 22, 2013 the Plan Commission held a public hearing and 


recommended that the Village Board approve the Zoning Map Amendment (Ord. #13-31) as 


presented. 







2 
 


VILLAGE STAFF REPORT OF AUGUST 5, 2013 


Consider a Zoning Map Amendment (Ord. #13-31) for the request of James and Linda 


Carpenter, owners of the property located at 11450 23rd Avenue to rezone the property from R-4 


(UHO), Urban Single Family Residential District with an Urban Landholding Overlay District into 


the R-4 (AGO), Urban Single Family Residential District with a General Agricultural Overlay 


District. 


 


The petitioner is requesting a zoning map amendment to rezone the property located at 11450 


23rd Avenue from R-4 (UHO), Urban Single Family Residential District with an Urban Landholding 


Overlay District into the R-4 (AGO), Urban Single Family Residential District with a General 


Agricultural Overlay District.   The petitioners are requesting to the rezone the 12.4 acre property 


so that the vacant property may be farmed. 


A portion of the property is located within a shoreland jurisdictional area and the Wisconsin 


Department of Natural Resources Wetland Inventory Map indicates that there may be wetlands 


along the navigable waterway.  The waterway is not allowed to be filled or altered and farming 


activities shall not affect the drainage on adjacent and downstream properties.  The wetlands are 


allowed to be farmed, provided that they are not filled; however, when farming activities stop, 


the farmed-wetland areas will likely revert back to wetlands and will need to be protected from 


development.   


The AGO District requires that lots be a minimum of 10 acres with 300 feet of frontage on a public 


roadway.  The property meets these minimum requirements. 


The proposed zoning map amendment is compliant with the Village of Pleasant Prairie 2035 


Comprehensive Land Use Plan Map 9.9.  Specifically, Map 9.9 indicates that this property is within 


the Low-Medium Density Residential land use designation with an Urban Reserve land use 


designation.  In addition, the northern portion of the property is located within the secondary 


environmental corridor which may include wetlands. 


On July 22, 2013 the Plan Commission held a public hearing and recommended that the Village 


Board approve the Zoning Map Amendment (Ord. #13-31) as presented. 


 







 


 


 
 
 


ORD. # 13-31 
 


ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE OFFICIAL ZONING MAP 
OF THE VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE, 


KENOSHA COUNTY, WISCONSIN 
PURSUANT TO CHAPTER 420-13 OF THE VILLAGE ZONING ORDINANCE 


 
BE IT ORDAINED by the Village of Pleasant Prairie Board of Trustees, 


Kenosha County, Wisconsin, that the Official Village Zoning Map is hereby amended 
as follows: 
 
The subject property located at 11450 23rd Avenue in U.S. Public Land Survey Section 5, 
Township 1 North, Range 22 East in the Village of Pleasant Prairie and further identified as 
Tax Parcel Number 92-4-122-254-0099 and the adjacent portion of the right-of-way are 
hereby rezoned from the R-4 (UHO), Urban Single Family Residential District with an Urban 
Landholding Overlay District to the R-4 (AGO), Urban Single Family Residential District with 
a General Agricultural Overlay District. 


The Village Zoning Administrator is hereby directed to record this Zoning Map Amendment 
on the appropriate sheet of the Official Village Zoning Map and Appendix B in Chapter 420 of 
the Village Municipal Code shall be updated to include said amendments. 


Adopted this 5th day of August, 2013. 
 


VILLAGE BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
 
 


_________________________ 
John P. Steinbrink 
Village President 


ATTEST: 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Jane M. Romanowski 
Village Clerk 
 
Posted:____________ 
 
31-Carpenter AGO .doc 



















Consider the request of Jonah Hetland of Bear Development, agent for the owners of Lots 


19 and 20 of the Westfield Heights Subdivision for a Lot Line Adjustment to add 5,312 


square feet of land to Lot 20 from Lot 19 for the proposed development of Goddard School. 


Recommendation:   


The Plan Commission, at its July 22, 2013 meeting recommended that the Village Board 


approve the Lot Line Adjustment subject to the comments and conditions of the Village 


Staff Report of August 5, 2013. 







 
2 


 


VILLAGE STAFF REPORT OF AUGUST 5, 2013 


Consider the request of Jonah Hetland of Bear Development, agent for the owners of Lots 


19 and 20 of the Westfield Heights Subdivision for a Lot Line Adjustment to add 5,312 


square feet of land to Lot 20 from Lot 19 for the proposed development of Goddard School. 


 


The petitioner is requesting to adjust the lot line between Lots 19 and 20 of the Westfield 


Heights Subdivision. Specifically 5,312 square feet of land is being adjusted and added to 


Lot 19.  After the adjustment, Lot 19 will be 109,212 square feet (2.507 acres) and Lot 20 


will be 56,784 square feet (1.304 acres). 


The Lot Line Adjustment is being requested so that all the improvements associated with 


the Goddard School development on Lot 19 as conditionally approved by the Plan 


Commission on April 22, 2013 will be located entirely within Lot 19. 


The proposed Lot Line Adjustment complies with the requirements set forth in the Village 


Zoning Ordinance and Land Division and Development Control Ordinance. 


The Plan Commission recommends approval of the Lot Line Adjustment subject to 


the above comments and the following conditions: 


1. The petitioner shall record the proper transfer documents with the Plat of Survey for 


the Lot Line Adjustment as an Exhibit at the Kenosha County Register of Deeds 


Office within 30 days of final Village approval.  The petitioner shall provide proof of 


recording to the Village  


2. Upon recording the transfer documents a legal description of Lot 20 and the portion 


of Lot 19 being added to it shall be provided to the Village in a WORD format to be 


used to finalize all the required documents for the Goddard School Development. 


3. As a result of amending the property boundaries, the comprehensive land use map 


to remove the urban reserve area for the area being added to Lot 20.  In addition, 


the Zoning Map will need to be amended to rezone the area being added to Lot 20 


from the B-2 (UHO) to the B-2 (PUD) and a Zoning Text Amendment to amend the 


PUD for Goddard School to correct the legal description for the property.  A letter has 


been submitted requesting these amendments and the required public hearings will 


be scheduled.  


 















4
0
'


S
C
A
L
E
 
1"=


2
0
'


2
0
'


0
'


2
0
'


4
0
'


HVSPOO


C
-6 5C
-6 2C
-6 1C
-8 2


C
-7 3


C
-9 4


C
-8 4


C
-6 4


C
-6 4


C
-8 3


C
-6 1


C
-6 2


C
-8 3


C
-9 5


Area to be  
added to parcel







ORDINANCE NO. 13-32 


ORDINANCE TO AMEND SECTION 292-13  


OF THE VILLAGE MUNICIPAL ORDINACE  


RELATED TO THE LOCATION OF SOLID WASTE  


AND RECYCLING CONTAINERS  


IN THE VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE,  


KENOSHA COUNTY, WISCONSIN 


 


THE VILLAGE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE, 


KENOSHA COUNTY, WISCONSIN, DO ORDAIN THAT Section 292-13 F is hereby created 


to read as follows:  


 


F. Solid waste and recyclable containers must be removed from the curbside as 


soon as possible after collection or within 12 hours of collection.  Containers 


shall be stored in an inconspicuous location along the side or rear of the 


house or garage, or inside the garage or shed.  Containers shall be properly 


screened from public view except on garbage collection days. 


 


Adopted this 5th day of August, 2013. 


VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE 


 


 


  


ATTEST:     John P. Steinbrink 


Village President 


 


 


  


Jane M. Romanowski 


Village Clerk 


 


Posted:    


 
32- Garbage Bins.docx 







1 
 


Consider the request of Jo A Figueroa of Equity Lifestyle Properties, Inc., agent on behalf of 


RC Westwood Estates LLC, owner for the Termination and Release from the 


Memorandum of Development Agreement and the amendment to the Development 


Agreement entered into by and between the previous land Owner (Westwood Estates LLC) 


and the Village of Pleasant Prairie for public-related infrastructure improvements in the 


Westwood Estates Manufactured Housing Addition. 


Recommendation: 


The Village staff recommends approval of the Termination of the Memorandum of 


Development Agreement and the Amendment to the Development Agreement and further 


recommends that the Village President and Clerk be authorized to execute the document 


and record said termination at the Kenosha County Register of Deeds Office.  


  







2 
 


VILLAGE STAFF REPORT OF AUGUST 5, 2013 


Consider the request of Jo A Figueroa of Equity Lifestyle Properties, Inc., agent on behalf of 


RC Westwood Estates LLC, owner for the Termination and Release from the 


Memorandum of Development Agreement and the amendment to the Development 


Agreement entered into by and between the previous land Owner (Westwood Estates LLC) 


and the Village of Pleasant Prairie for public-related infrastructure improvements in the 


Westwood Estates Manufactured Housing Addition. 


 


The petitioner is requesting termination and release from the Memorandum of Development 


Agreement and the Amendment to the Development Agreement entered into by and 


between the previous land Owner (Westwood Estates, Inc.) and the Village of Pleasant 


Prairie for public-related infrastructure improvements in the Westwood Estates 


Manufactured Housing Addition.  


A Memorandum of Development Agreement between the Village of Pleasant Prairie and 


Westwood Estates, Inc. was recorded on May 18, 1999, with the Kenosha County Register 


of Deeds as Document No. 1145052 and was amended by an Amendment to the 


Development Agreement as recorded on May 15, 2001, with the Kenosha County Register of 


Deeds as Document No. 1218834. 


All of the public related improvements as referenced in the Agreements have been 


completed, inspected and accepted by the Village and accepted by the Village pursuant to 


Resolution #11-46.  In addition, all of the obligations referenced in the Agreements have 


been fulfilled and financial securities held by the Village have been disbursed with the 


exception of $2,636.11 for the replacement warranty for the six (6) street trees. 


The Village staff recommends approval of the Termination of the Memorandum of 


Development Agreement and the amendment to the Development Agreement and further 


recommends that the Village President and Clerk be authorized to execute the document 


and record said termination at the Kenosha County Register of Deeds Office.  


 











   


 


 
DOCUMENT NO. 
 


TERMINATION OF DEVELOPMENT 


AGREEMENT 


 


 


 


THIS TERMINATION OF DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT is 


made as of the _____ day of August, 2013, by the Village of 


Pleasant Prairie, a Wisconsin municipal corporation, (“Village”). 


 


A. On May 18, 1999, the Village and Westwood 


Estates, Inc. (“Developer”), entered into a Development 


Agreement (“Development Agreement”) affecting certain real 


property located in Kenosha County, Wisconsin, and more 


particularly described on Exhibit A attached hereto and made a 


part hereof.  A Memorandum of Development Agreement between 


the Village of Pleasant Prairie and Westwood Estates, Inc. was 


recorded on May 18, 1999, with the Kenosha County Register of 


Deeds as Document No. 1145052 and was amended by that certain 


Amendment to the Development Agreement between the Village 


of Pleasant Prairie and Westwood Estates Inc, regarding the 


Westwood Estates Manufactured Housing Addition, recorded on 


May 15, 2001, with the Kenosha County Register of Deeds as 


Document No. 1218834.  


 


B. RC Westwood Estates LLC, a Wisconsin limited 


liability company owns real property described in Exhibit B 


attached hereto (the “Property”). 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 
THIS SPACE RESERVED FOR RECORDING DATA 


 


 


NAME AND RETURN ADDRESS 


Daniel J. Perlman, Esq. 


Kirkland & Ellis LLP 


300 North LaSalle Street   


Chicago, Illinois 60654 
 
Parcel Identification Number:  


91-4-122-092-0300, 91-4-122-093-0101,  


91-4-122-093-0105  
 


C. All of Developer’s required public improvement obligations under the 


Development Agreement with respect to the Property have been fulfilled and all amounts due 


thereunder have been paid or discharged. 


D. The Village desires by this instrument to cause a notice of the termination of the 


Development Agreement with respect to the Property to be set forth in the public record. 


NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration the receipt and sufficiency of 


which are hereby acknowledged, the Village declares, covenants and agrees that all obligations 


of Developer under the Development Agreement with respect to the Property have been satisfied 


in their entirety and all amounts due thereunder have been paid or discharged and the 


Development Agreement is of no further force or effect whatsoever with respect to the Property. 


[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 


[SIGNATURES ON FOLLOWING PAGE] 







2 


IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Village hereto has executed this Agreement as of the date 


first written above. 


VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE 


 


 


By: _______________________________________ 


Name: John P. Steinbrink 


Its: Village President 


 


ATTEST: 


 


By:  ________________________________   


Name: Jane M. Romanowski  


Its:  Village Clerk  


 


 


 


 


 


STATE OF WISCONSIN ) 


 ) ss. 


COUNTY OF KENOSHA ) 


The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this _____ day of ________,  in 


Pleasant Prairie, WI, by John P. Steinbrink, the Village President and Jane M. Romanowski, the 


Village Clerk of Village of Pleasant Prairie, for and on behalf thereof. 


__________________________________________ 


Print Name: _______________________________ 


Kenosha County, WI Notary Public 


My commission expires: ______________________ 


 


 


 


 


This Instrument Drafted by: 


Ryan Solow, Esq. 


Kirkland & Ellis LLP 


300 North LaSalle Street   


Chicago, Illinois 60654







Exhibit A 


 
 


 







4 


Exhibit B 


Westwood Estates 


Westwood Estates 


7801 88th Ave. 


Pleasant Prairie, WI 53158 


Parcel A: 


The South Half of the Northwest 1/4 Section 9, Township 1 North, Range 22 East of the 4th 


Principal Meridian lying West of the West line of the Chicago, Milwaukee, St. Paul & Pacific 


Railroad and East of the East line of County Trunk Highway "H" (88th Avenue) excepting 


therefrom the South 640 feet of the West 866.99 feet thereof, all lying and being in the Town 


(now Village) of Pleasant Prairie, Kenosha County, Wisconsin, and being more particularly 


described as: Commencing on the West line of said 1/4 Section N 2° 50' 02" W 640.00 feet from 


the Southwest corner thereof; thence N 88° 16' 36" E parallel to the South line of said 1/4 section 


33.01 feet to the East line of County Trunk Highway "H" (88th Avenue) and the point of 


beginning of the property to be herein described; thence N 2° 50' 02" W parallel to the West line 


of said 1/4 Section, and along the East line of said Highway, 54.18 feet; thence Northeasterly 


185.11 feet along the Easterly line of said Highway, which is the arc of a circular curve concave 


to the Northwest, said curve having a central angle of 10° 33' 14", a radius of 1,004.93 feet, and a 


chord which bears N 2° 26' 35" E 184.85 feet to a point of tangency; thence N 2° 50' 02" W 


parallel to and 50 feet Easterly from the West line of said 1/4 Section, and along the East line of 


said Highway, 448.54 feet and to the North line of the South half of said 1/4 Section; thence N 


88° 07' 39" E along said North line 2,366.45 feet and to the West right of way line of the 


Chicago, Milwaukee, St. Paul & Pacific Railroad; thence S 1° 39' 52" E along the West line of 


said railroad 1,333.02 feet and to the South line of said 1/4 Section; thence S 88° 16' 36" W 


along said South line 1,491.36 feet and to a point that is 900.00 feet Easterly from the West line 


of said 1/4 Section; thence N 2° 50' 02" W parallel to said West line 640.00 feet; thence S 88° 16' 


36" W parallel to the South line of said 1/4 Section 866.99 feet to the point of beginning. 


Tax Key No. 91-4-122-092-0300 


Parcel B: 


Part of the Southwest 1/4 of Section 9, Township 1 North of Range 2 East of the Fourth Principal 


Meridian, more particularly described as: Commencing at the Northwest corner of said 


Southwest 1/4; thence South on the West line of said 1/4 section Forty-two (42) rods, Twelve 


and One-half (12 1/2) feet; thence East, parallel with the North line to the East line of the right-


of-way of the Chicago, Milwaukee and St. Paul Railway; thence North on the East line of said 


right-of-way of said Railway Company to the North line of said 1/4 Section; thence West on the 


North line of said 1/4 Section, to the place of beginning; and lying and being in the Village of 


Pleasant Prairie, County of Kenosha and State of Wisconsin. Excepting therefrom the following 


described parcel of land: Commencing at a point 574 feet South of the Northwest corner of the 


Southwest 1/4 of said Section 9; thence South along the center of the Highway and West line of 


said 1/4 Section 142 feet; thence East 165 feet; thence North 142 feet; thence West 165 feet to 


the place of beginning; and also excepting therefrom the following described parcel of land; 







5 


Commencing at a point 574 feet South and 165 feet East of the Northwest corner of said 


Southwest 1/4 of Section 9; thence South, parallel with the West line of said 1/4 Section 142 


feet; thence East 307 feet; thence North parallel with the West line of said 1/4 section 142 feet; 


thence West a distance of 307 feet to the place of beginning, and lying and being in the Village 


of Pleasant Prairie, County of Kenosha and State Wisconsin; Further excepting therefrom land 


conveyed in Warranty Deed from W. Craig Deaton, Richard J. Nachreiner and Einard Z. Frayer 


a/k/a Gene V. Frayer, partners to J.C. Smith and Linda K. Smith, his wife dated December 14, 


1984 and recorded in the Kenosha County Register of Deeds Office on December 17, 1984 in 


Volume 1177 of Records, Page 765, as Document No. 729372. 


NOW KNOWN AS: 


Lots 1 and 2 in Certified Survey Map No. 2118, said CSM being recorded in the office of the 


Register of Deeds for Kenosha County, Wisconsin as Document No. 1145054; said premises 


being located in the Southwest 1/4 of Section 9, Town 1 North, Range 22 East, Village of 


Pleasant Prairie, Kenosha County, Wisconsin. 


Tax Key Nos. 91-4-122-093-0101 (Lot 1) and 91-4-122-093-0105 (Lot 2) 


 











VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE


ACCOUNTING FOR RC WESTWOOD ESTATES, INC.


CASH ON DEPOSIT


9/13/2005


Marc Lofman 1-312-543-4524


30-Jul-13


03:05 PM


(Payne & Dolan)


Gustafson Construction


(site grading & drainage, water, Crispell-Snyder Mega Nursery


 storm sewer, roadway, etc) Engineering Street Trees Contingencies


Date Description      Year 3:    $38,000.00 Year 3:  $3,000.00 Year 2:  $11,598.26 Year 3:  $7,095.00 Subtotals


Original Estimates per Agreement $38,000.00 $3,000.00 $11,598.26 $7,101.74 $59,700.00


9/13/2005 COD for remaining improvements $38,000.00 $3,000.00 $11,598.26 $7,101.74 $59,700.00


12/31/2005 Interest Amount for 2005 $694.77 $694.77


12/31/2006 Interest Amount for 2006 $2,894.15 $2,894.15


12/31/2007 Interest Amount for 2007 $3,251.21 $3,251.21


12/31/2008 Interest Amount for 2008 $1,654.17 $1,654.17


Interest Amount for 2009 $330.32 $330.32


Payne & Dolan Paving Amt $0.00


12/31/2010 Interest Amount for 2010 $454.76 $454.76


12/31/2011 Interest Amount for 2011 $365.32 $365.32


1/9/2012 Release of COD ($38,000.00) ($3,000.00) ($8,991.26) ($16,746.44) ($66,737.70)


12/31/2012 Interest Allocation for 2012 $29.11 $29.11


1/9/2012 TOTAL $0.00 $0.00 $2,607.00 $29.11 $2,636.11 Amount remailing for 1 landscaping warranty


COD CHECK FIGURE $2,636.11







1 


 


ORDINANCE NO. 13-33 


 


ORDINANCE TO AMEND CHAPTER 360 


OF THE MUNICIPAL CODE OF THE 


VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE, KENOSHA COUNTY, 


WISCONSIN FOR WEIGHTS AND MEASURES REGULATIONS 


 


 


 BE IT ORDAINED AND ESTABLISHED by the Village Board of Trustees of 


the Village of Pleasant Prairie, that Section 360 of the Municipal Code is amended to 


read as follows: 


 


§ 360-1 Purpose. The Village of Pleasant Prairie is required by Wisconsin Statues 


Chapter 98 to either create a department of weights and measures to enforce the statutory 


provisions contained therein or contract with the Department of Agriculture, Trade and 


Consumer Protection for such services. Wisconsin Statutes Section 98.04(2) authorizes 


villages electing to contract with the state for enforcement services to recover the contract 


costs from those persons who receive services under the weights and measures program. 


The Village of Pleasant Prairie hereby elects to recover the costs of the state mandated 


weights and measures program from those persons who receive the service 


 


§ 360-2 Fee assessment. A fee shall be assessed to each business entity that is 


inspected or receives any weights and measures service under Wisconsin Statutes 


Chapter 98 provided by the village, or for which the village is billed by the state or other 


contracted entity. The total fees assessed shall not exceed the actual costs of the 


inspection or other service provided under the weights and measures program.  


 


§ 360-3  Notice of invoice. A notice of invoice shall be mailed to any business 


entity inspected or who received any service under the weights and measures program. 


The notice shall be considered served when mailed by first class mail, postage prepaid, to 


the business entity’s last known address.  


 


§ 360-4 Fee payment. Fees shall be paid in full to the village within 30 days of 


notice. If the assessed fee is not paid in full within 30 days of the date of mailing of the 


invoice, an additional administrative collection charge of 10% of the unpaid fee shall be 


added to the amount due, plus interest shall accrue thereon at the rate of 1% per month or 


fraction thereof until the fee, plus costs and interest, is paid in full. Fees properly assessed 


under this section shall be enforceable against any person or business entity and against 


any owner or person in charge of any business entity as a personal action for debt. If the 


owner or person in charge is also the owner of the real estate on which the weights and 


measures devices are located, any delinquent fee may be placed upon the tax roll as a 


charge for current services as provided in Section 66.0627, Wisconsin Statutes.  


 


§ 360-5 Violations and penalties.  Any person violating any provisions of this 


chapter or any rule or regulation made hereunder may be subject to penalties as provided 


in Chapter 1, § 1-4 of this Code. 







2 


 


 


 


Passed and adopted this 5
th


 day of August, 2013. 


 


 


 


____________________________________


John P. Steinbrink, President 


 


Attest: 


 


 


 


_________________________________ 


Jane M. Romanowski, Clerk 


 


Posted:  _______________ 



















 


8600 Green Bay Road, Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin  53158-2709   262.925.6765   FAX 262.694.2941  


Office of the Village 


Director of Public Works 


John Steinbrink, Jr. 


 


To: Michael Pollocoff 


From: John Steinbrink Jr. 


Subject: Disposal of Lab Equipment 


Date: July 31, 2013 


On May 6, 2012, the Village Board of Trustees approved a contract for CT Labs to 
perform sanitary sewer surcharge and water sample testing to meet WDNR 
requirements.  This service has been running successfully and has allowed lab 
personnel to be assigned other essential maintenance duties within the Utility 
Department.  The Pleasant Prairie lab is no longer permitted by the WDNR and no 
longer serves a useful function. 


The Utility Department would like to dispose of the following unused lab equipment: 


 Autoclave 


 Long Wve Ultraviolet Light 


 Incubator 


 Anayltical Scale 


 Drying Oven 


 Lab Hood 


 Magnetic Stirrers 


 DO/PH Meter 


 Stir Plate 


 Distillery 


 Blower 
 
The above equipment would be disposed of on eBay. 
 
I recommend that the above laboratory equipment be disposed of.  
 


 







 RESOLUTION #13-18 
 
 RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE  
 VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE 
 TO DISPOSE OF SURPLUS LAB EQUIPMENT 
 
 


WHEREAS, on May 6, 2013, the Village Board approved a contract 
with CT Labs to perform sanitary sewer surcharge and water sample testing 
on behalf of the Village to meet the requirements set forth by the State of 
Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources; and 


 
WHEREAS, the Village of Pleasant Prairie lab is no longer permitted by 


the State of Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources; and 
 
WHEREAS, the following lab equipment is no longer needed to meet 


the needs of the Village: 
 


 Autoclave 
 Long Wve Ultraviolet Light 
 Incubator 
 Anayltical Scale 
 Drying Oven 
 Lab Hood 
 Magnetic Stirrers 
 DO/PH Meter 
 Stir Plate 
 Distillery 
 Blower 


 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the Village Administrator is 


authorized to transfer the foregoing lab equipment for sale by auction to obtain the 
highest and best price. 


 
Passed and adopted this 5th day of August, 2013. 


 
 


____________________________ 
John P. Steinbrink, President 


Attest: 
 
 
_________________________ 
Jane M. Romanowski, Clerk 
 
Posted:_________ 







ORDINANCE NO. 13-34 


 


ORDINANCE TO AMEND SECTION 214 


OF THE MUNICIPAL CODE 


OF THE VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE 


KENOSHA COUNTY, WISCONSIN 


RELATING TO DOG PARK FEES 


 


 


 BE IT ORDAINED AND ESTABLISHED by the Village Board of the Village of 


Pleasant Prairie, Kenosha County, Wisconsin, that Section 214 E. (4) is created to read as 


follows: 


 


E. DOG LICENSING 


 


 (4) Dog Park Tag Fees – Ingram Park 


 


a. Annual 


i. Village Resident for 1
st
 dog    $20.00 


ii. Village Resident, Senior/Disabled   $10.00 


iii. Non-Resident for 1
st
 dog    $25.00 


iv. Additional tag for each dog (up to 2 additional) $  5.00 


i. Annual Tag Replacement Fee    $  5.00 


 


  b. Daily 


i. Village Resident per dog/day    $  2.00 


ii. Non-Resident per dog/day    $  5.00 


 


Passed and adopted this 5
th


 day of August, 2013. 


 


      VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE 


 


 


      ________________________________  


      John P. Steinbrink, President 


Attest: 


 


 


_________________________________ 


Jane M. Romanowski, Clerk 


Posted:__________ 







                                                         


 


1 


 


 


Ordinance No. #13-35 


 


Ordinance to Amend Chapter 242 


of the Municipal Code of the 


Village of Pleasant Prairie, Kenosha County, Wisconsin 


relating to RecPlex rental and program rates 


 


 BE IT ORDAINED AND ESTABLISHED by the Village Board of Trustees of the 


Village of Pleasant Prairie, Kenosha County, Wisconsin, that Chapter 242 is amended as follows: 


§ 242-9. LakeView RecPlex.  


B.   Rental Rates 


 


 (1) Rental Rate Schedule:  See 242 attachment at the end of this chapter. 


 


C.  Program Rates.  See 242 attachment at the end of this chapter. 


 


(Eliminate 242 Attachment 2:2 – fees are incorporated into 242 Attachment 1) 


 


F.  Birthday Party & Field Trip Rates:  See 242 attachment at the end of this chapter. 


§ 242-10. IcePlex operation and fees. 


B. Ice facility fees. 


 


 (2) Rental rates 


 


  (a). Ice Rentals: 


 


   [1]. September through March 


  [a] Prime time: partner rate: $245/hour per sheet; non-partner 


 rate: $260/hour per sheet. $270/hour per sheet 


  [b] Non-Prime time: $150/hour per sheet 


    [c] Late night:  $130/hour per sheet. 


 


 [2]. April through August 


  [a] Prime time: partner rate: $190/hour per sheet; non-partner rate 


 $200/hour per sheet 
  [b] Non-Prime time: $150/hour per sheet 


  [c] Late night:  $130/hour per sheet  


     







                                                         


 


2 


  [3] Prime time: 2:00 p.m. through 10:00 p.m., Monday through Friday; 


   8:00 a.m. through 10:00 p.m., Saturday and Sunday 8:00 am through  


   10:00 pm.  


                   


 (3) Contracted professional skating instructors 


 


 (a). Guidelines. Only skating professionals approved by Ice Arena staff 


will be permitted to teach on open freestyle sessions. At the discretion of 


the Ice Arena Managers, private lessons may not be permitted during open 


skating sessons. Proof of insurance and signed contract must be provided 


before services can be rendered. All professional skating instructors must 


pay each month, prior to coaching that month. Visiting professionals must 


pay prior to each visit 


 


 (c). Rink professionals: $20 per month. If the equivalent of 10 hours of 


private lessons is given, this fee will be waived Rink Professionals: No 


Fee. 


 


(5) Public skate and family skate. Fees: 


 


 (a) Three and under: Free.  


 (b) Twelve and under: $5.  Under 60: $6 


 (c) Thirteen and over: $6.  Sixty and over: $5 


 (d) Sixty and over: $5.  Teen night: $8 


 (e) Family*: $20.   Teen Lock-in: $25 


 (f) Teen night: $8.  


 (g) Teen lock-in: $15 


 


(6) Skate Rental 


 


(a). Open Skate Fee: $3  $6. 


             


(7) Annual skate pass.  


 


 (a) Without skates.  


 


  Age   RecPlex Members  Public 


 


  3 and under  Free    Free 


  12 and under  $120    $240 


  13 and over  $144    $288 


  60 and over  $120    $240 


 


(b) Including skates.  


 


  Age   RecPlex Members  Public 







                                                         


 


3 


  3 and under  Free    Free 


  12 and under  $192    $312 


  13 and over  $216    $360. 


  60 and over  $192    $312. 


 


 


Passed and adopted this 5
th


 day of August, 2013. 


   


 


 


      ____________________________________ 


      John P. Steinbrink, President 


Attest: 


 


 


 


_____________________________ 


Jane M. Romanowski, Clerk 


 


 


Posted:_____________ 







RecPlex


Program Fees 
Recommend: 8-5-2013 Online Savings $2


Category Program Charge Per Online Savings $2 Member
Non-


Member


 Early Bird 


(1) 
 M  NM 


AQ: LG & Safety AED & CPR Class Class 33.0 63.0 -            -        


AQ: LG & Safety AED, CPR, & First-Aid Class 43.0 73.0 -            -        


AQ: LG & Safety Ellis Lifeguard Training Program Session 178.0 253.0 -            -        


AQ: LG & Safety Ellis Lifeguard Re-certification Session 128.0 203.0 -            -        


AQ: LG & Safety Jr. Lifeguard Training Program Session * 98.0 133.0 (5)          -            -        


AQ: LG & Safety Jr. Lifeguard Club: 8 week session Session * 58.0 85.0 (5)          -            -        


AQ: LG & Safety Jr. Lifeguard Club: 7 week session Session * 52.0 75.0 (5)          -            -        


AQ: LTS Learn to Swim: Youth, Adult & Teen: 8 week session Session * 58.0 85.0 (5)          -            -        


AQ: LTS Learn to Swim: Youth, Adult & Teen: 7 week session Session * 52.0 75.0 (5)          -            -        


Fitness: Fitness 4 Kids Fitness 4 Kids: level 1: 8 week session Session * 30.0 48.0 (5)          -            -        


Fitness: Fitness 4 Kids Fitness 4 Kids: level 1: 7 week session Session * 27.0 43.0 (5)          -            -        


Fitness: Fitness 4 Kids Fitness 4 Kids: level 1: 6 week session Session * 25.0 41.0 (5)          -            -        


Fitness: Fitness 4 Kids Fitness 4 Kids: level 1: 5 week session Session * 22.0 35.0 (5)          -            -        


Fitness: Fitness 4 Kids Fitness 4 Kids: level 2: 8 week session Session * 45.0 70.0 (5)          -            -        


Fitness: Fitness 4 Kids Fitness 4 Kids: level 2: 7 week session Session * 40.0 62.0 (5)          -            -        


Fitness: Fitness 4 Kids Fitness 4 Kids: level 2: 6 week session Session * 35.0 54.0 (5)          -            -        


Fitness: Fitness 4 Kids Fitness 4 Kids: level 2: 5 week session Session * 30.0 46.0 (5)          -            -        


Fitness: Fitness 4 Kids Fitness 4 Kids: level 3: 8 week session Session * 59.0 82.0 (5)          -            -        


Fitness: Fitness 4 Kids Fitness 4 Kids: level 3: 7 week session Session * 52.0 72.0 (5)          -            -        


Fitness: Fitness 4 Kids Fitness 4 Kids: level 3: 6 week session Session * 45.0 63.0 (5)          -            -        


Fitness: Fitness 4 Kids Fitness 4 Kids: level 3: 5 week session Session * 38.0 53.0 (5)          -            -        


Fitness: Group Group Fitness:  Core: 8 week session Session * 30.0 48.0 (5)          -            -        


Fitness: Group Group Fitness:  Core: 7 week session Session * 27.0 43.0 (5)          -            -        


Fitness: Group Group Fitness:  Core: 6 week session Session * 25.0 41.0 (5)          -            -        


Fitness: Group Group Fitness:  Core: 5 week session Session * 22.0 35.0 (5)          -            -        


Fitness: Group Group Fitness:  Specialty: 8 week session Session * 51.0 83.0 (5)          -            -        


Fitness: Group Group Fitness:  Specialty: 7 week session Session * 46.0 75.0 (5)          -            -        


Fitness: Group Group Fitness:  Specialty: 6 week session  Session * 42.0 66.0 (5)          -            -        


Fitness: Group Group Fitness:  Specialty: 5 week session Session * 36.0 56.0 (5)          -            -        


Fitness: Group Group Fitness: Basic Passport Fitness Mix: Core: 8 week   Session * 82.0 168.0 (5)          -            -        


Fitness: Group Group Fitness: Basic Passport Fitness Mix: Core: 7 week   Session * 72.0 148.0 (5)          -            -        


Fitness: Group Group Fitness: Basic Passport  Fitness Mix: Core:6 week  Session * 62.0 128.0 (5)          -            -        


Fitness: Group Group Fitness: Basic Passport: Fitness Mix: Core: 5 week   Session * 52.0 108.0 (5)          -            -        


Fitness: Group Group Fitness: Ultimate Passport: Fitness Mix: Total: 8 week   Session * 132.0 232.0 (5)          -            -        


Fitness: Group Group Fitness: Ultimate Passport: Fitness Mix: Total: 7 week   Session * 118.0 208.0 (5)          -            -        


Fitness: Group Group Fitness: Ultimate Passport: Fitness Mix: Total:6 week   Session * 102.0 178.0 (5)          -            -        


Fitness: Group Group Fitness: Ultimate Passport: Fitness Mix: Total: 5 week Session * 88.0 148.0 (5)          -            -        


Fitness: Group Group Fitness: Core: Daily Daily 5.0 9.0 -            -        


Fitness: Group Group Fitness: Core: 5 pak Daily 23.0 42.0 -            -        


Fitness: Group Group Fitness: Core: 10 pak Daily 43.0 81.0 -            -        


  Fee Changes  Program Fees 


242 Attachment 1:1







RecPlex


Program Fees 
Recommend: 8-5-2013 Online Savings $2


Category Program Charge Per Online Savings $2 Member
Non-


Member


 Early Bird 


(1) 
 M  NM 


  Fee Changes  Program Fees 


Fitness: Group Group Fitness:Specialty: Daily Daily 8.0 13.0 -            -        


Fitness: Group Group Fitness: Specialty: 5 pak Daily 38.0 62.0 -            -        


Fitness: Group Group Fitness: Specialty: 10 pak Daily 72.0 117.0 -            -        


Fitness: Group Training Group Fitness: Grp Training: Daily Daily 8.0 12.0 NEW NEW


Fitness: Group Training Group Fitness: Grp Training: Daily Daily 10.0 14.0 NEW NEW


Fitness: Group Training Group Fitness:Grp Training: Daily Daily 12.0 16.0 2               1           


Fitness: Group Training Group Fitness: Grp Training: 5 pak Daily 55.0 82.0


Fitness: Group Training Group Fitness: Grp Training: 10 pak Daily 109.0 135.0


Fitness: Group Training Group Fitness: Grp Training: 30 min: 4 week Daily 19.0 39.0 NEW NEW


Fitness: Group Training Group Fitness: Grp Training: 45 min: 4 week Daily 29.0 49.0 NEW NEW


Fitness: Group Training Group Fitness: Grp Training: 60 min: 4 week Daily 39.0 59.0 NEW NEW


Fitness: Group Group Fitness: Demo Week: Daily Daily NA 5.0 -        


Fitness: Group Training Group Training: 1 days: 8 week Session Session * 79.0 129.0 (5)          


Fitness: Group Training Group Training: 1 days: 7 week Session Session * 70.0 114.0 (5)          


Fitness: Group Training Group Training: 1 days: 6 week Session Session * 61.0 99.0 (3)          


Fitness: Group Training Group Training: 1 days: 5 week Session Session * 52.0 84.0 (3)          


Fitness: Group Training Group Training: 1 days: per session Session * 11.0 16.0 (3)          


Fitness: Group Training Group Training: 2 days: 8 week Session Session * 157.0 260.0 (5)          


Fitness: Group Training Group Training: 2 days: 7 week Session Session * 138.0 228.0 (5)          


Fitness: Group Training Group Training: 2 days: 6 week Session Session * 119.0 196.0 (5)          


Fitness: Group Training Group Training: 2 days: 5 week Session Session * 100.0 164.0 (5)          


Fitness: Group Training Group Training: 3 days: 8 week Session Session * 231.0 386.0 (5)          


Fitness: Group Training Group Training: 3 days: 7 week Session Session * 203.0 338.0 (5)          


Fitness: Group Training Group Training: 3 days: 6 week Session Session * 175.0 290.0 (5)          


Fitness: Group Training Group Training: 3 days: 5 week Session Session * 146.0 242.0 (5)          


Fitness: Group Training Group Training: Corporate: 16 sessions Session  136.0 NA (5)          


Fitness Triathlon: Indoor Triathlon Event 40.0 40.0 5           


Ice Freestyle Buy-on 30mins 6.5 7.5 new new


Ice Freestyle Buy-on Hourly 11.0 12.0 new new


Ice Freestyle Series Sale Package 100.0 110.0 new new


Ice Open Hockey Hourly 11.0 12.0 new new


Ice Open Hockey Series Sale Package 100.0 110.0 new new


Ice USFS Basic Skills Registration Fee Individual 12.0 12.0 -            -        


Ice USFS  Beginner: Parent Tot & Snow Plow Sam: 7 week session Session * 66.0 80.0 (5)          -            -        


Ice USFS  Beginner: Parent Tot & Snow Plow Sam: 8 week session Session * 76.0 92.0 (5)          -            -        


Ice USFS  Basic: Basic Skills 1-8 & Adult: 7 week session Session * 80.0 96.0 (5)          3               3           


Ice USFS  Basic: Basic Skills 1-8 & Adult: 8 week session Session * 91.0 109.0 (5)          3               3           


Ice USFS  Freestyle 1-6 / Specialty: 7 week session Session * 94.0 112.0 (5)          3               3           


Ice USFS  Freestyle 1-6 / Specialty: 8 week session Session * 107.0 128.0 (5)          3               3           


Ice Off Ice Classes: 7 week session Session * 56.0 69.0 (5)          16             4           


242 Attachment 1:2







RecPlex


Program Fees 
Recommend: 8-5-2013 Online Savings $2


Category Program Charge Per Online Savings $2 Member
Non-


Member


 Early Bird 


(1) 
 M  NM 


  Fee Changes  Program Fees 


Ice Off Ice Classes: 8 week session Session * 65.0 79.0 (5)          19             4           


Ice Skating Exhibition Team Season 274.0 299.0 - -            -        


Ice Jump-Start - 7 week Session 60.0 67.0 NEW NEW


Ice Jump-Start - 8 week Session 68.0 76.0 NEW NEW


Ice Hockey: Starter, Fundamentals, Advanced: 7 weeks Session * 129.0 145.0 (5)          -            -        


Ice Hockey: Starter, Fundamentals, Advanced: 8 weeks Session * 146.0 164.0 (5)          -            -        


Ice Patriots House Hockey League (Mite) Season 750.0 850.0 - 50             50         


Ice Patriots House Hockey League (Squirt) Season 775.0 875.0 75             75         


Ice Patriots House Hockey League (PeeWee) Season 800.0 900.0 50             50         


Ice Patriots House Hockey League (Bantam) Season 825.0 925.0 75             75         


Ice Patriots House Hockey League - Spring Season 239.0 269.0 - 15             15         


Ice Ankle Breakers: Punch Card Session 120.0 140.0 - -            8           


Ice Ankle Breakers: Buy-on Season 12.0 14.0 - -            1           


Ice Old Geezers Season * 213.0 233.0 -


Martial Martial Arts: 8 week session Session * 59.0 82.0 (5)          


Martial Martial Arts: 7 week session Session * 52.0 72.0 (5)          


Martial Martial Arts: 6 week session Session * 46.0 63.0 (5)          


Martial Martial Arts: 5 week session Session * 39.0 53.0 (5)          


Martial Martial Arts: 8 week session: 90 minute Session * 68.0 94.0 (5)          


Martial Martial Arts: 7 week session: 90 minute Session * 60.0 82.0 (5)          


Martial Martial Arts: 6 week session: 90 minute Session * 53.0 73.0 (5)          


Martial Martial Arts: 5 week session: 90 minute Session * 45.0 62.0 (5)          


Sports: Adult Basketball - Men Team 650 650 # 0.00 0.00


Sports: Adult Softball Leagues- Coed, Men's Team 650 650 # 0.00 0.00


Sports: Adult Softball Leagues- Fall Ball: Men's & Coed Team 450 450 # 0.00 0.00


Sports: Adult Volleyball Leagues - Coed: Competitive & Recreational  Team 350 350 # 0.00 0.00


Sports: Youth Basketball: Winter Hoops Individual 90 115 # 0.00 5.00


Sports: Youth Wall Ball Individual 20 25 NEW NEW


Sports: Youth Pickle Ball Individual 53 65 NEW NEW


Sports: Youth Basketball: Spring Hoops Individual 20 25 # NEW NEW


Sports: Youth Little Dribblers Individual 70 85 # NEW NEW


Sports: Youth Archery Individual 45 55 NEW NEW


Sports: Youth Basketball Skills Individual 41 66 NEW NEW


Sports: Youth Little Kickers & Mighty Kickers Individual 53 65 # 0.00 0.00


Sports: Youth Youth Outdoor Soccer:  recreational Individual 53 65 # 0.00 0.00


Sports: Youth Youth Softball Individual 53 65 # 0.00 0.00


Sports: Youth Little Hitters Individual 45 55 # NEW NEW


Sports: Youth Little HittersSports of All Sorts Individual 45 55 # NEW NEW


Sports: Youth Baseball: 5U and 7U Individual 53 65 # NEW NEW


Sports: Youth Baseball: 10U and 12U Individual 115 130 # NEW NEW


242 Attachment 1:3







RecPlex


Program Fees 
Recommend: 8-5-2013 Online Savings $2


Category Program Charge Per Online Savings $2 Member
Non-


Member


 Early Bird 


(1) 
 M  NM 


  Fee Changes  Program Fees 


Sports: Youth Fall Baseball: 12U and 14U Team 500 500 # NEW NEW


Sports: Youth Baseball:  Extra Innings Individual 45 55 # NEW NEW


Sports: Youth Sports of All Sorts Individual 45 55 # NEW NEW


Sports: Youth Flag Football Individual 65 80 # NEW NEW


Sports: Youth Tackle Football Individual 125 145 # NEW NEW


Sports: Youth Basketball Camp Individual 75 90 # NEW NEW


TR: Pro TR Program: level 1: 8 week session Session 41.0 66.0 (5)          -            -        


TR: Pro TR Program: level 1: 7 week session Session 36.0 58.0 (5)          -            -        


TR: Pro TR Program: level 1: 6 week session Session 31.0 50.0 (5)          -            -        


TR: Pro TR Program: level 1: 5 week session Session 26.0 42.0 (5)          -            -        


TR: Pro TR Program: level 2: 8 week session Session 53.0 78.0 (5)          -            -        


TR: Pro TR Program: level 2: 7 week session Session 46.0 68.0 (5)          -            -        


TR: Pro TR Program: level 2: 6 week session Session 40.0 59.0 (5)          -            -        


TR: Pro TR Program: level 2: 5 week session Session 33.0 49.0 (5)          -            -        


TR Camp TR Summer Camp: weekly rate (as mandated by govt policy) Weekly 180.0 225.0 -            -        


YTH: Camp Summer Camp full day: weekly   6:30-6:30pm Weekly 153.0 190.0 -            -        


YTH: Camp Summer Camp Full day: daily Daily 40.0 50.0 -            -        


YTH: Camp Summer Camp full day: weekly   6:30-6:30pm Weekly 153.0 190.0 -            -        


 YTH: Camp Summer Camp Half day: daily  6:30am-12:00 or 12:30-6:30pm Daily 25.0 30.0 -            -        


 YTH: Camp Summer Camp half day: weekly   6:30am-12:00 or 12:30-6pm Weekly 90.0 125.0 -            -        


TR Camp TR Summer Camp: daily rate (as mandated by govt policy) Daily 45.0 54.0 9               9           


TR : Camp Summer Camp Full day: daily Daily 45.0 54.0 2               (1)          


TR: Camp Summer Camp Full day: daily: field trip day   6:30-6:30pm Daily 53.0 65.0 -            -        


YTH: Camp Summer Camp: Specialty Camp: Weekly: Half Day   8:30-11:30am Weekly Mkt prc Mkt prc . .


 YTH: Camp Summer Camp: Specialty Camp: Weekly: Full Day  6:30-6:30pm Weekly Mkt prc Mkt prc . .


TR & YTH: Camp Summer Camp: Registration Fee Annual 50.0 50.0 -            -        


YTH: SACC Summer Camp: Sibling Discount: Full Day: Weekly Daily 0.0 0.0 -            -        


TR: SACC School Age Program: Before School Care: weekly: AM Weekly 37.0 45.0 4               1           


TR: SACC School Age Program: After School Care: weekly: PM Weekly 72.0 90.0 7               8           


TR: SACC School Age Program: Before School Care: daily: AM Daily 8.0 12.0 -            -        


TR: SACC School Age Program: After School Care: Daily: PM Daily 15.0 18.0 -            (5)          


TR: SACC School Age Program: After School Care: Half Day Daily 20.0 24.0 (5)              (6)          


TR: SACC School Age Program: Early Release Daily 25.0 30.0 -            -        


TR: Days Off Days Off:  Daily Fee Daily 45.0 54.0 11             12         


YTH: Days Off Days Off:  Daily Fee Daily 34.0 42.0 -            -        


YTH: Days Off Days Off: 2 day package 2 days 68.0 84.0 -            -        


YTH: Days Off Days Off: 3 day package 3 days 102.0 126.0 -            -        


YTH: Days Off Days Off: 4 day package 4 days 136.0 168.0 -            -        


YTH: Days Off Days Off: 5 day package 5 days 155.0 190.0 -            -        


YTH: Days Off Days Off: 6 day package 6 days 186.0 228.0 -            -        


YTH: Days Off Days Off: 7 day package 7 days 217.0 266.0 -            -        


242 Attachment 1:4







RecPlex


Program Fees 
Recommend: 8-5-2013 Online Savings $2


Category Program Charge Per Online Savings $2 Member
Non-


Member


 Early Bird 


(1) 
 M  NM 


  Fee Changes  Program Fees 


YTH: Days Off Days Off: 8 day package 8 days 248.0 304.0 -            -        


TR & YTH: SACC School Age Program: Registration:  per school year School year 50.0 50.0 -            -        


YTH: SACC School Age Program: Transportation fee:  per school year School year 100.0 100.0 -            -        


YTH: SACC School Age Program: Late Fee Daily 10.0 15.0 -            -        


YTH: SACC School Age Program: Before School Care: weekly: AM Weekly 33.0 44.0 -            -        


YTH: SACC School Age Program: After School Care: weekly: PM Weekly 65.0 82.0 -            -        


YTH: SACC School Age Program: Before School Care: daily: AM Daily 8.0 12.0 -            -        


YTH: SACC School Age Program: After School Care: Daily: PM Daily 15.0 23.0 -            -        


YTH: SACC School Age Program: After School Care: Half Day Daily 25.0 30.0 -            -        


YTH: SACC School Age Program: Early Release Daily 25.0 30.0 -            -        


YTH: SACC School Age Program:Before and After School Care:  Trailblazers weekly Weekly 70.0 90.0 -            -        


YTH: SACC School Age Program: Before & After School Care:Trailblazers daily Daily 25.0 30.0 -            -        


TR: Adult Care Adult Care: Full Day Weekly Weekly 350.0 374.0 -            -        


TR: Adult Care Adult Care: 1/2 Day Weekly Weekly 160.0 174.0 -            -        


YTH: Preschool Preschool Program: Registration: per school year School year 50.0 50.0 -            -        


YTH: Preschool Preschool Program: Registration: per summer Summer 30.0 30.0 -            -        


YTH: Preschool Preschool U: Full Day: Weekly     Weekly 170.0 200.0 -            -        


YTH: Preschool Preschool U: Full Day: 3 days         Weekly 112.0 135.0 -            -        


YTH: Preschool Preschool U: Full Day: 2 days        Weekly 76.0 98.0 -            -        


YTH: Preschool Preschool U: Half Days: weekly      Weekly 120.0 160.0 -            -        


YTH: Preschool Preschool U: Half Days: 3 days       Weekly 77.0 97.0 -            -        


YTH: Preschool Preschool U: Half Days: 2 days     Weekly 53.0 68.0 -            -        


YTH: Preschool Preschool U: Summer Camp: Full Day: Weekly    Weekly 170.0 200.0 -            -        


YTH: Preschool Preschool U: Summer Camp: Full Day: 3 days   Weekly 116.0 141.0 -            -        


YTH: Preschool Preschool U: Summer Camp: Full Day: 2 days   Weekly 79.0 104.0 -            -        


YTH: Preschool Preschool U: Summer Camp: Half Days: weekly   Weekly 120.0 160.0 -            -        


YTH: Preschool Preschool U: Summer Camp: Half Days: 3 days   Weekly 81.0 101.0 -            -        


YTH: Preschool Preschool U: Summer Camp: Half Days: 2 days   Weekly 53.0 68.0 -            -        


YTH: Preschool Baby U: Full Day: Weekly     Weekly 225 265 5               5           


YTH: Preschool Baby U: Full Day: 3 days         Weekly 167 202 3               3           


YTH: Preschool Baby U: Full Day: 2 days        Weekly 128 163 2               2           


YTH: Preschool Baby U: Full Day: daily Weekly 61 61 new new


YTH: Preschool Sibling Discount:  $3 per full day Weekly 3.0 0.0 -            -        


YTH: Pro Babysitting Class Session * 63.0 78.0 3               3           


YTH: Pro Youth & Family Program: level 1: 8 week session Session * 45.0 70.0 (5)          3               3           


YTH: Pro Youth & Family Program: level 1: 7 week session Session * 40.0 62.0 (5)          3               3           


YTH: Pro Youth & Family Program: level 1: 6 week session Session * 35.0 54.0 (5)          3               3           


YTH: Pro Youth & Family Program: level 1: 5 week session Session * 30.0 46.0 (5)          3               3           


YTH: Pro Youth & Family Program: level 2: 8 week session Session * 56.0 81.0 (5)          3               3           


YTH: Pro Youth & Family Program: level 2: 7 week session Session * 49.0 71.0 (5)          3               3           


YTH: Pro Youth & Family Program: level 2: 6 week session Session * 43.0 62.0 (5)          3               3           


YTH: Pro Youth & Family Program: level 2: 5 week session Session * 36.0 52.0 (5)          3               3           


242 Attachment 1:5







RecPlex


Program Fees 
Recommend: 8-5-2013 Online Savings $2


Category Program Charge Per Online Savings $2 Member
Non-


Member


 Early Bird 


(1) 
 M  NM 


  Fee Changes  Program Fees 


YTH: Daily Youth Daily: 1 hour Daily 5.0 9.0 -            -        


YTH: Daily Youth Daily: 2 hour Daily 10.0 17.0 -            -        


242 Attachment 1:6







 


 


Village Hall, 9915 39th Avenue, Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin  53158-6504 


Telephone (262)925-6730 ∙ Fax (262)925-6788 


Director of Human Resources 


Carol Willke 
 


 


 


 


 


 


TO: Village Board 


 Michael Pollocoff, Village Administrator 


 


Consider amendment to the Village of Pleasant Prairie Employee Handbook to update the 


following policies: 


 


3.1 Residency Requirement   
 


Current Policy 


 


As a condition of continued employment, Village employees are required to become and remain 


Kenosha County residents within one (1) year of employment.  This policy may be waived by 


the Village Administrator if a Department Head finds that a qualified part-time, temporary or 


seasonal employee cannot be hired from among job applicants within Kenosha County.   


 


Department Heads are required to maintain residency within the Village of Pleasant Prairie 


within one (1) year of employment unless waived by the Village Administrator.  The Village 


Administrator may also make appropriate deferrals on the residency requirement for Department 


Heads as he or she may determine. 


 
  


Proposed Policy Change 


 


In compliance with Wis. Stat 66.0502 of Wisconsin Act 20, employees listed in the categories 


below must live within 15 miles of the jurisdictional boundaries of the Village. 


 


1. All Paid-On-Call Fire personnel. 


 


 


 







 
Office of the Village  


Fire & Rescue Chief 


Doug McElmury 


 
 


 
 


To: Michael Pollocoff, Village Administrator; and Members of the Village Board 


From: Doug McElmury, Chief 


CC:  Jane Romanowski, Village Clerk 


Date: July 30, 2013 


Re:  Fire Recovery USA, LLC Contract 


The Fire & Rescue Department is requesting to enter into a contractual agreement for fire 
billing with Fire Recovery USA, LLC.  Fire billing includes charges for fire apparatus and 
personnel at motor vehicle accidents, false alarms and fires deliberately set.  Andres 
Medical Billing (AMB) will continue to perform billing services for all emergency medical 
calls.   


Fire billing was originally performed by Village staff with limited success.  We then 
contracted with AMB, again with limited success.  AMB recognized that while they are very 
skilled in the field of medical billing, fire billing is a highly specialized process that is 
considerably different than medical billing and is much more labor intensive.  AMB made the 
decision to stop their fire billing services and partnered with a company from Roseville, CA; 
Fire Recovery USA, LLC which specializes in fire billing.  AMB then lowered their collection 
costs for medical billing from 6% to 5%, saving the Village approximately $3,700 per year. 


The fee for fire billing is considerably higher than what we historically paid for medical billing; 
20% versus 6%.  AMB realized that that they could not successfully continue to perform fire 
billing at medical collection rates and opted to get out of that particular business.  The owner 
of AMB described the fire billing portion of their business as a “loss leader as they spent 
80% of their time working on 20% of their business.”  AMB had an average of a 40%-50% 
collection rate on fire billing versus 70%-80% for Fire Recovery.  So for every $100 billed, 
our net collection from AMB would be $37.60 - $47.00.  The net collection of the same $100 
billed from Fire Recovery would be $58.80 - $64.00, even though their collection fee is 
higher.  I met with the Waukegan, IL Fire Chief who had contracted with Fire Recovery and 
he stated that they were very pleased with their results and recommended the company.  
The business of contractual fire billing is still very new and Fire Recovery has partnered with 
Firehouse Software (the records management system that we use) to provide a link to our 
software that allows our information to be automatically uploaded to Fire Recovery’s 
computers and quickly processed for billing. 


The length of the term of the contract is one year with an automatic renewal each 
successive year.  The contract can be terminated by either party with a 30 day notice. 


Recommendation: Contract with Fire Recovery USA, LLC for fire related billing. 







 
 


SERVICES AGREEMENT 


This Services Agreement (“Agreement”) is made effective as of __________________, 
2013 (“Effective Date”), by and between FIRE RECOVERY USA, LLC, a California limited 
liability company (“Company”), and Pleasant Prairie Fire and Rescue, (“Fire Department”).  
The Company and Fire Department are referred to herein individually as a “party” and 
collectively as the “parties.” 


R E C I T A L S 


WHEREAS, Company engages in the business of performing billing services (“Company 
Services”) for United States Fire Departments in connection with the motor vehicle incidents and 
other emergency incidents at which the fire departments provide emergency services: and 


WHEREAS, Fire Department seeks the services of Company to assist with the billing for 
services that Fire Department provides in connection with motor vehicle incidents and other 
emergency incidents; and  


WHEREAS, Company and Fire Department desire to enter into this Agreement to 
memorialize their agreements regarding the Company Services to be provided to Fire 
Department.  


NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual representations, warranties and 
covenants set forth herein and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and 
sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, Company and Fire Department agree as follows: 


ARTICLE 1 
ENGAGEMENT 


1.1. Engagement:  Fire Department hereby engages Company to provide the Company 
Services described in Article 4 herein, and Fire Department hereby accepts such engagement, all 
on the terms and conditions set forth herein.  Company will determine the method, detail and 
means of performing the services detailed below. 


ARTICLE 2 
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 


2.1. Representations and Warranties of Company: Company hereby represents and 
warrants to Fire Department that, at all times during the term of this Agreement, Company is a 
limited liability company duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of 
the State of California. 


2.2. Representations and Warranties of Fire Department: Fire Department hereby 
represents and warrants to Company that, at all times during the term of this Agreement, Fire 
Department is a organized fire department established pursuant to the laws and ordinances of the 
state in which Fire Department is located.  







 2 


ARTICLE 3 
COMPANY STATUS AND QUALIFICATIONS 


3.1. Independent Contractor: Company enters into this Agreement, and will remain 
throughout the term of the Agreement, as an independent contractor.  Company agrees that it will 
not become an employee, partner, agent or principal of Fire Department while this Agreement is 
in effect. 


3.2. Payment of Income Taxes: Company is responsible for paying when due all 
income taxes, including estimated taxes, incurred as a result of the compensation paid by Fire 
Department to Company for services rendered under this Agreement. On request, Company will 
provide Fire Department with proof of timely payment. Company agrees to indemnify fire 
Department for any claims, costs, losses, fees, penalties, interest, or damages suffered by Fire 
Department resulting from Company’s failure to comply with this provision. 


3.3. Use of Employees or Subcontractors: Company may, at Company’s own expense, 
use any employees or subcontractors as Company deems necessary to perform the services 
required of Company by this Agreement. Fire Department may not control, direct, or supervise 
Company’s employees or subcontractors in the performance of those services.  


3.4. Qualifications: Company represents that it is qualified and has the skills necessary 
to perform the services under this Agreement in a competent and professional manner, without 
the advice or direction of Fire Department.  


3.5. Ownership Interest: Company will have no ownership interest in Fire Department.  


3.6. No Benefit Contributions: Company shall have no obligation under this 
Agreement to compensate or pay applicable taxes or provide employee benefits of any kind to 
any person employed or retained by Fire Department.  


3.7. Attorney-in-Fact: Fire Department appoints Company as Fire Department’s 
attorney-in-fact for the following purposes:  


(a) Billing and Collections: To bill and collect (“Collections”) all revenue earned by 
and due to Fire Department, in connection with Fire Department’s provision of 
emergency services provided/rendered at the sites of motor vehicle incidents and 
other emergency incidents, and to receive all Collections on Fire Department’s 
behalf and to sue for and give satisfaction for monies due on account and to 
withdraw any claims, suits, or proceedings pertaining to or arising out of 
Company’s or Fire Department’s right to collect such amounts; and 


(b) Endorsement:  To take possession of and endorse in Fire Department’s name any 
notes, checks, money orders, and any other instruments received as Collections.  







 3 


ARTICLE 4 
GENERAL RESPONSIBILITIES OF COMPANY 


4.1. Minimum Amount of Service: Company agrees to devote as much time and 
attention to the performance of the Company Services under this Agreement as may be, in 
Company’s sole discretion, required to accomplish the tasks described herein to accomplish the 
results for which the Company is responsible under this Agreement.  


4.2. Company Services: Company agrees to perform the Company Services as set 
forth in the “List of Company Services” attached hereto as Schedule “A” and incorporated herein 
by reference; including those additional services requested by Fire Department and accepted in 
writing by the Company during the term of this Agreement. 


4.3. Non-Exclusive Relationship: Company may represent, perform services for, and 
contract with as many additional clients, persons, or companies as Company, in Company’s sole 
discretion, sees fit. 


4.4. Time and Place of Performing Work: Company may perform the services under 
this Agreement at any suitable time and location Company chooses. 


4.5. Materials and Equipment: Company will supply all materials and equipment 
required to perform the services under this Agreement. 


4.6. Workers’ Compensation: Company agrees to provide workers’ compensation 
insurance for Company and Company’s employees and agents and agrees to hold harmless and 
indemnify Fire Department for any and all claims arising out of any injury, disability, or death of 
any of Company’s employees or agents. 


4.7. Assignment:  Neither this Agreement nor any duties or obligations under this 
Agreement may be assigned by Company without the prior written consent of Fire Department, 
which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld. 


ARTICLE 5 
COMPENSATION OF COMPANY 


5.1. Compensation for Company Services:  All Company Services provided pursuant 
to this Agreement will be provided in accordance with the terms, including compensation 
amounts and schedule of remittance, set forth in the “List of Company Services,” attached hereto 
as Schedule A. 


5.2. The provisions of Article 11 of this Agreement will govern any dispute associated 
with compensation.  







 4 


ARTICLE 6 
OBLIGATIONS OF FIRE DEPARTMENT 


6.1. Cooperation of Fire Department: The Fire Department agrees to comply with all 
reasonable requests of Company and provide access to all documents reasonably necessary to the 
performance of Company’s duties under this Agreement. The Fire Department shall be 
responsible for initially insuring, and continuing to review, local and state laws in the Fire 
Department’s jurisdiction to assure adequate legal authority for Company to engage in the 
Services described herein on behalf of Fire Department. 


6.2. Assignment:  Neither this Agreement nor any duties or obligations under this 
Agreement may be assigned by Fire Department without the prior written consent of Company, 
which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld. 


ARTICLE 7 
FIRE DEPARTMENT AUTHORIZATION 


7.1. Authorization: Notwithstanding other provisions of this Agreement, Company 
shall obtain authorization from Fire Department prior to performing any of the following: 


(a) The sale conveyance, transfer, pledge exchange, assignment, hypothecation, or 
encumbrance of Fire Department’s interest in any sums owed to Fire Department; 
and 


(b) All other limitations as stated by the terms of this Agreement. 


ARTICLE 8 
TERMINATION OF AGREEMENT 


8.1. Termination on Notice:  Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, 
either party may terminate this Agreement at any time by giving thirty days (30) written notice to 
the other party.  Unless earlier terminated as set forth below, this Agreement shall be effective as 
of the date first set out above and shall continue for a period of one (1) year thereafter. This 
Agreement shall automatically renew for successive one (1) year periods, unless either party 
provides written notification to the other party of its decision not to renew this Agreement. 


8.2. Termination on Occurrence of Stated Events: This Agreement will terminate 
automatically on the occurrence of any of the following events;  


(a) Bankruptcy or insolvency of either party; 


(b) The assignment of this Agreement by either party without the consent of the other 
party; the parties agree that neither party will unreasonably withhold consent to 
such an assignment. 


8.3. Termination for Default:  If either party defaults in the performance of this 
Agreement or materially breaches any of its provisions, the non-breaching party may terminate 







 5 


this Agreement by giving written notification to the breaching party. Termination will take effect 
immediately on receipt of notice by the breaching party or five days (5) after mailing of notice, 
whichever occurs first. For the purposes of this paragraph, material breach of this Agreement 
includes, but is not limited to, the following:  


(a) Company’s failure to complete the services specified in the Description of 
Services;  


(b) Fire Department’s material breach of any representation, warranty or agreement 
contained in this Agreement;  


(c) Company’s material breach of any representation, warranty or agreement 
contained in this Agreement; 


(d) Fire Department’s yearly billable run volume is at or below six runs (6). 


ARTICLE 9 
PROPRIETARY RIGHTS 


9.1. Confidential Information:  Any written, printed, graphic, or electronically or 
magnetically recorded information furnished by Fire Department for Company’s use are the sole 
property of Fire Department. This proprietary information includes, but is not limited to, 
customer requirements, customer lists, marketing information, and information concerning the 
Fire Department’s employees, products, services, prices, operations, and subsidiaries.  Company 
will keep this confidential information in the strictest confidence, and will not disclose it by any 
means to any person except with the Fire Department’s approval, and only to the extent 
necessary to perform the services under this Agreement. This prohibition also applies to 
Company’s employees, agents, and subcontractors.  On termination of this Agreement, Company 
will return any confidential information in Company’s possession to fire Department.  


ARTICLE 10 
INDEMNIFICATION 


10.1. Indemnification:  To the extent permitted by applicable law, the Company will indemnify 
and hold the Fire Department harmless from and against any and all loss, damage, liability, 
claims and/or injury resulting from all actions performed by the Company, or its agents on the 
Company’s behalf, in connection with this Agreement.  However, this indemnification shall not 
apply with respect to any legal cause, action or consequential liability or losses as a result from 
inaccurate or incomplete information or unfounded or unreasonable submissions furnished to the 
Company by the Fire Department nor shall it apply to any act, omission or negligence of the Fire 
Department. 







 6 


ARTICLE 11 
GENERAL PROVISIONS 


11.1. Governing Law:  This Agreement shall be governed in all respects by the laws of 
the State of California, without giving effect to any choice or conflict of law provision or rule 
(whether of the State of California or any other jurisdiction that would cause the application of 
the laws of any jurisdiction other that the State of California). 


11.2. Entire Agreement:  This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the 
Parties pertaining to the subject matter contained in it and supersedes all prior and 
contemporaneous agreements, representations, and understanding of the parties. 


11.3. Successors and Assigns:  Except as otherwise provided herein, the provisions 
hereof shall inure to the benefit of, and be binding upon, the successors, assigns, heirs, executors 
and administrators of the parties hereto.  No party may assign any of its rights or obligations 
hereunder without the express written consent of the other party hereto, which consent may not 
be unreasonably withheld; provided, however, any party may assign any and all of its rights and 
interests hereunder to one or more of its affiliates and designate one or more of its affiliates to 
perform its obligations hereunder; provided, however, that such party remains liable for full and 
total performance of its obligations hereunder. 


11.4. Notices:  Any notices authorized to be given hereunder shall be in writing and 
deemed given, if delivered personally or by overnight courier, on the date of delivery, if a 
Business Day, or if not a business day, on the first Business Day following delivery, or if mailed, 
three days after mailing by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, and in each case, 
addressed, as follows: 


If to the Company to:      
 
Fire Recovery USA, LLC  
2271 Lava Ridge Court, Suite 120 
Roseville CA 95661 
Attention:  Craig Nagler 
 
 
If to Fire Department to:    
_______________________ 
_______________________  
_______________________ 
Attention:  ______________ 


with a copy to:     
  
The Watkins Firm, APC            
4520 Executive Drive, Suite 105            
San Diego, California 92121              
Attention: Chris Popov, Esq. 
 
 
with a copy to: 
_______________________ 
_______________________  
_______________________ 
Attention:  ______________ 


 


Or, if delivered by telecopy, on a Business Day before 4:00 PM local time of addressee, on 
transmission confirmed electronically, or if at any other time or day on the first Business Day 
succeeding transmission confirmed electronically, to the facsimile numbers provided above, or to 
such other address or telecopy number as any party shall specify to the other, pursuant to the 
foregoing notice provisions. When used in this Agreement, the term “Business Day” shall mean 







 7 


a day other than a Saturday, Sunday or a day on which commercial banks in San Diego are 
generally closed for business. 


11.5. Waiver; Amendments:  This Agreement, and the Transaction Documents, (i) set 
forth the entire agreement of the parties respecting the subject matter hereof, (ii) supersede any 
prior and contemporaneous understandings, agreements, or representations by or among the 
parties, written or oral, to the extent they related in any way to the subject matter hereof, and (iii) 
may not be amended orally, and no right or obligation of any party may be altered, except as 
expressly set forth in a writing signed by such party. 


11.6. Counterparts:  This Agreement may be signed in several counterparts. 


11.7. Expenses:  Each party shall bear its own expenses incurred with respect to the 
preparation of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby. 


11.8. Arbitration: 


(a) If at any time there shall be a dispute arising out of or relating to 
any provision of this Agreement, any Transaction Document or any agreement 
contemplated hereby or thereby, such dispute shall be submitted for binding and 
final determination by arbitration in accordance with the regulations then 
obtaining of the American Arbitration Association.  Judgment upon the award 
rendered by the arbitrator(s) resulting from such arbitration shall be in writing, 
and shall be final and binding upon all involved parties.  The site of any 
arbitration shall be within the County of Placer in the State of California.  The 
award may be confirmed and enforced in any court of competent jurisdiction.  
The parties hereby agree that any federal or state court sitting in the County of 
Placer in the State of California is a court of competent jurisdiction.  This 
paragraph does not limit in any way a party’s right to seek injunctive relief in any 
state or federal court sitting in the County of Placer in the State of California 
(jurisdictional, venue and inconvenient forum objections to which are hereby 
waived by both parties), including recovery of fees and costs. 


(b) This arbitration clause shall survive the termination of this 
Agreement, any Transaction Document and any agreement contemplated hereby 
or thereby.  


11.9. Waiver of Jury Trial; Exemplary Damages:  THE PARTIES HERETO HEREBY 
WAIVE THEIR RIGHTS TO TRIAL BY JURY WITH RESPECT TO ANY DISPUTE 
ARISING UNDER THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY TRANSACTION DOCUMENT.  NO 
PARTY SHALL BE AWARDED PUNITIVE OR OTHER EXEMPLARY DAMAGES 
RESPECTING ANY DISPUTE ARISING UNDER THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY 
TRANSACTION DOCUMENT CONTEMPLATED HEREBY.  


 


Signatures on following page: 







 8 


IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have executed this Agreement as of the date 
first written above. 


COMPANY: 
 
FIRE RECOVERY USA, LLC. 
a California limited liability company 
 


By: ______________________________________ 
 
 
Name:  Craig Nagler              
 
Title:  CEO 
 
 


 
 
FIRE DEPARTMENT:  
 
 
Pleasant Prairie Fire and Rescue 
 
 


By: ______________________________________ 
 
 
Name: ____________________________________ 
 
 
Title: _____________________________________ 
 
 
 







  
 


1 


SCHEDULE A 
 


LIST OF COMPANY SERVICES 
 
 


1. Fire Recovery USA agrees to bill the responsible party on the Fire Department’s 
behalf for services provided/rendered during motor vehicle incidents and other 
emergency incidents.  The billing rates (mitigation fees) are listed as EXHIBIT A, 
but may change over time.  Fire Recovery USA will provide notice to Fire 
Department of changes in billing rates. 


 


2. Fire Recovery USA will provide, as a normal matter of business; entry of claims 
and submission to the responsible party, collections of monies deemed due to 
the Fire Department, payments of the agreed upon percentage of said monies to 
Fire Department, and reporting of progress. 


 


3. Fire Recovery agrees to bill to the best of its ability all claims provided to Fire 
Recovery USA by the Fire Department. 


 


4. Fire Recovery USA will not begin litigation against a person, entity, or insurance 
carrier without prior written approval by the Fire Department. 


 


5. Fire Recovery USA agrees to reimburse Fire Department a portion of the monies 
collected at a rate of 80 percent of the total monies collected on the Fire 
Department’s claims. 


 


6. Fire Recovery USA agrees to pay these monies collected to the Fire Department 
on a monthly or quarterly basis (at the option of the Fire Department), within 
seven (7) working days after the close and accounting of the monthly (or 
quarterly) billing cycle. 


 


7. Fire Recovery USA agrees to make available reports via a password protected 
website to the Fire Department which detail billable claims outstanding (which 
are claims submitted, but not yet completed) and claims completed in the prior 
billing cycle. 


 


8. Fire Recovery USA will not be responsible for, nor accept any liability for, any 
erroneous, invalid, or illegal procedure codes or claims submitted to Fire 
Recovery USA by the Fire Department on the Run Sheets. 


 







  
 


2 


EXHIBIT A 


 


MITIGATION RATES BASED ON ORDINANCE 12-44, OF THE MUNICIPAL CODE 
OF THE VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE. 


 







 


CLERK'S CERTIFICATION OF 


 BARTENDER LICENSE APPLICATIONS 


    Period Ending: July 30, 2013 


 


 


I, Jane M. Romanowski, Village Clerk of the Village of Pleasant Prairie, Kenosha County, 


Wisconsin, do hereby certify the following persons have applied for bartender licenses and each 


applicant is in compliance with the guidelines set forth in Chapter 194 of the Municipal 


Code.  I recommend approval of the applications for each person as follows:  


 


 


NAME OF APPLICANT    LICENSE TERM 


 


1. Richard A. Lebbin    thru June 30, 2015 


 


 


 


   


Jane M. Romanowski 


Village Clerk     


 


 


 







 


 


CLERK'S CERTIFICATION OF  


RENEWAL BARTENDER LICENSE APPLICATIONS 


Period Ending: July 30, 2013 


 


 


 


I, Jane M. Romanowski, Village Clerk of the Village of Pleasant Prairie, Kenosha County, Wisconsin, 


do hereby certify the following persons have applied for a renewal bartender license, and each applicant 


is in compliance with the guidelines set forth in Chapter 194 of the Municipal Code.  I recommend 


approval of the application for each person as follow: 


 


NAME OF APPLICANT    LICENSE TERM 


 


1. Thomas P. Christy     thru June 30, 2015 


2. Mary C. Debish     thru June 30, 2015 


3. Mary C. Harper     thru June 30, 2015 


4. Nicholas P. Kulinski     thru June 30, 2015 


 


 


 


   


 


NOTE: ALL LICENSEES LISTED ABOVE HAVE SUBMITTED RENEWAL 


APPLICATIONS AND THE POLICE DEPARTMENT HAS SEARCHED ITS RECORDS.  


FOLLOWING PAST PRACTICE DUE TO THE NUMBER AND TIME REQUIRED, THE 


RENEWAL APPLICATIONS WERE NOT COPIED FOR THE BOARD MEETING. 


 


 


 


Jane M. Romanowski 


Village Clerk 





		Agenda - August 5 2013

		Minutes - July 1 2013

		Minutes - June 12 2013

		Minutes - July 15 2013

		5A. Proclamation Moving Wall 2013

		6A. Cheddar's Liqour License Application

		6B. Res #13-17 Address Change

		Res #13-17

		Map



		9A. Ord #13-31 11450 23rd Avenue

		Ord #13-31

		Application

		Map



		9B. Lot Line Adjustment

		Request

		Plat of Survey Lot Line Adjustment

		Goddard - Site Plan



		9C. Ord #13-32 Garbage and Recycling containers

		9D. Westwood Development Agr Termination

		Request

		Termination of Development Agreement

		VB  Res 11-46

		Cash on Deposit-Westwood



		9E. Ord 13-33 Weights and Measures Amend 

		Current Chapter 360 Weights and Measures



		9F. Disposal o Surplusf Lab Equipment

		Resolution 13-18 surplus lab equipment



		9G. Ord 13-34 Dog Park Fees Chapter 214 7-13

		9H. Ord 13-35 RecPlex Program and Rental Fee Amend

		242 Attachments  RecPlex Program Fees Amendment 8-5-13



		9I. Employee Handbook -Residency Requirement Amendment

		9J. Fire and Rescue Billing Agreement

		Fire Recovery USA Service Agreement V2



		9K. Operator License Memo 8-5-13

		Operator Liecense Renewal Memo 8-5-13










